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[ COVAD AT A GLANCE ]

Covad Is the leading broadband communications provider in the U.S. that delivers data, voice and
wireless solutions. Our customers primarily include small and medium businesses, distributed enter-
prises and other industry-leading service providers. We are the “easy to do business with” choice for
our target customers, combining the right solutions with mission-critical service and support to create
a superior customer experience.

[ PRODUCTS ]

[ DSL ] Secure reliable broadband access with speeds up to 8.0 megabits per second (Mbps).
[ T1 ] Dedicated high-bandwidth broadband access with service level agreements.
[ FIXED WIRELESS BROADBAND ] Scalable wireless broadband access with speeds up to 100 Mbps.

[ CLEAREPGE PRO ] Fully-hosted and managed voice solution targeted at businesses with single- and multi-site users.

[ CLEAREDGE INTEGRATED ACCESS ] Integrated voice and data solutions targeted at businesses with a premise-based
telephone system.

[ CLEAREDGE OFFICE ] Fully-hosted and managed voice solutions for very small businesses with a single site and under 20 users.
[ YVOA ] Voice optimized access on dedicated DSL and T1 lines.

{ LPVA ] Line-powered voice access. VoiP-based replacement for traditional phone service. Features inctude business continuity
and full e-911 service.
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[ REVENUES, NET. DOLLARS IN MILLIONS }

[ HEATH BETHUNE ]

SALES ENGINEER
COVAD COMMUNICATIONS
JERSEY CITY, NJ
[ NET LOSS. DOLLARS IN MILLIONS ]
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[ TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31 ]
DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS

[ CONSOLIDATED REVENUE DATA ]

(Note 1 through 5)
2006 2005 2004
Broadband subscription revenue $373658 $366,174 $351.678
VolP subscription revenue 27.752 13.681 5,040
Wireless subscription revenue 10,872 - -
High-capacity circuit subscription revenue 18.574 17209 19,759
Dial-up subscription revenue - - 2,983
[ TOTAL SUBSCRIPTION REVENUE ] $430,856 $397064 $379.460
QOther reverue. net 43448 46,115 49,737
[ REVEMUES, NET] $474,304 3$443.179 $429,197
[ A-EBITDA CALCULATION ]
(Note 6)
Net loss $(13.949) $(15.722) $(60.761)
Plus:  Other income (expense), net 5432 (82.242) 761
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 34.875 459,813 56,825
Amortization of collocation fees and other intangible asseis 9549 17428 20.58%
Emplayee stock-based compensation 3244 - -
{ A-EBITDA) $39.552 $(30.723) $17.410

[ COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*® ]
Among Covad Communications Group. Inc.. The NASDAQ Composite Index and the Dow Jones 1S Telecommuncations Index
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*This graph matches the cumulative 5-year total return of holders of Covac Communications Group, Inc,'s ¢ommon stock with the cumulative total retums of the NASCAQ
Composite index and the Dow Jones LS Telecommunications index. The graph assumes that the value of the imvestment in the company’s common stock and in sach of
the indexes (Including reimvestment of dividenks) was $100 on 12/31/2001 and tracks it through 12/31/2006.
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[ RICK SHELDON ]

CO-FOUNDER
INTELISYS
PETALUMA, CA

“COVAD HAS EVERYTHING WE LOOK
FOR IN A PARTNER: A NATIONAL
NEFTWORK. A PORTFOLIO OF BUSINESS-
CLASS VOICE AND DATA SOLUTIONS.
TECHNICAL AND SALES EXPERTISE
AND A SINGULAR FOCUS ON THE SMALL
BUSINESS CUSTOMER.”
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[ NIZAM HAIDARY ]

CUSTOMER GPERATIONS
COVAD COMMUNICATIONS
HERNDON:VA 5. |
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HELPING THEM FIND SOLUTIONS TO
SUIT THEIR INDIVIDUAL NEEDS. THIS
PERSONAL INTERACTION IS THE BEST
PART OF OF MY JOB. | LOVE COMING
TO WORK EVERY DAY."




[ DEAR SHAREHOLDERS ]

2006 was a year of considerable growth and transformation for Covad Communications. The
progress we have made and the milestones we have reached over the past year demonstrate that
Covad is a company that continues to innovate and lead the market. As Covad moves into the next
phase of its growth, we continue to build upon the successes of 2006 to deliver the next generation
of broadband solutions and reward our shareholders’ confidence in our strategy.

{ CONFIDENCE ] Covadis aunigue company — confident in our position as a Silicon Valley-based technology
leader, and confident of our ability to best serve the communications needs of our customers. We are nimble
enough to optimize our cost structure while growing our top-line revenue, always ensuring that our customers’
reeds come first. Delivering award-winning products and services through an unparalleled customer experience
remains the focus of each and every Covad empioyee.

I LEADERSHIP ] Covad andits employees continuously exhibit leadership in the marketplace and in relation-
ships with all our customers, ranging from the small business owner to our largest strategic partner, AT&T. Covad
is not a repfacement for the telephone company — we are much more than that. Our legacy of innovation and focus
on our customers enables us to provide a total communications experience including: a carrier-class. fully-managed
network; exciting and forward-looking applications that exceed customer expectations; and value-added services
that are easily accessible and marketed and sold by a highly trained, national distribution network. Qur geal isto
lead in all aspects of our business and to ensure that our customers continue to take delight in their choice of Covad.

[ EASY TO DO BUSINESS WITH I Covad offers its customers service quality commitments and a national,
facilities-based broadband network that our competitors cannot match. 24x7x365 support, fully-hosted and
premise-based voice solutions, extensively trained distribution partners—all of these quatities make Covad the
communications provider that is easy to do business with, and we strive to deliver on that promise every day.

[ 2006: A YEAR IN REVIEW ] 2006 was a year of significant accomplishments for our company. We have
made tremendous strides in transforming our business from wholesale to direct, and from legacy services to growth
solutions. Our direct business now comprises 36 percent of cur total subscription revenue and our growth products
comprise 39 percent of our total subscription revenue, During this transformation, we increased our top-line revenue
7 percent in 2006 alone. and became A-EBITDA positive—achieving this goal ahead of our plan.

We completed the build-out of the nation’s first and targest next-generation broadband network ahead of schedule,
deploying Sarnsung technology in 758 central offices covering an area that accounts for over 70 percent of our tatal
revenue. At the beginning of 2006, we taunched the first product on that network, line-powered voice access, which
is the first bundled residential voice and data alternative to the phone and cable companies. Qur strategic partner
EarthLink, which markets line-powered voice as DSL and Home Phane Service, has been aggressively marketing
the service in eleven major markets since the completicn of the build-out in November 2006,

In 2006, we expanded into wireless by acquiring and integrating the networks and customers of NextWeb and
DataFlo. We now operate California’s largest fixed broadband wireless network for businesses and have a thriving
wireless presence in Las Vegas and Chicago.




In business-class broagband, we continue to move customers to higher bandwidth products and provide a differen-
tiated offer through region-specific pricing. enhanced service level agreements and a specific focus on the needs of
small and medium-sized businesses, As aresult, our T1 subseription revenue grew 46 percent in 2006, to over $87
million, and now represents 20 percent of our total subscription revenue.

In 20086. our VoIP business grew 103 percent to nearly $28 million in subscription revenue, and we now provide service
to over 1,600 business customers in approximately 2,800 locations. Additionally, cur broadened portfolio of ClearEdge
solutions enables us to reach all segments of the small business telecommunications market with voice services
tailored to their needs. This means that, {or the first time, small businesses are not forced to choose from our com-
petitors’ expensive enterprise solutions or underperforming consumer-class products. We also continue to evolve
our services with the addition of key features that respond to the demands of small business customers, such as
business continuity features which enable customers to maintain their communications systems in the event of a
man-made or natural disaster.

While growing our top-line revenue and product offerings in 2006, we continued to build relationships with industry
leading distribution partners, technology leaders and equipment suppliers. We work with Samsung and Nokia to power
our carrier-class network and take advantage of the latest technological and strategic trends impacting the tele-
communications industry. We continue to be the go-to wholesale partner for leading service providers such as
United Online and Birch Telecom, both of whom signed partner agreements with us in 2006. We partnered with Cisco
and TalkSwitch to launch bundled offerings that leverage both of these companies’ industry-leading technologies and
extensive distribution channels. We also signed new master agents Intelisys and VGE, both of whom offer Covad
additional points of contact and expanded relationships with small and medium businesses.

[ 2007 AND BEYOND ] Covad accomplished what it had set out to do in 2006 and enters 2007 on a strong,
stable footing in terms of product portfolio, cost structure and corporate governance. We will continue to focus on
selling services that result in lower churn, higher revenue and higher margins for our business, and will continue to
invest in our growth products such as voice, wireless, business-class broadband and line-powered voice access. We
also plan to launch additiona! products on our next-generation network, including ADSL 2+ and bonded T1, in 2007,
and we anticipate continued revenue growth as we accelerate the transformation of our business with these products.
We have taken advantage of the stable regulatory environment to build on our positive relationships with the Bell
companies, and the recent conditions placed on the merger of AT&T and BellSouth provide the added benefit of
long-term stability for some of our undertying infrastructure costs. The addition of two new members to the Covad
Board of Directors in 2006, bringing further expertise in finance and operations. positions us well as we continue to
focus on growing our business profitably and providing an outstanding customer experience.

Covad is easy to do business with. Qur range of broadband technologies and solutions demonstrates cur ability to
bring high speed and best-in-class communications te small and medium-sized businesses. Covad makes cutting-
edge technologies and business-class solutions available to its customers at every level. These capabilities enable
small businesses to operate better.

[ THANK YOU ] As we move into 2007, it is important to note that the hard work and dedication of Covad
employees and partners have played an integral part in the success Covad and its customers enjoy today. We also
thank and extend sincere gratitude to all Covad customers and shareholders for their continued support and loyalty
to the company.

Sincerely,

[ CHARLESE. H

N, PRESIDENT AND CEOQ ]
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¥ “INTERACTING WITH CUSTOMERS IS
WHAT MAKES MY TOBB SO GREAT.
I AM THE FACE AND VOICE ORICOVAD
TO MANY CUSTOMERS AND | ENJOY
HAVING A DIRECT AFFECT UPON HOW
THEY VIEW THE COMPANY AND OUR
PRODUCTS.
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[ GENNADI SPIVAKOV ]

MASTER JEWELER
SASHA PRIMAK JEWELERS
NEW YORK. NY

“WHEN | AM WORKING ON A PARTICULAR
PIECE OF JEWELRY FOR A CUSTOMER.
| NEED 7O BE IN CONSTANT COMMURNI-
CATiON IN ORBER TO PROVIDE TOP-OF-
THE-LINEy QUALITY SERVICE. COVAD'S
#UNIQUE FEATURES ENABLE ME TO BE
AVAILABLE TO CUR CUSTOMERS AT ALL
TIMES. NO MATTER WHAT."
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{from left to right} David McMoerrow. Claude
Tolbert. Chartes E. Hoffman, Christopher A.
Bunn, Eric Weiss, James Kirkland, Deborah
M. Perry, Morgan McChesney, Brett Fiinchum
NOT PICTURED : Patrick Bennett

[ MANAGMENT TEAM ]

Charles E. Hoffman
President
ana Chief Executive Officer

Patrick Bennett
Executive Vice President,
Wireless and Market Development

Christopher A. Dunn
Executive Vice Presidant
and Chief Financial Officer

Brett Flinchurm
Senior Vice President,
Customer Operations

James Kirkland
Executive Vice President,
Strategic Development
and General Counsel

Morgan McChesney
Senior Vice President,
Installation Services Group

David McMorrow
Executive Vice President.
Sales

Deborah M. Perry
Senior Vice President,
Qrganizationa! Transformation

Claude Totbert
Senior Vice President,
Planning and Pricrities Management

Eric Weiss
Senicr Vice President
and Chief Marketing Officer

[ BOARD OF DIRECTORS ]

Charles McMinn
Caovad Chairman of the Board

Charles E. Hoffman
President

and Chief Executive Officer
Covad Communications

L. Dale Cranda!l

Former President

and Chief Operating Cfficer
Kaiser Foundation Health Plan

Diana Einterz Leonard
Senior Vice President

of the Americas

Orange Business Services

Larry Irving

President

and Chief Executive Officer
Irving Information Group

Richard A Jalkut
President

and Chief Executive Officer
TetePacific

Dan Lynch
Founder
Interop, a division of Key3Media

Robert M. Neumeister, Jr.
Exacutive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Linux Networx




[ SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT ] under the private securities liigabion reformact o1 1995

This Annual Repart contains “forward-looking statements” which are based on the company's
current information and beliefs as well as an a number of assumptions concerning future
events. Examples of forward-looking statements include the company’s expectations regarding
lower churn, higher margins. profitability, our infrastructure costs and revenue growth,
launches of additional products like ADSL 2+ and bonded T1, growth in VolIP, line-powered
voice and broadband services, relationships with the telephone companies and the regulatory
environment. Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on such forward-looking
statements, which are not a guarantee of performance and are subject to a number of uncer-
tainties and other factors, many of which are outside Covad's control, that couid cause actual
results to differ materially from such statements. These risk factors include the company's
ability to rapidly expand and deploy new services, the impact of increasing competition.
pricing pressures, consolidation in the telecommunications industry, and changes in tele-
communications regulations and changes in technologies, among other risks. For a more
detailed description of the risk factors that could cause such a difference, please see the
Company's 10-K. 10-Q and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company disctaims any intention or obligation to update ar revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. This
information is presented solely to provide additional information to further understand the
Company's results.




*#[ NOTES TO UNAUDITED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA ]

[ ONE ] Broadband, VoIP. Wireless and High-Capacity subscription revenues are defined as billings for recurring services provided
during the period. These subscription revenues exclude charges for Federal Universal Service Fund ("FUSF") assessments, dial-up
services and other adjustments. In addition, these subscription revenues include hilfs issued to custormers that are classified as
financially distressed and whose revenue is only recognized if cash is received {refer to Note 2 helow for a mare detailed discussion
on accounting for financially distressed partners). Managernent believes that Broadband, Vol P, Wireless and High-Capacity subscription
revenues are useful measures for investors as they represent key indicators of the growth of the company’s core business. Manage-
ment uses these subscription revenue measures to evaluate the performance of its business segments.

[ TWoO ] When the company determines that (i) the collectibility of a bill issued ta a customer is not reasonably assured or (ii) its
ability to retain some or all of the payments received from a customer that has filed for bankruptey protection is not reasonably
assured, the customer is classified as “financially distressed” for revenue recognition purposes, A bill issued to a financially distressed
customer is recognized as revenue when services are rendered and cash for those services is received, assuming all other criteria
for revenue recogrition have been met, and only after the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable balances.
Consequently, there may be significant timing differences between the time a bill is issued, the time the services are provided and
the time that cash is received and revenue is recognized.

[ THREE ] Customer rebates and incentives not subject to deferral consist of amounts paid or accrued under marketing, promoticn
and rebate incentive programs with certain customers. Rebates and incentives paid or accrued under these programs are not accom-
panied by any up-front charges billed to customers, Therefore, these charges are accounted for as reductions of revenue as incurred.

[ FOUR ] Other revenues consist primarily of revenue recognized from amortization of prior period SAB 104 deferrals (refer to
Note 5 below for a discussion of SAB 104}, FUSF billed to our customers and other revenues not subject to SAB 104 deferral because
they do not relate to an on-going customer relationship or performance of future services,

[ FIVE ] Inaccordance with SAB 104, the company recognizes up-front fees associated with service activation, net of any amounts
concurrently paid or accrued under certain marketing, promotion and rebate incentive programs, over the expected term of the
customer relationship, which is presently estimated to be 24 to 48 months, using the straight-line method. The company also {reats
the incremental direct costs of service activation (which consist principally of customer premises equipment, service activation fees
paid to other telecommunications companies and sales commissions) as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the
up-front fees that are deferred, and such deferred incremental direct costs are amortized to expense using the straight-line
method over 24 to 48 months.

[ s1X ] Management betieves that Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("A-EBITDA"), defined
as net loss excluding {i) depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, (ii) amortization of intangible assets, (iii) other
income (expense), net, and (iv) employee stock-based compensation expense under FAS 123R {adopted 1106), is a useful measure
because it provides additional information about the company's ability to meet future capital expenditures and working capital
requirements and fund continued growth. Management excludes employee stock-based compensation expense from this measure
to make the results comparahle to prior years when employee stock-based compensation expense was not included in the state-
ment of operations. Management also uses this measure to evaluate the performance of its business segments and as a factor in
its employee bonus prograrm. A-EBITDA may be defined differently by other companies and should not be used as an alternative to
our operating and other financial information as determined under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
A-EBITDA is not a prescribed term under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, does not directly correlate
to cash provided by or used in operating activities and should not be considered in isclation, nor as an alternative to more meaningful
measures of performance determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. A-EBITDA
generally excludes the effect of capital costs. Management reconciles A-EBITDA to net income or loss because it believes that
net income or loss is the closest measure determined under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States that
approximates A-EBITDA.
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PART 1

ITEM 1. Business

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, including statements regarding our growth
rates, cash needs, the adequacy of our cash reserves, relationships with customers and vendors, market oppor-
tunities, legislative and regulatory proceedings, operating and capital expenditures, expense reductions and
operating results. Each of these statements involves risks and uncertainties. As a result, actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors including, but not
limited to, those discussed in Part I, Item 1A. — “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Report.

We disclaim any obligation to update information contained in any forward-looking statement. See Part 11,
Item 7. — “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Forward-
Looking Statements.”

(All dollar and share amounts are presented in thousands, except per share amounts)

Overview

We provide voice and data communications products and services to consumers and businesses. We provide
these services throughout the United States in approximately 235 metropolitan areas in 44 states. Qur telecom-
munications network allows us to offer services to more than 57 million homes and businesses. Our products and
services include high-speed, or broadband, data communications, Internet access connectivity, Voice over Internet
Protocol telephony, or VoIP, fixed wireless broadband, and a variety of related services. We primarily use digital
subscriber line, or DSL, and T-1 technologies to deliver our services. We also use fixed wireless broadband
technology to deliver services in six of our metropolitan areas. In order to provide our DSL and T-1 services we
purchase network elements, such as telecommunication lines and central office facilities, from the local telephone
companies, which are often referred to as the incumbent local telephone companies, or ILECs, and other carriers,
and then combine these network elements with our own nationwide facilities. We purchase the majority of these
network elements from Verizon Communications, or Verizon, AT&T, Inc. (which now includes the companies
formerly known as SBC Communications, or SBC, and BellSouth Telecommunications, or BellSouth), or AT&T,
and Qwest Corporation, or Qwest, which are alse known as the regional Bell operating companies, or RBOCs. As of
December 31, 2006, we had approximately 519,000 broadband access end-users, 1,623 VoIP business customers
with a combined total of approximately 2,805 VolP sites, and approximately 3,400 fixed wireless broadband
customers in service,

We operate two business segments, Wholesale and Direct. Wholesale is a provider of high-speed data and
voice connectivity services to Internet service providers, or ISPs, and telecommunications carrier customers, We
also offer line-powered voice access service, or LPVA, which enables a wholesale partner to combine analog voice
service with our consumer-grade data services. As of December 31, 2006, Wholesale had approximately 443,000
DSL and T-1 lines in service. The majority of our services are sold through our Wholesale segment.

Our Direct segment sells VolP, high-speed data and voice connectivity, fixed wireless broadband, and related
value-added services. Our business-grade VoIP services are sold exclusively through our Direct segment. We sell
our Direct services through multiple channels including telesales, field sales, affinity partner programs, and our
website. Direct focuses on the small business market and also sells to enterprise customers that purchase our
services for distribution across their enterprise. Direct ended 2006 with approximately 76,000 DSL and T-1 lines in
service. In addition, Direct provided service to approximately 1,623 VolIP business customers and approximately
3,400 fixed wireless broadband customers at the end of 2006.

Qur business is subject to on-going changes in telecommunications technologies, the competitive environ-
ment, particularly continued pricing pressure on our consumer-grade services, federal and state telecommunica-
tions regulations, and our resellers’ changing market strategies. Sales of our stand-alone DSL services have slowed,
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and we continue to experience churn among our existing end-users due to pricing pressures and other factors. As a
result of these market conditions, we have added or increased our focus on the following:

« direct sales of bundled services, which includes VoIP and data communications services, to small and
medium-sized businesses;

* higher-bandwidth services, like our T-1 services;
* fixed wireless broadband services; and
« LPVA service.

We believe there is a substantial business opportunity to grow our sales of these services. While we believe we
are favorably positioned to take advantage of this market opportunity, it is inherently difficult to predict with a high
degree of certainty our ability to grow our sales of these services and whether our sales of these services will offset
slowing sales of our stand-alone DSL services.

We were originally incorporated in California as Covad Communications Company in October 1996. In July
1997, we were incorporated in Delaware as Covad Communications Group, Inc., a holding company that conducts
substantially all of its business through its operating wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Industry Background

DSL technology first emerged in the 1990°s and is commercially available today to address performance
bottlenecks of the public switched telephone network. DSL equipment, when deployed at each end of standard
copper telephone lines, increases the data carrying capacity of copper telephone lines from analog modem speeds of
up to 56.6 kilobits per second, for the fastest consumer modems, and Integrated Services Digital Network, or ISDN,
speeds of up to 128 kilobits per second to DSL speeds of up to 10 megabits per second downstream and up to 1.5
megabits per second upstream, depending on the length and condition of the copper line.

The passage of the 1996 Telecommunications Act created a legal framework for competitive telecommu-
nications companies to provide local, analog and digital communications services in competition with the ILECs.
The 1996 Telecommunications Act allowed these competitive telecommunications companies to use certain parts
of the existing infrastructure built by the ILECs rather than constructing a competing infrastructure at significant
cost. Among other things, this infrastructure includes telephone lines and space in the ILECs central offices.

Fixed broadband wireless service has also emerged as an alternative to wireline services. Fixed wireless differs
from mobile wireless service because the location of the end user is fixed. Improvements in technology and wider
acceptance of wireless services have reduced the cost to deploy fixed wireless services. [n addition, the devel-
opment of the WiMax standard is expected to facilitate broader deployments of these services.

Our Service Offerings

Our service offerings can be grouped into two main categories, data and voice services. We deliver these
services through our broadband wireline and fixed wireless networks. Our direct customers can purchase our data
services separately, while our voice services are typically offered in a bundle with our data services. Within our data
suite of services, we offer a variety of business and consumer-grade broadband access services, email and hosting
services. Our business-grade wireline data services are sold under the TeleSpeed, TeleSoho and TeteXtend brands
for wireline services and under our NextWeb brands for fixed wireless services. Our consumer-grade wireline
services are sold under the TeleSurfer brand. In addition, resellers may purchase high-capacity network backhaul
services from us to connect their facilities to our network and to provide direct technical support for their end-users.
Our voice services are sold under the Covad ClearEdge brand. We also offer LPVA, which enables a wholesale
partner to combine analog voice service with our consumer-grade data services.

The specific number of potential end-users who qualify for DSL service varies by central office and by region
and is affected by line quality, distance and type of telephone loop facility deptoyed in a particular area. The specific
number of potential end-users who qualify for fixed wireless services depends on distance from a base station,
geography (such as to topology and the location of interfering buildings and trees) and the availability and
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characteristics of the type of wireless spectrum being used. Prices for our end-uvser services vary depending on the
performance level of the service, the underlying technology used to deliver the service and our costs for offering a
service. Our prices also vary for high volume customers that are eligible for volume discounts. See Part I, Item 1A.
“Risk Factors — We may experience decreasing margins on the sale of our services, which may impair our ability to
achieve profitability or positive cash flow” for a discussion of some of the risks associated with our ability to sustain
current price levels in the future.”

TeleSpeed

We launched service in December 1997 with our TeleSpeed services. We provision TeleSpeed services via
symmetric (download and upload speeds are equal) DSL, or SDSL, and ISDN DSL, or IDSL, technologies. These
services are offered in a variety of speeds ranging from 144 kilobits to 1.5 megabits per second. TeleSpeed services
are intended to connect individual end-users on previously unused conventional telephone lines to our DSL
equipment in their serving central office and from there to our network serving that metropolitan statistical area.
The particular TeleSpeed service available to an end-user depends in large part on the end-user’s distance to their
respective central office. TeleSpeed services are offered with specific service levels of performance and repair times
based on our service level agreements, or SLAs.

TeleSoho

We introduced our TeleSoho service in September 2001. We designed TeleSoho for the Small Office/Home
Office, or SoHo, customer segment. The service is asymmetric (faster download than upload speeds), offering
speeds up to 6.0 megabits per second downstream and up to 768 kilobits per second upstream, and can be delivered
to customers using a self or professional installation. TeleSoho is provisioned with an asymmetric DSL, or ADSL,
router capable of supporting multiple end-users and can support one fixed Internet Protocol, or IP, address. Line-
sharing and self-installations reduce the monthly recurring cost and the up-front cost for installation of the service,
TeleSoho services provisioned over a shared line do not include service level agreements.

In July 2004, we introduced second-line TeleScho services, which we provision over a dedicated line, instead
of a shared line. Qur second-line TeleSoho services provide features and performance similar to our TeleSoho line-
shared services, but allow a customer to purchase this service without purchasing telephone service from the local
telephone company. In addition, our second-line TeleSoho service includes service level commitments.

TeleXtend

We introduced our TeleXtend services in November 2001. These services allow end-users to connect to our
network equipment in their local central offices over a T-1 line. The availability of TeleXtend services is not limited
by distance from the servicing central office and is accompanied with SLAs providing for our highest level of
service,

TeleSurfer

We introduced our TeleSurfer service in April 1999. TeleSurfer is designed for consumers. This service is
asymmetric, offering speeds up to 6.0 megabits per second downstream and up to 384 kilobits per second upstream
and uses dynamic 1P addressing. We generally deliver this service to customers using a self-installation kit over a
line-shared loop. Line-sharing and self-installations reduce the monthly recurring cost and the up-front cost for
installation of the service. This service is not sold with SLAs.

In July 2004, we introduced second-line TeleSurfer services, which we provision over a dedicated telephone
line. Our second-line TeleSurfer services provide features and performance similar to the TeleSurfer line-shared
services, but allow a customer to purchase this service without purchasing telephone service from the local
telephone company.




Fixed Broadband Wireless

As a result of our acquisitions of NextWeb, Inc., or NextWeb, which we completed on February 16, 2006, and
DataFlo, Inc., which we completed on November 15, 2006, we are currently offering business-grade fixed
broadband wireless services to customers in the San Francisco Bay Area, Los Angeles, Orange County (California),
Santa Barbara, Las Vegas and Chicago. This service is sold directly to end-users. We offer speeds of up to 5.0
megabits per second downstream and upstream using unlicensed spectrum and up to 100 megabits per second
downstream and upstream using licensed spectrum, including spectrum leased from holders of FCC-auctioned
spectrum. Our fixed broadband wireless services are offered with specific service levels of performance and times
for repairs based on our SLAs. By offering fixed wireless broadband services, we expect that in the future we may be
able to reduce our dependence on the I1LECs for the network elements that we currently use to offer our services in
the areas where we operate fixed wireless facilities. We also expect our recurring costs for fixed wireless end-users
will be lower because in many cases we do not have to pay a monthly charge for a fixed wireless connection that is
provisioned over our own network. In many cases we also can install fixed wireless services more quickly than we
can install services that rely on network elements that are purchased from the ILECs. Finally, in some cases fixed
wireless allows us to offer higher speed services than we can currently offer over our wireline network.

Voice over Internet Protocol for Businesses

In June 2004, we completed our acquisition of GoBeam, Inc., or GoBeam, and introduced our business-
class VoIP services to small and medium-sized businesses. These services enable customers to use [P and Internet
connections to make local and long distance telephone calls over Covad’s network instead of using the traditional
public switched ielephone network. We sell three VoIP services, Covad ClearEdge Pro, Covad ClearEdge Integrated
Access and Covad ClearEdge Office. Covad ClearEdge Pro is intended as a substitute for a small company’s
telephone Private Branch Exchange, or PBX, system and includes call features such as “find me, follow me,” web
conferencing, call forwarding, instant messaging and unified voicemail and fax services. It is a hosted voice service,
eliminating the need for on premise voice switching equipment. For customers who want to keep their existing PBX
system, Covad ClearEdge Integrated Access has some of the same features as our Covad ClearEdge Pro service, but
it works with an end-user’s existing PBX system to deliver local, long distance and Internet services over one
managed network connection, an alternative to using multiple connections. We introduced Covad ClearEdge Office
in 2006 for smaller businesses that want many of the call features of a PBX, but do not need all of the features and
functionality offered by our Covad ClearEdge Pro service.

We believe that our Covad ClearEdge Pro and Office services provide cost advantages over PBX-based models
because our customers do not need to purchase additional telephone line connections from other providers or install
ielephone switches at their premises. Customers of our Covad ClearEdge Pro and Covad ClearEdge Office services
also can realize productivity improvements and reduce costs for in-house technical personnel, who typically are
required to install and maintain a PBX-based telephone service.

While our VolP services for businesses target a large market, we are continuing to enhance and expand our
capability to market and sell these services through various channels. As a result, we will also continue to further
enhance the internal systems and processes to support these new services, channels and additional customers.

Voice over Internet Protocol for Consumers

In January of 2006, EarthLink, Inc., or EarthLink, one of our wholesale customers, began offering a consumer-
grade VoIP service deployed over the telephone lines that we lease from the RBOC:s to provide data services. We
refer to the portion of this service we provide as LPVA. EarthLink adds local and long distance VoIP and related
services to our LPVA service, as well as high-speed Internet access, using consumers’ existing wiring, telephone
and computer equipment. LPVA service is intended to compete with the consumer voice and data bundles offered by
the RBOCs and the cable companies. This service is offered as part of EarthLink’s voice and data bundle in twelve
metropolitan areas.

In order to offer LPVA service, we have deployed new Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexers, or
DSLAMs in the RBOCs central offices in these twelve major metropolitan areas. If we dectde to offer LPVA service
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out of additional central offices, we will need to similarly deploy new equipment in those locations. We do not
currently intend to offer this service through our Direct segment.

Asynchronous Transfer Mode, or ATM, Network Services

We also provide DS-3 and OC-3 circuit backhaul services from our regional network to a reseller’s site. This
service aggregates data traffic from individual end-users in a region and transmits the packets of information to the
reseller over a single high-capacity connection. The service utilizes ATM protocol that operates at up to 45 megabits
per second for DS-3 circuits and up to 155 megabits per second for OC-3 circuits,

Broadband Internet Access Service

Qur Broadband Internet Access Service, or BIA, allows our resellers to sell broadband to their end-user
customers without having to invest in network facilities. This service currently bundles IP services with our high-
speed connectivity services to provide a complete connection to the Internet. The additional IP services include end-
user authentication, authorization and accounting, IP address assignment and management, domain name service
and IP routing and connectivity.

Value-Added Services

In addition to access and voice services, we offer value-added services to our wholesale and direct customers
who purchase services directly from us. These services include:

Email and Web Hosting: These services allow small and medium-sized businesses to have a custom
domain name, for example www.mybusiness.com, as well as business-class email and web hosting. All
services come with anti-spam and anti-virus protection and easy-to-use website building tools and templates.

Installation Services: We offer professional installation services to our wholesale and direct customers
in connection with our services. In some cases our customer may request that we install additional equipment,
services or software, such as a firewall or a virtual private network, for an additional fee.

Sales and Marketing
Wholesale

We sell our broadband services to ISPs, telecommunications carriers and other resellers, These resellers
purchase our services on a wholesale basis and sell them under their own brand. We had 404 resellers as of
December 31, 2006. For 2006, our 30 largest resellers collectively accounted for 91.1% of our total wholesale net
revenues and 60.6% of our total net revenues. For 2006, AT&T and EarthLink, two of our reseliers, accounted for
14.3% and 11.1%, respectively, of our total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006, approximately 443,000 end-
users purchased services through our resellers.

We offer our resellers a range of DSL, T-1 and LPVA services that they in turn offer to their business and
consumer customers. They can either combine our DSL and T-1 lines with their own Internet access services or
purchase our BIA services and resell the combination to their customers. Our agreements with our resellers
generally have terms of one to three years and are non-exclusive. We generally do not require these resellers to
generate a minimum number of end-users or a minimum amount of revenue, but we grant volume discounts based
on subscriber volume.

Strategic resellers with established brand names help us deliver our services to a larger number of end-users.
The cost of acquiring a customer for broadband services is significant, so leveraging the brand of our resellers, their
customer bases, and embedded direct and indirect sales channels helps us reduce this cost.

We provide our resellers with sales and marketing support. We work jointly with our resellers to develop and
fund marketing programs that are specific to their target markets, product offerings and sales objectives. We work to
improve the cost of acquisition by assisting our resellers with direct marketing, promotions, and incentive programs.
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Direct

We also sell our services directly and indirectty to end-user customers. We sell VoIP, high-speed data and voice
connectivity, fixed wireless broadband and related value-added services directly through our direct sales force,
telephone sales and Web sales capabilities. We also sell our services indirectly via a variety of third parties such as
dealers, sales agents, referral partners and affinity groups. Our approach to this market is to combine our national
network with other features to deliver services to small offices, home offices and small and medium-sized
businesses, as well as distributed enterprises. As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 76,000 broadband
lines, 1,623 VoIP business customers with a combined total of approximately 2,805 VolP sites, and approximately
3,400 fixed wireless broadband customers in service under our Covad brand.

Our marketing programs and communications to small and medium-sized businesses are primarily designed to
increase brand awareness and encourage potential customers to contact our telesales center or visit our website. We
use national and local marketing campaigns. We employ a wide variety of media, including on-line advertisements,
television, direct mait, radio and print.

Our telesales and field sales teams also sel} our services via outbound calling and “feet on the street” sales. Our
telesales groups make outbound calls to individuals or organizations that have visited our website and to lists of pre-
qualified businesses that match the profile of customers who have purchased services from us in the past. The field
sales organization targets small businesses and also sells to enterprise customers that purchase our services for
distribution across their enterprise, such as connecting remote offices back to their corporate headquarters.

Our referral resources include sales agents, dealers and referral partners that receive one-time or recurring
commissions in exchange for referring customers to us. In many cases, the sales agents, dealers and referral partners
are telecommunications specialists that provide information technology, telecommunications, and networking
services and products to business customers. By being part of our Alliance Network, our partners are able to
complement their existing services and provide our broadband and VoIP services to their customers.

Network Architecture and Technology

We designed our network to provide the following attributes, which we believe are important requirements for
our existing and potential customers:

Consistent and Scalable Performance — We believe that packet networks will play an increasingly
central role in the communications services market in the United States. With this in mind, we designed our
network for scalability and consistent performance as we add new users and services. We have designed a
nationwide network that is organized around our regional metropolitan areas and interconnected across the
country. It is likely that our continued growth and the increasing amount of bandwidth required by our
customers for applications like voice and video streaming will require that we continue to upgrade our
equipment and purchase additional network capacity.

Intelligent End-to-End Network Management — Because customers” lines are continuously connected,
we have visibility from the ISP or enterprise site across the network all the way down to the customer’s line,
and for certain high-value customers, further down to their CPE. Because our network is centrally managed,
we can identify and improve network quality, service and performance.

Flexibility — We have designed our network to be flexible in handling various types of network traffic,
including data, voice, and potentially extending to video information in the future. This flexibility will allow us
to carry not only value-added services such as VoIP, but will also allow us to control the prioritization of
content delivery over our national network. We accomplish the prioritization and quality of service control
using ATM technology, which allows us to support both non-real time and real-time applications and allocates
bandwidth among customers.

Network Operations Centers — Qur entire network is managed from a network operations center located
in the San Francisco Bay Area. We provide end-to-end network management using advanced network
management tools on a 24x7 basis, which enhances our ability to address performance or connectivity issues.
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Nationwide Broadband Access and Internet Connectivity — We link each of our metropolitan areas
together with leased high-speed private backbone network connections. Our Internet access points are
strategically located at high-speed interconnection facilities across the country in order to increase the
performance and decrease the latency of connections to the Internet for our customers.

Private Metropolitan Network — We operate our own private metropolitan network in each region that
we provide service. The network consists of high-speed communications circuits that we lease to connect our
hubs, our equipment in individual central offices, our Internet access points, and our resellers and direct
customers with multiple locations. We have leased fiber optic networks using Synchronous Optical Network,
or SONET, technology in four of our major metropolitan areas. Qur metropolitan networks operate at speeds of
45 megabits per second to 4.8 gigabits per second.

Central Office Spaces — Through our interconnection agreements with the ILECs, we lease space in
central offices where we offer service. We require access to these spaces for our equipment and for persons
employed by or under contract with us. We place DSLAMs in our central office spaces to provide the high-
speed DSL signals on each copper line to our end-users. As of December 31, 2006, we had 2,048 operational
central offices.

Telephone Lines — We lease the telephone lines running to end-users from the ILECs under terms
specified in our interconnection agreements. We lease lines that, in many cases, must be specially conditioned
by the ILECs to carry digital signals, usually at an additional charge relative to that for voice grade telephone
lines. We also provide some of our services over telephone lines that already carry the voice service of an
ILEC, known as line-sharing. Our continuing ability to use these line-shared telephone lines is dependent on
our ability to maintain and enter into agreements with the three largest ILECs, the RBOCs, or to obtain
favorable regulatory rulings.

Fixed Wireless Connections — We sell fixed wireless broadband services directly to end users in the
San Francisco Bay Area, Los Angeles, Orange County (California), Santa Barbara, Chicago and Las Vegas.
We are cvaluating whether we will offer the service in additiona! markets. We offer this service using a
combination of licensed and unlicensed wireless spectrum. The advantage of using licensed spectrum is that it
is easier to prevent interference from other providers. Much of the licensed spectrum we use today is licensed
directly by the FCC on a point-to-point basis. Additionally, some licensed spectrum we use is leased from third
party license holders. For this reascon, we incur additional operating expenses using licensed spectrum. In
contrast, unlicensed spectrum requires less operating expense, but the management of the interference caused
by other devices and service providers requires careful engineering. In order to offer our fixed wireless services
we must deploy radios and antennas in the areas where we intend to offer the service. This usually means that
we need to secure roof or antenna rights in these markets, which requires additional expenditures. Qur fixed
wireless service uses pre-WiMax equipment. WiMax is a set of specifications for wireless equipment and
services that will encourage the interoperability of solutions from different suppliers. We currently plan to
gradually upgrade our fixed wireless network to the WiMax standard when this equipment is available.

DSL Modems, Telecommunications Equipment and On-Site Connection — We buy customer premises
equipmeat, or CPE, from our suppliers for resale to our customers. In order to provide our business-class
services to an end-user we currently have to configure and install CPE along with any required on-site wiring
needed to connect the CPE to the copper line leased from the ILEC, Qur fixed wireless services similarly
require the deployment of CPE at the customer’s location. For our consumer access services, CPE is included
in self-installation kits provided by us or our resellers, We ship the kits to end-users, who, in most cases,
perform their own installation. Customers who purchase our VoIP services from us may also purchase office
telephone equipment, such as telephones and conference speakerphones

Competition

We face significant competition in the markets for business and consumer Internet access, network access,

wireless broadband and voice services and we expect this competition to intensify. The principal bases of
competition in our markets include price and performance, discounted rates for bundles of services, breadth of
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service availability, reliability of service, network security, and ease of access and use. We face competition from
the following categories of companies:

» RBOCs (Verizon, Qwest and AT&T);

« cable television companies providing broadband and VoIP, such as Comcast Corporation, Cox Commu-
nications, Time Wamer, Inc. and Charter Communications,

+ competitive telecommunications companies, such as MegaPath and XO Communicafions;

» interexchange carriers including Sprint and Leve! 3 Communications;

* VoIP service providers, such as M5 Networks, PingTone and cBeyond,

s telephone equipment providers offering VoIP services, such as Nortel, Avaya, Cisco and Lucent;
* Internet service providers, such as EarthLink and Speakeasy.net;

» online service providers, including companies such as AOL, Google and MSN, a subsidiary of Microsoft
Corp.; and

+ wireless and satellite service providers such as AT&T, Sprint, Verizon Wireless, T-Mobile, StarBand
Communications Inc., DirecTV, EchoStar Communications Corporation, Globalstar, Lockheed, NextLink
{(a subsidiary of XO Holdings), StarBand Communications and Teledesic.

Interconnection Agreements with the Regional Bell Operating Companies
A critical aspect of our business is our interconnection agreements with the three largest ILECs, the RBOCs.
These agreements cover a number of aspects including:
* prices we pay to lease access, both for stand-alone and line-shared lines;
+ special conditioning on certain of these lines to enable the transmission of digital signals;
= prices and terms of central office space for our equipment;

» prices we pay and access we have to data transport facilities connecting our facilities in different central
offices and network points of presence;

» interfaces that we can use to place orders, report network problems and monifor responses to our requests;
» dispute resolution processes we use to resolve disagreements; and

» terms of the interconnection agreement, its transferability to successors, its liability limits and other general
aspects of the relationships.

We have entered into interconnection agreements with or otherwise obtained interconnection rights from the
three RBOCs in the states covering the metropolitan areas we serve. RBOCs often do not agree to our requested
provisions in interconnection agreements. When we cannot agree, the 1996 Telecommunications Act provides for
arbitration of interconnection agreement terms before state public utility commissions, or PUCs. We have not
consistently prevailed in obtaining our desired provisions in such agreements.

Some of our interconnection agreements have a term of three years. Under our interconnection agreements,
either party can request renegotiation prior to the agreement’s expiration if there is a change in law. We will also
have to renew these agreements when they expire. Although we expect to renew the interconnection agreements that
require renewal and believe the 1996 Telecommunications Act limits the ability of ILECs not to renew such
agreements, we may not succeed in extending or renegotiating our interconnection agreements on favorable terms.
Additionally, disputes have arisen and will likely arise in the future as a result of differences in interpretations of the
interconnection agreements. In the past, these disputes have delayed our deployment of our network. Such disputes
have also adversely affected our service to our customers and our ability to enter into additional interconnection
agreements with the RBOCs in other states. Finally, the interconnection agreements are subject to state PUCs,
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Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, and judicial oversight. These government authorities may modify
the terms of the interconnection agreements in a way that hurts our business.

Government Regulation

Overview — Our services are subject to a variety of federal laws and regulations. With respect to certain
activities and for certain purposes, we have also submitted our operations to the jurisdiction of state and local
authorities who may also assert more extensive jurisdiction over our facilities and services. The FCC has
jurisdiction over our facilities and services to the extent that we provide interstate and international communications
services. To the extent we provide certain identifiable intrastate services, our services and facilities may be subject
to a variety of state laws and regulations. Rates for the services and network elements we purchase from the RBOCs
are, in many cases, determined by the applicable state PUCs. In addition, local municipal governments may assert
jurisdiction over our facilities and operations, such as through government-owned rights of way and local zoning.
The precise jurisdictional reach of the various federal, state and local authorities is uncertain because it is subject to
ongoing controversy and judicial review.

Recent Developments — On June 16, 2006, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit upheld the
FCC’s February 4, 2005, order changing its rules regarding the obligations of ILECs to share their networks with
competitive telecommunications companies like us. These rules include the following changes:

» If certain criteria are met, ILECs can stop providing new transport services between the telephone
companies’ central offices at regulated rates, which are usually lower than commercially available rates.
These criteria are based on the number of business lines served by the connected central offices and the
number of alternative providers collocated in the central offices. This rule went into effect on March 11,
2005. For existing transport services where the criteria are met, ILECs are required to continue to provide the
services with a price increase of 15% for either twelve or eighteen months after the order went into effect.
The twelve and eighteen month periods expired on March 11, 2006 and September 11, 2006, at which time
commercially available rates prevailed. We currently purchase interoffice transport from the ILECs in order
to carry traffic over our network. This change increased our data transport costs by approximately $4,260 in
2006 and we expect it will increase our data transport costs in 2007 by approximately $5,000.

+ In addition, ILECs are no longer required to provide new high-capacity unbundled DS-1 and DS-3 lines at
regulated rates in locations where certain criteria are met. These criteria are based on the number of business
lines served by the central office and the number of alternative providers collocated in the central office. This
rule went into effect on March 11, 2005. For existing high-capacity DS-1 and DS-3 lines where the criteria
are met, ILECs are required to continue to provide the lines for a twelve month transition period with a price
increase of 15%. The transition period expired on March 11, 2006, at which time commercially available
rates prevailed. We use DS-1 lines to provide business-grade services to our end-users. This change
increased our cost to purchase DS-1 lines by approximately $503 in 2006.

» ILECs are no longer required to provide new dark fiber lines at reguilated rates. As of March 11, 2006,
commercially available rates for these services prevail. In certain areas, we purchase dark fiber to transport
data traffic within our network. Currently we purchase our dark fiber from non-ILEC providers. However, if
we are unable to purchase dark fiber from non-ILEC providers in the future, we expect this change will
increase our cost to purchase dark fiber lines. At this time we cannot reliably quantify the aggregate amount
of these increases, if any.

* Competitive telecommunications carriers, including our resellers, can no longer purchase voice services
from the ILECs under an arrangement known as the Unbundled Network Element Platform, or UNE-P, for
new customers at regulated rates. The existence of UNE-P had allowed us to bundle our data services with
the voice services of competitive telecommunications providers through line-splitting arrangements. We
currently bundle services in this manner only with competitive telecommunications providers that have
agreements with the ILECs to allow them continued access to UNE-P or similar resold services. As
discussed above, we have deployed an alternative method of delivering residential voice services with our
LPVA service, which enables our strategic reseller, EarthLink, to offer local and long distance voice services
to its customers (bundied with our data services) in competition with the local telephone companies.
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‘The new rules took effect on March 11, 2005. Implementation of the rules is governed by the interconnection
agreements between ILECs and competitive carriers. The implementation and interpretation of the rules, including
the dates that specific aspects of the new rules affect network elements, continue to be the subject of disputes in state
PUCs and other venues.

The FCC decision mentioned above was a modification of the FCC’s previous Triennial Review order, which
was issued on August 21, 2003, referred to as the Original Triennial Review Order. This order also represented a
significant development for us because the FCC decided to phase out its rule requining line-sharing pursuant to
Section 251 of the 1996 Telecommunications Act over a three-year period. Line-sharing allows us to provision
services using ADSL technology over the same telephone line that the ILEC is using to provide voice services. The
phase-out period will be handled in the following manner:

« Our line-shared customers as of October 2, 2003 were grandfathered indefinitely at current rates, terms and
conditions. These line-shared customers provided approximately $68,758, $68,755 and $89,857, or 14.5%,
15.5% and 20.9%, of our revenues for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

« For line-shared customers acquired from October 3, 2003 to October 2, 2004, the FCC-mandated maximum
price for the high-frequency portion of the telephone line was 25% of the cost of a separate telephone line
during the first year, 50% of the cost of a separate telephone line from October 3, 2004 to October 2, 2005,
and 75% of the cost of a separate telephone line from October 3, 2005 to October 2, 2006. After October 2,
2006, we were required to transition these customers to new arrangements, which could include continued
provision of services pursuant to commercial agreements.

+ As of October 3, 2004, we could no longer acquire new line-shared customers at regulated rates under
Section 251 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996.

We have reached agreements that provide us with continued access to line-sharing with the three RBOCs
(AT&T (except for the former BellSouth region that is now part of AT&T), Verizon and Qwest), accounting for
approximately 91.7% of our line-shared customer base. Our agreements regarding line-sharing with AT&T, Verizon
and Qwest expire in May of 2009, December of 2008 and October of 2007, respectively. In the event that we do not
obtain favorable regulatory rulings for line-sharing or enter into and maintain line-sharing agreements with the
RBOCs, we will be required to purchase a separate telephone line in order to provide services to an end-user in the
areas served by RBOCs. If this occurs we may stop selling stand-alone consumer-grade services to new customers,
because the cost of a separate telephone line is significantly higher than what we currently pay for a shared line and
requires us to dispatch a technician to install the service. Our inability to acquire new line-shared customers would
limit our growth and negatively impact our ability to sell consumer DSL services.

In the Original Trienniat Review Order, and subsequent orders, the FCC also decided that ILECs are not
required to allow us to access certain types of fiber and fiber-fed lines or the packet-switching functions of fiber-fed
telephone lines to provision DSL services. In a subsequent order, released October 27, 2004, the FCC also granted
the RBOCs forbearance from the obligation to provide access to the packet-switching functions of fiber-fed
telephone lines under section 271 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. This means that, unless we reach
agreements with the RBOCs or obtain favorable regulatory rulings from the FCC or state regulators, we will
continue to be unable to provide our most commonly-used services to end-users served by affected fiber-fed lines.
Our inability to access fiber and fiber-fed packet-switching functions is significant for our business because it limits
the addressable market for our DSL services, thereby limiting our growth. In addition, the RBOCs are increasing
their deployment of fiber lines and fiber-fed remote terminal architectures, thereby limiting our addressable market.

The 1996 Telecommunications Act provided relief from the earnings restrictions and price controls that
governed the local telephone business for many years. Since passage of the 1996 Telecommunications Act, the FCC
has been less stringent in its review of tariff filings by the four largest ILECs, the RBOCs, including filings for DSL
services. In particular, without substantive review of the cost support for the RBOCs’ DSL services, rates for those
services may be below cost and may facilitate price squeezes, predatory pricing or other exclusionary strategies by
ILECs that harm our business. On September 23, 2005, the FCC eliminated certain regulations that apply to the
RBOCs provision of broadband Internet access services that are competitive with ours. The FCC determined that
RBOC wireline broadband Internet access services are defined under the Communications Act as information
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services functionaily integrated with a telecommunications component, and relieved RBOCs of related common
carrier, tariffing, and non-discrimination obligations, The FCC also provided the RBOCs with flexibility to offer the
transmission component of wireline broadband Internet access service to affiliated or unaffiliated ISPs on a
common-carrier basis, a non-common carrier basis, or some combination of both, The FCC’s new regulatory
classification of broadband Internet access service does not impact competitive local exchange carriers, or CLECs,
ability to access UUNEs under section 251 of the 1996 Telecommunications Act and the FCC’s rules. We expect that
this addittonal regulatory freedom and any additional regulatory freedom granted to the RBOCs in this area will
increase the competition we face from the RBOCs’ services and could reduce our access to ILEC facilities and
services.

On February 22, 2005, SBC and AT&T filed applications at the FCC to request a transfer of AT&T’s licenses
and authorizations to SBC, pursuant to SBC’s planned acquisition of AT&T. On March 11, 2005, Verizon and MCI
filed applications at the FCC to request a transfer of MCI’s licenses and authorizations to Verizon, pursvant to
Verizon’s planned acquisition of MCI. The U.S. Department of Justice approved the acquisitions with certain
limited divestiture conditions on October 27, 2005. On November 17, 2005, the FCC released orders approving both
mergers. The FCC’s orders also contained conditions on its approval of the mergers that are favorable to competitive
carriers. Such conditions include UNE and other service pricing freezes; recalculation of areas where the merged
RBOCs are required to share their networks with competitive telecommunications companies; special access
availability, pricing, and service quality monitoring; and Internet peering access and transparency. These conditions
are limited and are of varying durations.

On March 31, 2006, AT&T (the combined SBC/AT&T entity resulting from the 2005 merger) and BellSouth
filed applications at the FCC to request a transfer of BellSouth’s licenses and authorizations to AT&T, pursuant to
AT&T's planned acquisition of BellSouth. The U.S. Department of Justice approved the acquisition on October 12,
2006. On December 29, 2006, the FCC approved the acquisition, with conditions that are intended to be favorable to
competitive telecommunications companies. Such conditions include UNE and other service price freezes;
recalculation of areas where the merged AT&T/BellSouth entity is required to share their networks with com-
petitive telecommunications companies; special access availability, pricing, and service quality monitoring;
Internet peering access and transparency; and limitations on the use of regulatory forbearance to erode the benefits
of the conditions. Another condition requires that AT&T offer stand-alone, or “naked,” ADSL service to its retail
customers for $20 a month, which is significantly lower that the price that our resellers charge for similar services,
These conditions are limited and are of varying durations.

Each of the FCC decisions in this area has been or will likely be challenged by various participants in the
telecommunications industry. We expect that many of the components of these rules will be the subject of
continuing litigation that could influence their ultimate impact. As such, it is not possible for us to predict the final
effects of these rules with assurance.

Investors should review this discussion of the FCC’s recent rulemaking and the actual FCC orders carefully to
understand the potentially significant effects that these proceedings may have on cur ability 10 continue to engage in
our business as we have in the past, as the FCC’s rulings creale a number of uncertainties, risks, challenges and
opportunities for us.

Federal and State VolP Regulation — As a result of the growing deployment of VoIP services, the FCC has
taken action to extend to many VoIP services regulations applicable to traditional voice services. For example, on
June 3, 2005, the FCC released rules requiring VolP carriers interconnected with the public switched telephone
network, or PSTN, to provide enhanced 911, or E911, service to customers. On September 23, 2005, the FCC
released rules requiring certain broadband Internet providers and VoIP carriers interconnected with the PSTN to
accommodate wiretaps pursuant to the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, or CALEA. On
June 21, 2006, the FCC extended FUSF contribution obligations to VoIP providers that connect through the publicly
switched telephone network. This FCC decision has been challenged by various parties and the outcome of this
challenged could influence the ultimate impact of these rules. Additionally, the FCC is conducting other regulatory
proceedings that could further affect our regulatory duties and rights as a VoIP provider. There is regulatory
uncertainty as o the imposition of access charges and other regulations, taxes, fees and surcharges on VoIP services.
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If the FCC chose to adopt such regulations, it could impact our ability to offer new services in a cost-efficient
manner.

‘The state PUCs are also conducting regulatory proceedings that could impact our rights and obligations with
respect to VoIP. In an order released November 12, 2004, the FCC determined that Internet telephony services like
our VoIP service are not subject to traditional regulation by the state PUCs. This order has been appealed to the
courts, and it is unclear what the outcome of this litigation will be.

We cannot predict the outcome of these regulatory and legal proceedings or any similar petitions and
regulatory proceedings pending before the FCC or state PUCs. Moreover, we cannot predict how their outcomes
may affect our operations or whether the FCC or state PUCs will impose additional requirements, regulations or
charges upon our provision of VoIP services.

Other Federal Regulation — We must comply with the requirements of the Communications Act of 1934, as
amended by the 1996 Telecommunications Act, as well as the FCC’s regulations under the statute. The 1996
Telecommunications Act eliminates many of the pre-existing legal barriers to competition in the telecommuni-
cations and video communications businesses, preempts many of the state barriers to local telecommunications
service competition that previously existed in state and local laws and regulations, and sets basic standards for
relationships between telecommunications providers. The law delegates to the FCC and the states broad regulatory
and administrative authority to implement the 1996 Telecommunications Act.

Among other things, the 1996 Telecommunications Act removes barriers to entry in the local telecommu-
nications market. It also requires that ILECs provide nondiscriminatory access and interconnection to potential
competitors. Regulations promulgated by the FCC under the 1996 Telecommunications Act (such as those
discussed above under the heading “Recent Developments™) specify in greater detail the requirements imposed
on the ILECs to open their networks to competition by providing competitors interconnection, central office and
remote terminal space, access to unbundled network elements, retail services at wholesale rates and nondiscrim-
inatory access 1o telephone poles, ducts, conduits and rights-of-way. The requirements allow companies like us to
interconnect with the ILECs.

Further, the 1996 Telecommunications Act provides the FCC with the authority to forbear from regulating
entities such as us. The FCC has exercised its forbearance authority. As a result, we are not obligated to obtain prior
approval from the FCC for our interstate services or file tariffs for such services. We generally do not file tariffs for
our interstate services. We provide our interstate services to our customers on the basis of contracts rather than
tariffs. We believe that it is unlikely that the FCC will require us to file tariffs for our interstate services in the future.
We are, however, required to comply with certain obligations that attach to all telecommunications carriers. For
example, we are required to make payments into the Federal Universal Service Fund, or FUSF, for some of our
services. The FUSF is a federal fund to support various programs that ensure the availability of telecommunications
services to, for example, schools, libraries, hospitals, and in high-cost regions of the country. We are required to pay
a percentage of our interstate and international telecommunications and interconnected VolP revenue to the FUSFE,
and we generally pass that percentage through to our customers. The amount we are required to pay into the FUSF
varies depending on the breakdown between, for example, our telecommunications revenue and non-telecommu-
nications, such as equipment sales and installation services, revenue. In addition, we are not required to pay into the
FUSF for any revenues derived from information services. The FCC has a proceeding underway to reexamine its
FUSF contribution rules, and the FCC and its FUSF collection agent periodically change the rules related to those
contributions, including the percentage and time period of interstate telecommunications revenue that a carrier must
contribute to the FUSF. To the extent those rules are changed, or new interpretations of those rules results in an
increase in the FUSF contributions that we must make, we may be subject to increased lability for payments beyond
what we have already contributed.

Other State Regulation — To the extent we provide identifiable intrastate services or have otherwise submitted
ourselves to the jurisdiction of the relevant state telecommunications regulatory PUCs, we are subject to state
jurisdiction. In addition, certain states have required prior state certification as a prerequisite for processing and
deciding an arbitration petition for interconnection under the 1996 Telecommunications Act. We are authorized to
operate as a CLEC in all of the states covering metropolitan statistical areas we serve. We file tariffs in certain states
for intrastate services as required by state law or regulation. We are also subject to periodic financial and other
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reporting requirements of these states with respect to certain intrastate services. Jurisdictional determinations that
some or all of our services are intrastate services could harm our business. In particular, we could be deemed liable
for payments into state universal service funds, which require telecommunications carriers providing intrastate
services to pay a percentage of their intrastate revenues to support state programs that ensure universal availability
of telecommunications and related services. We do not believe that the services we offer on an interstate basis are
subject to such state assessments, but a state commission or judicial decision to the contrary could subject us to
liability for such payments.

Each state PUC has proceedings to determine the rates, charges and terms and conditions for collocation and
unbundled network elements. Unbundled network elements are the various portions of an ILEC’s network that a
competitive company can tease for purposes of building a facilities-based competitive network, including telephone
lines, central office collocation space, inter-office transport, operational support systems, local switching and rights
of way. The rates in many of our interconnection agreements are interim rates and will be prospectively, and, in
some cases, retroactively, affected by the permanent rates set by the various state PUCs. We have participated in
unbundled network element rate proceedings in several states in an effort to reduce these rates. If any state
commission decides to increase unbundled network element rates our operating results would be adversely affected.

Local Government Regulation — We may be required to obtain various permits and authorizations from
municipalities in which we operate our own facilities. The issue of whether actions of local governments with
respect to activities of carriers, including requiring payment of franchise fees or other surcharges, pose barriers to
entry for competitive companies which may be preempted by the FCC is the subject of litigation. Although we rely
primarily on the unbundled network elements of the ILECs, in certain instances we deploy our own facilities and,
therefore, may need to obtain certain municipal permits or other authorizations. The actions of municipal
governments in imposing conditions on the grant of permits or other authorizations or their failure to act in
granting such permits or other authorizations could harm our business.

The foregoing does not purport to describe all present and proposed federal, state and iocal regulations and
legislation affecting the telecommunications industry. Other existing federal regulations are currently the subject of
judicial proceedings, legislative hearings and administrative proposals which could change, in varying degrees, the
manner in which communications companies operate in the United States. The RBOCs have periodically
introduced federal and state legislation 1o relieve them from some or all of their obligations to provide us with
access to their networks. Some states legislatures have approved these proposals. It would be reasonable to expect
that the RBOCs will seek additional state and federal legislation that, if enacted into law, would adversely affect our
business.

The ultimate ouicome of these proceedings and the ultimate impact of the 1996 Telecommunications Act or
any final regulations adopted pursuant to the 1996 Telecommunications Act on our business cannot be determined
at this time but may well be adverse to our interests. We cannot predict the impact, if any, that future regulation or
regulatory changes may have on our business and we can give no assurance that such future regulation or regulatory
changes will not harm our business. See Part 1, Item 1A.— “Risk Factors — Qur services are subject to
government regulation, and changes in current or future laws or regulations could adversely affect our business”
and Part |, ltem 1A. — “Risk Factors — Charges for network elements are generally outside of our control because
they are proposed by the ILECs and are subject to costly regulatory approval processes.”

Significant Customers

We had approximately 404 wholesale customers as of December 31, 2006. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, our 30
largest wholesale customers in each such year collectively comprised 60.6%, 65.4% and 67.4% of our total net
revenues, respectively. Two of our wholesale customers each individually accounted for more than 10% of our
revenue:

¢ AT&T accounted for 14.3%, 16.3% and 13.8% of our total net revenues for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively; and

* EarthLink accounted for 11.1%, 14.6%, and 16.9% of our total net revenues for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
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Intellectual Property

We regard certain aspects of our products, services and technology as proprietary and attempt to protect them
with patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secret laws, restrictions on disclosure and other methods. These methods
may not be sufficient to protect our technology. We also generally enter into confidentiality or license agreements
with our employees and consultants, and generalty control access to and distribution of our documentation and other
proprietary information. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain
and use our products, services or technology without authorization, or to develop similar technology independently.

Currently we have fifteen patents granted and a number of patent applications pending. We intend to seek
additional patent protection for our systems and services to the extent possible. These patents may not be issued to
us. Even if they are issued, they may not protect our intellectual property from competition. Competitors may design
around or seek to invalidate these patents.

Further, effective patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in
certain foreign countries. The global nature of the Internet makes it virtually impossible to control the ultimate
destination of our proprietary information. Steps taken by us may not prevent misappropriation or infringement of
our technology. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights to protect our
trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources. In addition, others may sue us alleging infringement of their intellectual
property rights.

A manufacturer of telecommunications hardware named “COVID” has filed an opposition to our trademark
application for the mark “COVAD"” and design.” Covid is also seeking to cancel our trademark registration for the
“Covad” name. We do not believe that these challenges to our trademark application and granted trademark have
merit. However, these proceedings are unpredictable and there is no guarantee we will prevail. 1f we do not succeed,
it could limit our ability to provide our services under the “COVAD” name.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 967 employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union,
and we consider our relations with our employees to be good. Our ability to achieve our financial and operational
objectives depends in large part upon the continued service of our senior management and key technical, sales,
marketing, legal, finance, human resources and managerial personnel, and our continuing ability to attract and
retain highly qualified technical, sales, marketing, legal, accounting and managerial personnel. Competition for
such qualified personnel is intense, particularly in software development, network engineering and product
management. In addition, in the event that our employees unionize, we could incur higher ongoing labor costs
and disruptions in our operations in the event of a strike or other work stoppage.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on or through our Internet address located at www.covad.com our annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file that material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. Materials we file with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. This information may also be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at
www.sec.gov. We will provide a copy of any of the foregoing documents to stockholders upon request. Requests
should be sent to Covad Communications Group, Inc., 110 Rio Robles, San Jose, California, 95134, Attn: Investor
Relations.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

(All dollar and share amounts are presented in thousands, except per share amounts)

Investing in and holding our common stock involve a degree of risk. Many factors, including those described
below and set forth elsewhere in this report and in other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-
locking statements contained in this report. If any of these risks materialize, our business, financial condition and
results of operations could suffer. These risks are not the only ones we face. Additional risks that we currently do not
know about or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also impair our business.

Our services are subject to government regulation, and changes in current or future laws or regulations
and the methods of enforcing the law and regulations could adversely affect our business.

Our services are subject to federal, state and local government regulations. In particular, the company and its
resellers are dependent on certain provisions of the 1996 Telecommunications Act to procure certain facilities and
services from the RBOCs that are necessary to provide our services, As a result, our business is highly dependent on
rules and rulings from the FCC, legislative actions at both the state and federal level, and rulings from state PUCs.

Over the last several years the FCC has made substantial changes to the regulatory environment in which we
operate. The FCC’s August 21, 2003 Triennial Review Order and its release of further changes to its network
unbundling rules on February 4, 20085, limited, and in some cases climinated our access to some of the network
elements that we use to operate our business. These orders were challenged by several parties, but in June 2006 the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit affirmed the FCC’s rules. Where we no longer have
regulated access to network elements, our costs are likely to increase as a result of these orders and we may be
unable to profitably offer some of our services. We may be unable to adapt to the changed regulatory environment,
in its current form, or to future changes, whether resulting from these orders or from subsequent action by Congress,
state legislatures, the courts, the FCC, or other regulatory authorities.

In addition, the FCC’s August 2003 Triennial Review order and related subsequent orders provided that RBOC
fiber-based facilities and packet-based facilities were no longer required to be unbundled and made available to
competitive carriers like us. The RBOCs have each announced plans to aggressively deploy new fiber and packet-
based facilities as replacements for the copper loop based facilities that we use to provide our services. This
substitution of fiber and packet based facilities and related phase-out of copper lines will reduce the portion of the
market for data and voice services that we can reach utilizing our wireline network. While we are pursuing
alternative means of providing services where this occurs, including commercial access agreements with the
RBOCs and alternative means of providing services, such as fixed wireless, we may not be successful in these
efforts, and there may be material adverse effects on our financial condition.

Most recently, on September 6, 2006, Verizon filed petitions at the FCC requesting forbearance from the
regulatory requirement to provide competitors access to lines and transport at cost-based rates in the Metropolitan
Statistical Areas of Boston, New York, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh, Providence, and Virginia Beach. Ongoing access to
these network elements at cost-based rates, particularly in the Boston, New York, and Philadelphia markets, is
material to our ability to profitably offer our services. The FCC is required to act on these petitions by December
2007. Grant of the Verizon petitions, in whole or in part, could significantly increase the costs of providing our
services and have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Charges for network elements are generally outside of our control because they are proposed by the
ILECs and are subject to costly regulatory approval processes.

ILECs provide the copper lines that connect the vast majority of our end-users to our equipment located in their
central offices. The 1936 Telecommunications Act generally requires that charges for these unbundled network
elements be cost-based and nondiscriminatory. Nonetheless, the nonrecurring and recurring monthly charges for
copper lines that we require vary greatly. These rates are subject to negotiations between us and the ILECs and to the
approval of the state PUCs. Consequently, we are subject to the risk that the non-recurring and recurring charges for
lines and other unbundled network elements will increase based on higher rates proposed by the ILECs and
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approved by state PUCs from time to time, which would increase our operating expenses and reduce our ability to
provide competitive products. '

The impact of regulatory and judicial decisions on access to or the prices we pay to the ILECs for collocation
and unbundled network elements is uncertain. There is a risk that ongoing access to collocation and unbundled
network elements will be reduced or eliminated in particular markets over time. There is also a risk that any new
prices set by the regulators could be significantly higher than current prices. If we are denied access to collocation or
network components or are required to pay higher prices to the ILECs for collocation and network components, it
could materially increase our operating expenses and reduce our ability to provide competitive products.

Our business will be adversely affected if our interconnection agreements are not renewed or if they are
modified on unfavorable terms.

We are required 1o enter into interconnection agreements covering each of the states we serve with the
appropriate ILECs in order to provide service in those regions. Many of our existing interconnection agreements
have a maximum term of three years. Therefore, we will have to renegotiate these agreements with the ILECs when
they expire. A number of these agreements have expired and we are currently in the process of renegotiating them.
We may not succeed in extending or renegotiating these interconnection agreements on favorable terms or at all.

As the FCC modifies changes and implements its rules related to unbundling and collocation, we generally
have to renegotiate our interconnection agreements to implement those new or modified rules. For example, we are
involved in a number of renegotiations of interconnection agreements to reflect the FCC's recent decisions. We may
be unable to renegotiate these agreements in a timely manner, or we may be forced to arbitrate and litigate in order
to obtain agreement terms that fully comply with FCC rules.

Additionally, disputes have arisen and will likely continue to arise in the future as a result of different
interpretations of the interconnection agreements. These disputes have delayed and could further delay the
deployment of network capabilities and services, and resolution of any litigated matters will require ongoing
expenditures and management time. In addition, the interconnection agreements are subject to state PUC, FCC and
judicial oversight. These government authorities may modify the terms of the interconnection agreements in a way
that reduces our access to, or increases the cost of, the network components that we purchase from the ILECs.

We depend on a limited number of customers for the preponderance of our revenues, and we are highly
dependent on sales through our resellers.

The majority of our revenue comes from Internet service providers, telecommunications carriers and other
customers who resell our Internet access and other services to their business and consumer end-users. Our
agreements with our resellers are generally non-exclusive, and many of our customers also resell services offered by
our competitors. Our agreements with our resellers generally do not contain purchase commitments. A limited
number of resellers account for a significant portion of our revenues. Our top 30 resellers accounted for
approximately 60.6% of our net revenues for 2006. We expect that our reseller customers will continue to account
for a significant portion of our revenue and new end user additions.

If we were to lose one or more of our key resellers or if one or more of our key resellers stopped providing us
with orders or removed end-users from our network, our revenue and line-growth could be materially adversely
affected. Consolidations, mergers and acquisitions involving our key resellers have occurred in the past and may
occur in the future. These consolidations, mergers and acquisitions may cause key resellers to stop providing us with
orders or to remove end-users from our network. On January 31, 2005, one of our major resellers, AT&T Corp., was
acquired by SBC, one of the largest RBOCs and also one of our larger resellers. The surviving company is now
known as AT&T, Inc. On January 6, 2006, another one of our resellers, MCI, was acquired by Verizon. The
combined AT&T entity and Verizon (including MCl) are both our competitors and resellers of our services and
account for a significant portion of our revenues. At this time, we cannot predict the effects of these transactions on
our revenues derived from the new combined AT&T or from MCI, or the timing of any such effects.
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The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we may not be able to compele effectively,
especially against established industry competitors with significantly greater financial resources.

‘We face significant competition in the markets for business and consumer Internet access, network access and
voice services and we expect this competition to intensify. We face competition from the RBOCs, cable modem
service providers, competitive telecommunications companies, traditional and new national long distance carriers,
Internet service providers, on-line service providers and wireless and satellite service providers. Many of these
competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, better strategic relationships and signif-
icantly greater financial, technical or marketing resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may be able to:

« develop and adopt new or emerging technologies;

» respond to changes in customer requirements more quickly;

* devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products and services;
» form new alliances and rapidly acquire significant market share;

» undertake more extensive marketing campaigns;

= adopt more aggressive pricing policies; and

+ devote substantially more resources to developing new services.

The intense competition from our competitors, including the RBOCs, the cable modem service providers and
the competitive telecommunications companies could harm our business.

The RBOCs represent the dominant competition in all of our target service areas, and we expect this
competition to intensify. The RBOCs have established brand names and reputations for quality service, possess
sufficient capital to deploy new DSL equipment and other competing products and services rapidly, have their own
telephone lines and can bundle digital data services with their existing voice, wireless and other services to achieve
economies of scale in serving customers. They can also offer service to end-users using fiber and fiber-fed lines that
they are not required to make available to us. Certain RBOCs are aggressively pricing their consumer DSL service
subscription fees below $15 per month when ordered as part of a bundle, which has slowed sales of consumer DSL
services by our reseller partners and increased the rate of churn among our existing users. We believe that we pose a
competitive risk to the RBOCs and, as both our competitors and our suppliers, they have the ability and the
motivation to disadvantage our business. If we are unable to enter into and maintain our agreements with the RBOCs
that provide us with access to line-sharing at reasonable rates, we will be unable to price our consumer services ata
price that is competitive with the RBOCs.

Cable modem service providers, such as Cox Communications, Comcast, and Time Warner, and their
respective cable company customers, have deployed high-speed Internet access services over coaxial cable
networks. These networks provide similar, and in some cases, higher-speed data services than we provide. In
addition, cable providers are bundling VoIP telephony and other services, such as video-on-demand, with their
Internet access offerings. As a result, competition with the cable modem service providers may have a significant
negative effect on our ability to secure customers and may create downward pressure on the prices we can charge for
our services.

New competitors in the market for VoIP services and improvements in the quality of VoIP service
provided by competitors over the public Internet could increase competition for our VoIP services.

Our business plan is based partly on our ability to provide local and long distance voice services at a lower rate
than our cormpetitors. We expect price compeltition to increase in the VoIP market due to increasing emphasis on
VoIP by the local telephone companies and new entrants to the VoIP market. Because networks using VoIP
technology can be deployed with less capital investment than traditional networks, there are lower barriers to entry
in this market and it may be easier for new competitors to emerge. Increasing competition may cause us to lower our
prices or may make it more difficult to attract and retain customers.
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We believe that our VolP service does not compete with providers who use the public Internet to transmit
communications traffic, as these providers generally cannot provide the quality of service necessary for business-
grade services. Future technology advances, however, may enable these providers to offer an improved quality of
services to business customers over the Internet with lower costs than we incur by using a private network. This
could also lead to increased price competition,

Failure to complete development, upgrades, testing and introduction of new services, including VoIP
services, could affect our ahility to compete in the industry.

We continuously develop, test and introduce new services that are delivered over our network. These new
services are intended to allow us to address new segments of the communications marketplace and to compete for
additional customers. In some cases, the introduction of new services requires the successful development of new
technology. In addition, some of the equipment in our network will need to be replaced as it becomes obsolete and in
order to accommodate the increasing bandwidth that our customers require. To the extent that upgrades of existing
technology are required for the introduction of new services, the success of these upgrades may depend on the
conclusion of contract negotiations with vendors and vendors meeting their obligations in a timely manner. In
addition, new service offerings may not operate as intended and may not be widely accepted by customers. If we are
not able to successfully complete the development and introduction of new services and enhancements to our
existing services, including VoIP, LPVA, and fixed wireless services, in a timely manner, our business could be
materially adversely affected.

We may need to raise additional capital under difficult financial market conditions.

We believe our current cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments in debt securities should be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures until we become cash flow
positive. We have a business plan for 2007 that we believe will take us to the point where our operations will yield a
positive cash flow without raising additional capital. This business plan is based upon several assumptions,
including growth of our subscriber base with a reasonable per subscriber profit margin and improvements in
productivity. If actual events differ from these assumptions, we may be required to alter our business plan to reflect
these changes. We will continue to monitor events to determine if such adjustments to our business plan are
appropriate.

We are currently facing a variety of challenges that may affect the assumptions contained in our business plan,
including, among others:

» customer disconnection rates that reduce our revenues;
* significant price reductions by our competitors;

» higher levels of marketing expense required to acquire and retain end-users that purchase our services from
us and from our resellers;

« the need to upgrade our systems by investing in our existing and future technology and infrastructure;
* investment opportunities in complementary businesses, acquisitions or other opportunities;

+ changes in government regulations and legal actions challenging government regulations; and

= additional risk factors mentioned throughout this section.

In March 2006 we issued a $40,000 senior secured convertible note to EarthLink, Inc., or EarthLink, and in
September 2006 we issued an additional $2,240 senior secured convertible note to EarthLink (collectively the
“EarthLink Convertible Notes”). This note is due in 2011 and, under specified circumstances, we may be required to
repay the principal amount prior to 2011. In addition, the terms of the EarthLink Convertible Notes and our $50,000
senior secured credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, include restrictive covenants that limit our
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to changes in, our business. If we do not comply with such covenants, or if any
other event of default occurs under these agreements, our lenders could accelerate repayment of our debt or restrict
our access to further borrowings. These restrictive covenants and the collateralization of the EarthLink Convertible
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Notes and the Silicon Valley Bank senior secured credit facility, in addition to the existence of $125,000 in
3% convertible debentures, may also limit our ability to raise additional capital through sales of debt or equity
securities.

Adverse business, regulatory or legislative developments may require us to raise additional financing, raise our
prices or substantially decrease our cost structure. We also recognize that we may not be able to raise additional
capital under the current capital market conditions. If we are unable to acquire additional capital or are required to
raise it on terms that are less satisfactory than we desire, our financial condition will be adversely affected.

In order to become cash flow positive and to achieve profitability, we must add end-users and sell
additional services to our existing end-users while minimizing the cost to upgrade and expand our
network infrastructure.

We must increase the volume of Internet, data and voice transmission on our network in order to realize the
anticipated cash flow, operating efficiencies and cost benefits of our network. If we do not add new customers and
maintain our relationships with current customers, we may not be able to substantially increase traffic on our
neiwork, which would adversely affect our ability to become profitable. To accomplish this strategy, we must,
among other things:

« acquire new end-users;
= efficiently deploy LPVA services under our agreement with EarthLink;

= enter into and maintain agreements with the RBOCs or obtain faverable regulatory rulings that provide us
with access to unbundled network elements on terms and conditions that allow us to profitably sell our
consumer services;

« enhance, improve and increase sales of our VolP services;

+ upgrade our network to improve reliability and remain competitive;

« efficiently expand fixed wireless broadband services;

« expand our direct sales capability and infraétructure in a cost-effective manner; and

* continue to implement and improve our management information systems, including our client ordering,
provisioning, dispatch, trouble ticketing, customer billing, accounts receivable, payable tracking, collection,
fixed assets, transaction-based taxes and other management information systems.

Qur growth has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and operations.
Our customers are using increasing amounts of bandwidth as they use applications like VolP and streaming video.
We expect to replace equipment in our network as it becomes obsolete, implement system upgrades, new software
releases and other enhancements which will require additional expenditures and may cause disruption and
dislocation in our business. If we are successful in implementing our marketing strategy, we may have difficulty
responding to demand for our services and technical support in a timely manner and in accordance with our
customers’ expectations. We expect these demands may require increased outsourcing of Covad functions to third
parties. We may be unable to do this successfully, in which case we could experience an adverse effect on our
financial performance.

Our end-user disconnection rate reduces our revenue and end-user growth.

We experience high disconnection or “churn” rates. Our high end-user churn rate continues to impair the
growth we need to cover the cost of maintaining our network. These disconnections occur as a result of several
factors, including end-users who:

* move to a new location;
» disconnect because of better offers in the market; or

= disconnect because they do not like our service or the service provided by our resellers,
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While we are working to address problems with the end-user experience, many of these factors are beyond our
control. As a result, our churn rates may increase even if we improve the customer experience. In addition,
promotions and rebates that we offer to our resellers and end-users are based on an assumption that a given end-user
will maintain our service for a period of time. If our disconnection rate increases for more recently added end-users,
we may not recoup the money we spend on these promotions and rebates.

We may experience decreasing margins on the sale of our services, which may impair our ability to
achieve profitability or positive cash flow.

Prices for our services have steadily decreased since we first began operations. We expect we will continue to
experience an overall price decrease for our services due to competition, volume-based pricing and other factors.
We currently charge higher prices for some of our services than some of our competitors do for similar services. Asa
result, we cannot assure you that our customers will select our services over those of our competitors. In addition,
prices for digital communications services in general have fallen historically, and we expect this trend to continue,
As a result of these factors, we cannot predict whether demand for our services will exist at prices that enable us to
achieve profitability or positive cash flow.

If our internal controls over financial reporting do not comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, our business, reputation and stock price could be adversely affected.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of the end of each year, and to include a management report assessing the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting in our annual reports. Section 404 also requires our independent
registered public accounting firm to annually attest to, and report on, management’s assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting.

Although our management has determined, and our independent registered public accounting firm has
attested, that our internal contro! over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006, we cannot assure
you that we or our independent registered public accounting firm will not identify a material weakness in our
internal controls in the future. If our internal control over financial reporting is not considered adequate, we may
experience a loss of public confidence, which could have an adverse effect on our business and our stock price.

Some of our resellers are facing financial difficulties, which makes it more difficult to predict our
reveniies.

Some of our reseller customers may experience financial difficulties, including bankruptey. If a customer
cannot provide us with reasonable assurance of payment, then we only recognize revenue when we collect cash for
our services, assuming all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, and only after we have collected all
previous accounts receivable balances. Although we will continue to try to obtain payments from these customers, it
is likely that one or more of these customers will not pay us for our services. With respect to resellers that are in
bankruptey proceedings, we similarly may not be able to collect sums owed to us by these customers and we also
may be required to refund pre-petition amounts paid to us during the 90 days prior to the bankruptcy filing.

The existence of our direct business poses challenges and may cause our resellers to place fewer orders
with us or may cause us to lose resellers.

Although the majority of our revenue comes from resellers who purchase our services, sales of services
directly to end-user customers represent a significant and growing part of our business. As we expand our direct
business, we face multiple challenges. These challenges include, but are not limited to, our ability to:

* recruit, hire and train additional direct sales teams;
« reduce our cost of acquiring new customers;
« improve our VoIP provisioning, network management and monitoring and billing systems;

* manage expanding and increasingly diverse distribution channels;
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+» effectively manage additional vendors; and
» continue to enhance our network and improve our VolP services.

In addition, some of our existing resellers may perceive us as a potential or actual competitor. As a result, these
resellers may stop or slow their purchases of our services.

The communications industry is undergoing rapid technological changes and new technologies may be
superior to the technology we use.

The communications industry is subject to rapid and significant technological changes, including continuing
developments in DSL and VolP technology and alternative technologies for providing broadband and telephony
comumunications, such as cable modem, satellite and wireless technology. In addition, much of the equipment in our
network has been in service for several years and may become inferior to new technologies. As a consequence, our
success may depend on:

« third parties, including some of our competitors and potential competitors, to develop and provide us with
access to new communications and networking technology;

* our ability to anticipate or adapt to new technology on a timely basis; and

* pur ability to adapt to new products and technologies that may be superior to, or may not be compatible with,
our products and technologies.

The investments required to address technological changes are difficult to predict and may exceed our
available resources. If we fail to adapt successfully to technological changes or fail to obtain access to important
technologies, our business will be adversely affected.

A system failure could delay or interrupt service to our customers, which could reduce demand for our
services.

Our operations depend upon our ability to support our highly complex network infrastructure and avoid
damage from fires, earthquakes, terrorist attacks, floods, power losses, excessive sustained or peak user demand,
telecommunications failures, network software flaws, transmission cable cuts and similar events, The occurrence of
a natural disaster or other unanticipated problem at our network operations center or any of our regional data centers
could cause interruptions in our services. Similarly, if our third party providers fail to maintain their facilities
properly or fail to respond quickly to network or other problems, our customers may experience interruptions in the
service they obtain from uvs.

Qur VoIP and LPVA services rely on Internet protocol, or IP, technology, which is different from, and much
newer than, the legacy circuit-switch technology used by the traditional telephone companies and other providers of
traditional communications services. Although we believe that IP technology is well-designed for the provision of a
broad array of communications services to high numbers of users, we cannot assure that our IP-based network can
handle increasingly higher volumes of voice and data traffic as we grow our business or as our customers’ usage
increases, that it can adapt to future technological advancements, or that it will be reliable over long perieds of time.
We have experienced some interruptions in our VoIP service as a result of network and equipment issues as we
enhance and improve this service. Any damage or failure that interrupts our operations negatively impacts our
reputation and makes it more difficult to attract and retain customers.

Our use of fixed broadband wireless technology presents several challenges.

As a result of our acquisition of NextWeb and the assets of DataFlo in 2006, we now offer fixed broadband
wireless service to a small portion of our customers. Fixed broadband wireless services are not as widely used as our
DSL and T-1 services, which creates several unique challenges. First, there are fewer providers of equipment that
we need to provide this service and the providers that exist are smaller than our traditional providers of network
equipment. This may result in shortages of the equipment that we require or may cause us to pay more for this
equipment. Our fixed wireless service uses pre-WiMax equipment. WiMax is a set of specifications for wireless
equipment and services that will encourage the interoperability of solutions from different suppliers. We currently
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plan 1o gradually upgrade our fixed wireless network to the WiMax standard when this equipment is available,
which will require additional capital expenditures.

Our use of unlicensed spectrum to provide fixed wireless service also presents unique challenges. Since the
spectrum is unlicensed, there may be a large number of users of this spectrum in the areas where we offer our
service. We carefully manage the interference caused by other devices and service providers, but this could become
increasingly difficult as additional users of unlicensed spectrum emerge. If we are unsuccessful in managing this
interference, our customers may become dissatisfied and stop purchasing our services.

A breach of network security could delay or interrupt service to our customers, which could reduce
demand for our services.

Our network may be vulnerable to unauthorized access, computer viruses, worms and Trojan horses and other
disruptions. Internet service providers, telecommunications carriers and corporate networks have in the past
experienced, and may in the future experience, interruptions in service as a result of accidental or intentional actions
of Internet users, current and former employees and others. Unauthorized access could also potentially jeopardize
the security of confidential information stored in our computer systems, our end-users and our reseller’s end-users.
This might resuit in liability to us and also might deter potential customers from purchasing or selling our services.
While we attempt to implement and develop additional security measures we have not implemented all of the
security measures commercially available, and we may not implement such measures in a timely manner or at all.
Moreover, these measures, if and when implemented, may be circuomvented, and eliminating computer viruses and
alleviating other security problems may require interruptions, delays or cessation of service to our custoiners and
our reseller’s customers, which could harm our business.

Our success depends on our retention of certain key personnel, our ability to hire additional key
personnel and the maintenance of good labor relations.

We depend on the performance of our executive officers and key employees. In particular, our senior
management has significant experience in the telecommunications industry and the loss of any of them could
negatively affect our ability to execute our business strategy. Additionally, we do not have “key person” life
insurance policies on any of our employees.

Our future success also depends on our continuing ability to identify, hire, train and retain other highly
qualified technical, operations, sales, marketing, finance, legal, human resource, and managerial personnel as we
add end-users to our network. Competition for qualified personnel is intense. Our reduced stock price has greatly
reduced or eliminated the value of stock options held by many of our employees, making it more difficult to retain
employees in a competitive market. In addition, in the event that our employees unionize, we could incur higher
ongoing labor costs and disruptions in our operations in the event of a strike or other work stoppage.

We depend on a limited number of third parties for equipment supply, software utilities, service and
installation and if we are unable to obtain these items from these third parties we may not be able to
deliver our services as required.

We rely on outside parties to manufacture our network equipment and provide certain network services. These
services, software and equipment include:

+ DSLAMs;

« CPE, including modems, routers, bridges and other devices;
+ network routing and switching hardware;

 customer support;

+ installation services;

* customized software design and maintenance;

» network management software;
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« systems management software;

» database management software;

» collocation space;

+ software used in our products;

* hosting, email and IP provisioning services;

« softswitches, used to provide VoIP services; and

* Internet connectivity and Internet protocol services.

We have in the past experienced supply problems with certain vendors. These vendors may not be able to meet
our needs in a satisfactory and timely manner in the future, which may cause us to lose revenue. In addition, we may
not be able to obtain additional vendors when needed.

Our reliance on third-party vendors involves additional risks, including:

« the possibility that some of our vendors will leave the DSL equipment business or will stop supporting
equipment that we already have installed;

« the absence of guaranteed capacity;

« the possibility that vendors will stop supporting software or equipment that we use or will no longer offer
supplemental or replacement parts; and

+ reduced control over delivery schedules, quality assurance, production yields and costs.

Any of these events could have a material adverse impact on our business and operating results.

We use third-party vendors offshore for tasks that were previously done by our employees.

Since 2003 we have used offshore vendors 1o assist us with software development and certain customer support
functions. Because we are using a third-party vendor to manage these day to day operations, we do not have as much
control over the hiring and oversight of the vendors” employees. In addition, the differences in time zones,
languages and culture also present challenges. As a result, this arrangement may impair our ability to modify and
improve our software and to develop new software in a timely manner. 1n addition, we have provided these vendors
with access to our intellectual property. While we have taken certain contractual and procedural steps to protect our
intellectual property, if any of the vendors or their employees improperly uses our intellectual property, it may be
more difficult for us to assert our intellectual property rights because we may not be able to use United States courts
to enforce our rights.

In outsourcing certain support functions to offshore vendors, we face similar challenges as with our software
outsourcing arrangements. In addition, these vendors may have difficulties communicating with our customers and
resolving non-standard customer issues. We also may experience difficulties integrating the vendor’s systems with
our own.

Some of these offshore locations have experienced civil unrest and terrorism and have been involved in
conflicts with neighboring countries. If some of these locations become engaged in armed hostilities, particularly if
these hostilities are protracted or involved the threat of or use of weapons of mass destruction, our vendors’
operations could be adversely affected. While we have attempted 1o contractually protect ocurselves against
calamities, if our vendors’ operations are adversely affected, our customer service and software development efforts
could be negatively impacted.

We have made and may make acquisitions of complementary technologies or businesses in the future,
which may disrupt our business and be dilutive to our existing stockholders.

We intend to consider acquisitions of businesses and technologies in the future on an opportunistic basis.
Acquisitions of businesses and technologies involve numerous risks, including the diversion of management
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attention, difficulties in assimilating the acquired operations, loss of key employees from the acquired company, and
difficulties in transitioning key customer relationships. In addition, these acquisitions may result in dilutive
issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt and large one-time expenditures. Any such
acquisition may not provide the benefits originally anticipated, and there may be difficulty in integrating the service
offerings and networks gained through acquisitions and strategic investments with our own. Although we attempt to
minimize the risk of unexpected liabilities and contingencies associated with acquired businesses through planning,
investigation and negotiation, unexpected liabilities nevertheless may accompany such strategic investments and
acquisitions.

In addition, the purchase price of an acquired business may exceed the current fair value of the net tangible
assets of the acquired business. As a result, we would be required to record material amounts of goodwill and other
intangible assets, which could result in significant impairment charges and amortization expense in future periods.
These charges, in addition to the results of operations of such acquired businesses, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financia! condition and results of operations. We cannot forecast the number, timing ot size
of future acquisitions, or the effect that any such acquisitions might have on our operating or financial results.

Under generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to review our intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable.
In addition, we are required to review our goodwill on at least an annual basis. If presently unforeseen events or
changes in circumstances arise which indicate that the carrying value of our goodwill or other intangible assets may
not be recoverable, we will be required to perform impairment reviews of these assets, which have carrying values
of $50,002 and $9,414, respectively, as of December 31, 2006. An impairment review could result in a write-down
of all or a portion of these assets to their fair values. We will perform an annual impairment review of our goodwill
during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or more frequently if we believe indicators of impairment exist. In light
of the large carrying value associated with our goodwill and intangible assets, any write-down of these assets may
result in a significant charge to our statement of operations in the period any impairment is determined and could
cause our stock price to decline.

We must pay federal, state and local taxes and other surcharges on our services, the applicability and
levels of which are uncertain.

Telecommunications providers pay a variety of surcharges and fees on their gross revenues from interstate and
intrastate services. Interstate surcharges include FUSF and Common Carrier Regulatory Fees. In addition, state
regulators impose similar surcharges and fees on intrastaie services and the applicability of these surcharges and
fees to our services is uncertain in many cases. The division of our services between interstate and intrastate
services, and between services that are subject to surcharges and fees and those that are not, is a matter of
interpretation and may in the future be contested by the FCC or state authorities. The FCC is currently considering
the nature of Internet service provider-bound traffic and new interpretations or changes in the characterization of
jurisdictions or service categories could cause our payment obligations, pursuant to the relevant surcharges, to
increase or result in liabilities. For example, the FCC recently determined that, beginning in the fourth quarter of
20086, carriers will be required to collect FUSF on VoIP services, which will increase the amount that our customers
pay for our service. In addition, periodic revisions by state and federal regulators of the applicable surcharges may
increase the surcharges and fees we currently pay. In addition, we may be required to pay certain state taxes,
including sales taxes, depending on the jurisdictional treatment of the services we offer. The amount of those taxes
could be significant, depending on the extent to which the various states choose to tax our services.

The federal government and many states apply transaction-based taxes to the sales of our products and services
and to our purchases of telecommunications services from various carriers. We are in discussions with federal and
state tax authorities regarding the extent of our transaction-based tax liabilities. It is reasonably possible that our
estimates of our transaction-based tax liabilities could materially change in the near term. We may or may not be
able to recover some of those taxes from our customers.
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We are a party to litigation and adverse results of such litigation matters could negatively impact our
financial condition and results of operations.

We are a defendant in some of the litigation matters described in “Part I, ltem 3. — “Legal Proceedings.”
While we are vigorously defending these lawsuits, the total outcome of these litigation matters is inherently
unpredictable, and there is no gouarantee we will prevail. Adverse results in any of these actions could negatively
impact our financial condition and results of operations and, in some circumstances result in a material adverse
effect on us. In addition, defending such actions could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources that
could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

COur intellectual property protection may be inadequate to protect our proprietary rights.

We regard certain aspects of our products, services and technology as proprietary. We attempt to protect them
with patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secret laws, restrictions on disclosure and other methods. These methods
may not be sufficient to protect our technology. We also generally enter into confidentiality or license agreements
with our employees and consultants, and generally control access to and distribution of our documentation and other
proprietary information. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain
and use our products, services or technology without authorization, or to develop similar technology independently.

Currently, we have been issued fifteen patents and we have a number of additional patent applications pending.
We intend to prepare additional applications and to seek patent protection for our systems and services. These
patents may not be issued to us. If issued, they may not protect our intellectual property from competition.
Competitors could design around or seek to invalidate these patents.

Effective patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain
foreign countries, The global nature of the Internet makes it virtually impossible to control the ultimate destination
of our proprietary information. The steps that we have taken may not prevent misappropriation or infringement of
our technology. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our
trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such litigation could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources and could harm our business.

Third parties may claim we infringe their intellectual property rights.

We periodically receive notices from others claiming we are infringing their intellectual property rights,
principally patent rights. We expect the number of such claims will increase as the number of products and
competitors in our industry segments grows, the functionality of products overlap, and the volume of issued patents
and patent applications continues to increase. Responding to infringement claims, regardless of their validity, could:

* be time-consuming, costly and result in litigation;
+ divert management’s tfime and attention from developing our business;

* require us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty and licensing agreements that we would not
normally find acceptable;

* require us to stop selling or to redesign certain of our products; or
* require us to satisfy indemnification obligations to our customers.
If a successful claim is made against us and we fail to develop or license a substitute technology, our business,
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows could be adversely affected.
The price of our common stock may continue to fluctuate significantly.

The market price for our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, highly velatile, which may
result in losses to investors. We believe that a number of factors contribute to this fluctuation and may cause our
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stock price to decline in the future. While it is not possible to foresee all of the events that could adversely affect the
price of our common stock or cause such price to remain volatile, the factors include:

» state and federal regulatory and legislative actions;
 peneral economic conditions and the condition of the telecommunications industry;

* our ability to maintain existing customers and add new customers and recognize revenue from distressed
customers;

* our ability to execute our operational pian and reach profitability and cash flow positive from operations;
* our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity to fund our operations;
« adverse litigation results;

« announcements of new products, services or pricing by our competitors or the emergence of new competing
technologies;

+ our failure to meet the expectations of investors or of analysts;

« the adoption of new, or changes in existing, accounting rules, guidelines and practices, which may materially
impact our financial statements and may materially alter the expectations of securities analysts or investors;

« the level of demand for broadband Internet access services and VoIP telephony services;
= departures of key personnel; and
« effective internal controls over financial reporting.

The stock market has periodically experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly
affected the market prices of common stock of technology companies. These changes have often been unrelated to
the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may also negatively affect the
market price of our common stock.

Substantial leverage and debt service obligations may adversely affect our cash flow. (Refer to Part 1,
Item 7 — “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
Liguidity and Capital Resources” for additional information)

We may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay the principal of, interest on and other amounts due in
respect of our indebtedness when due. In particular, under certain circumstances we may be required to repay our
existing $40,000 convertible notes payable 1o EarthLink, our $125,000 in 3% convertible notes and any amounts
outstanding pursuant to our $50,000 senior secured credit facility with SVB prior to the scheduled maturity dates for
those loans. We may also add equipment loans and lease lines to finance capital expenditures and may obtain
additional long-term debt, working capital lines of credit and leases, some of which may be on less than optimal
terms.

Our substantial leverage could have significant negative consequences, including:
* increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
« limiting our ability to obtain additional financing;

* requiring the dedication of a portion of our expected cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness,
thereby reducing the amount of our expected cash flow available for other purposes, including capital
expenditures;

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we
compete; and

« placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage relative to less leveraged competitors and competitors that
have better access to capital resources.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2. Properties

We are headquartered in San Jose, California in facilities with a combined total of 133,310 square feet, under a
lease that will expire on October 31, 2010. In addition, we lease approximately 37,517 and 51,398 square feet of
space for our call center operations in Herndon, Virginia and Denver, Colorado, respectively. We manage our
network operations center in a 36,000 square feet location, separate from our corporate headquarters facilities, in
San Jose, California. We also lease office space with a combined total of approximately 40,212 square feet in the
metropolitan areas where we conduct operations.

We also lease central office space from the ILECs in areas in which we operate or plan to operate under the
terms of our interconnection agreements and obligations imposed by state PUCs and the FCC. The productive use of
our central office space is subject to the terms of our interconnection agreements. We will need to increase our
central office space if we choose to expand our network geographically.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

Several stockholders filed complaints in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York,
on behalf of themselves and purported classes of stockholders, against us and several former and current officers
and directors in addition to some of the underwriters in our stock offerings. These lawsuits are so-called IPO
allocation cases, challenging practices allegedly used by certain underwriters of public equity offerings during the
late 1990s and 2000. On April 19, 2002 the plaintiffs amended their complaint and removed us as a defendant.
Certain directors and officers are still named in the complaint. The plaintiffs claim that we and others failed to
disclose the arrangements that some of these underwriters purportedly made with certain investors. The plaintiffs
and the other issuer defendants have reached a tentative agreement to settle the matter, and we believe the tentative
settlement will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
That settlement, however, has not been finalized. If the settlement is not finalized, we believe these officers and
directors have strong defenses to these lawsuits and intend to contest them vigorously. However, litigation is
inherently unpredictable and there is no goarantee these officers and directors will prevail.

In June 2002, Dhruv Khanna was relieved of his duties as our General Counsel and Secretary. Shortly
thereafter, Mr. Khanna alleged that, over a period of years, certain current and former directors and officers had
breached their fiduciary duties to the Company by engaging in or approving actions that constituted waste and self-
dealing, that certain current and former directors and officers had provided false representations to our auditors and
that he had been relieved of his duties in retaliation for his being a purported whistleblower and because of racial or
national origin discrimination. He threatened to file a shareholder derivative action against those current and former
directors and officers, as well as a wrongful termination lawsuit. Mr. Khanna was placed on paid leave while his
allegations were being investigated.

Qur Board of Directors appointed a special investigative committee, which initially consisted of L. Dale
Crandall and Hellene Runtagh, to investigate the allegations made by Mr. Khanna. Richard Jalkut was appointed to
this committee shortly after he joined our Board of Directors. This committee retained an independent law firm to
assist in its investigation. Based on this investigation, the committee concluded that Mr. Khanna's allegations were
without merit and thart it would not be in the best interests of the Company to commence litigation based on these
allegations. The committee considered, among other things, that many of Mr. Khanna’s allegations were not
accurate, that certain allegations challenged business decisions lawfully made by management or the Board, that the
transactions challenged by Mr. Khanna in which any director had an interest were approved by a majority of
disinterested directors in accordance with Delaware law, that the challenged director and officer representations to
the auditors were true and accurate, and that Mr. Khanna was not relieved of his duties as a result of retaliation for
alleged whistleblowing or racial or national origin discrimination. Mr. Khanna has disputed the committee’s work
and the outcome of its investigation.
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After the committee’s findings had been presented and analyzed, we concluded in January 2003 that it would
not be appropriate to continue Mr, Khanna on paid leave status, and determined that there was no suitable role for
him at Covad. Accordingly, he was terminated as an employee of Covad.

Based on the events mentioned above, in September 2003, Mr. Khanna filed a purported class action and a
derivative lawsuit against our current and former directors in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and
for New Castle County. On August 3, 2004, Mr. Khanna amended his Complaint and two additional purported
shareholders joined the lawsuit. In this action the plaintiffs seek recovery on behalf of the company from the
individual defendants for their purported breach of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs also seek to invalidate our election
of directors in 2002, 2003 and 2004 because they claim that our proxy statements were misleading. On May 9, 2006,
the court dismissed several of the claims for breach of fiduciary duty as well as the claims relating to our proxy
statements. The court also determined that Mr. Khanna could no longer serve as a plaintiff in this matter. The
litigation with respect to the remaining claims is still pending, and we are vnable to predict the outcome of this
lawsuit.

We are also a party to a variety of other pending or threatened legal proceedings as cither plaintiff or defendant,
and are engaged in business disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. Failure to resolve these various
legal disputes and controversies without excessive delay and cost and in a manner that is favorable to us could
significantly harm our business. We do not believe the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact
on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, litigation is inherently
unpredictable and there is no guarantee we will prevail or otherwise not be adversely affected.

We are subject to state public utility commission, FCC and other regulatory and court decisions as they relate to
the interpretation and implementation of the 1996 Telecommunications Act. In addition, we are engaged in a variety
of legal negotiations, arbitrations and regulatory and court proceedings with multiple ILECs. These negotiations,
arbitrations and proceedings concern the telephone companies’ denial of central office space, the cost and delivery
of transmission facilities and telephone lines and central office spaces, billing issues and other operational issues.
Other than the payment of legal fees and expenses, which are not quantifiable but are expected to be material, we do
not believe that these matters will result in material liability to us and the potential gains are not quantifiable at this
time. An unfavorable result in any of these negotiations, arbitrations and proceedings, however, could have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows if we are denied or
charged higher rates for transmission lines or central office spaces.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
During the fourth quarter of 2006, we did not submit any matters to the vote of our security holders.

PART 11

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

(Share amounts are presented in thousands)
Market Price Information and Dividend Policy for Our Common Stock

From July 20, 2001 through July 27, 2005, our common stock traded only on the NASDAQ’s OTC
Bulletin Board under the symbol COVD.OB. On July 28, 2005, our common stock began trading on the American
Stock Exchange under the symbol DVW. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low
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closing sales prices for our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ's OTC Bulletin Board and the American
Stock Exchange.

High  Low
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005
First QUamer .. ... ov ittt e e e $226 $1.20
Second QUATET . .. ... ittt $1.49 3107
Third QUAMEE . o o ittt ettt e e e e e e e $1.50 $1.06
Fourth QUarer . . .. ..ottt e e e et e e e $1.10  $0.67
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006
FIESE QUAMEE . . ottt ettt et ettt e e e $2.13  $0.87
Second QUaMer . ... ..ot e $2.59 $1.75
Third QUarter. . .. .ottt e e e e $2.05 $1.35
FoUM D QUAIET . . . oottt e et e e e e e e $1.53 $1.08

On December 31, 2006, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the American Stock Exchange
was $1.38 per share. As of February 14, 2007 there were 17,387 holders of record of our common stock, and there
were no holders of record of our Class B common stock.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our common stock. In addition, as a result of our loan
agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, we are restricted to pay dividends or make any other distribution on or
purchase of, any of our capital stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain any future earnings for use in the
expansion and operation of our business. Thus, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. Our board of directors will determine our future dividend policy.

The following table summarizes our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2006.

Number of
securities
remaining
available

Weighted- for future
Number of average issuance
securities to be exercise under equity
issued upon price of compensation
exercise of outstanding plans (excluding
outstanding options, securities
options, warrants warrants and reflected
and rights rights in column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c}
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders(1) . ... ... . i i 23,038 $4.30 21,350
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(2) . . . .. R 44 9.83 —
Total . ... 23,082 $4.31 21,350

(1) 1997 Stock Plan and 2003 ESPP. Securities available for future issuance under the Company’s 2003 ESPP are
included in column (c) but are not included in columns (a) and (b) because amount and price of securities
purchased in an offering period are determined at the end of such offering period. The Company’s next offering
period ends in June 2007.

{2) These plans consist of the Laser Link 1997 Stock Plan, the BlueStar 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, and the
GoBeam 2000 Employee and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan, all of which were assumed by the Company in
connection with the acquisitions of each company.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7 — “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and ltem 8 — “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2006

2005 2004 2003

2002

{All dollar and share amounts are presented in thousands,

except per share amounts)

Revenues, net. . ......covvveivnnennn.. $474,304  $443.179  $429,197  $ 388,851 % 383,496
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and

AMOItZAtON) . ... .. it 328,474 311,139 266,172 288,122 298,336
Benefit from federal exercise tax adjustment . . (19,455) — e —_ —
Selling, general and administrative . .. ...... 127,129 158,552 146,241 140,081 150,373
Depreciation and amortization ............ 44,825 67,241 77,410 73,884 127,088
Provision for restructuring and post-

employment benefits. . ... ... ... ... ... 1,597 3,640 1,409 1,235 —
Loss from operations .. ................. (8,517) (97,964) (60,0000  (114,570) (180,992)
Interest expense . . . .............cuo... 9,562 5,005 4,927 5,526 5,581
Gain on sale of equity securities. ., .. ... ... — 28,844 — — —
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary....... — 53,963 — — —
Netloss. ..o e $(13,949) $(15722) $(60,761) $(112,302) $(184.828)
Basic and diluted per share amounts:
Netloss.......... ..., (005 3 (©O06) $ (0.24) § (050) $ (0.84)
Weighted-average common shares used in

computing basic and diluted per share

AMOUNS . o oot v e et i e ne e e e 290,262 265,240 249,187 224 950 219,744

As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

INVESIMENES. . . o o o e e e e $ 62,072 $96501 35150996 $114,345  $202,492
Property and equipment, net . .............. $ 87,586 $ 71,663 § 78707 3% 94279 $108,737
Total asSetS . . v v e e e e $313,308 $300,581 $385,225 $334,711 $442,161
Long-term obligations, including capital

leases . . ..o e $168,801  $125,206 $125,734 % 50,000 § 50,165
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) .......... $ 2354 $(20,169) $ (8,635 3 (5,553) $ 82,299

As of and for the Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Other Operating and Financial

Data
Collocation facilities ... ...... 2,048 2,052 2,052 1,819 1,802
Homes and businesses passed

(approximately) .. ......... 57,000,000 57,000,000 50,000,000 46,000,000 46,000,000
Lines inservice . . . .......... 519,000 567,200 533,200 517,000 381,000
Capital expenditures for property

and equipment . ........... $ 46964 $ 42397 $§ 38743 § 44142 0§ 22,782
Capital expenditures for

collocation fees and purchases

of other intangibles assets. ... $ 3236 % 3582 % 7900 $ 14889 3 3,782
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(All dollar and share amounts are presented in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, the accuracy of which involves risks and
uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements
for many reasons including, but not limited to, those discussed in Part I, Item 1A. — “Risk Factors™ and elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any obligation to update information contained in any forward-
looking statement. See — Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview
Our Business

We provide voice and data communications products and services to consumers and businesses. We provide
these services throughout the United States in approximately 235 major metropolitan areas in 44 states. Our
products and services include high-speed, or broadband, data communications, Internet access connectivity, Yoice
over Internet Protocol telephony, or VoIP, fixed wireless broadband, and a variety of related services. We primarily
use digital subscriber line, or DSL, and T-1 technologies to deliver our services. In order to provide our services we
purchase network elements, such as telecommunication linegs and central office facilities, from the traditional local
telephone companies, which are often referred to as the incumbent local exchange carriers, or ILECs, and other
carriers, and then combine these network elements with our own nationwide network facilities. We purchase the
majority of these network elements from Verizon Communications, Inc., or Verizon, BellSouth Telecommunica-
tions, Inc., or BellSouth, AT&T, Inc. (formerly SBC Communications, Inc., or SBC), or AT&T, and Qwest
Corporation, or Qwest, which are also known as the regional Bell operating companies, or RBOCs. As of
December 31, 2006, we had approximately 519,000 broadband access end-users, 1,623 VolP business customers
with a combined total of approximately 2,805 VoIP sites, and 3,400 fixed wireless broadband customers.

We operate two business segments, Wholesale and Direct. Wholesale is a provider of high-speed data
connectivity services to Internet service providers, or ISPs, and telecommunications carrier customers. As of
December 31, 2006, Wholesale had approximately 443,000 DSL and T-1 lines in service, down from 488,100 lines
as of December 31, 2005. The majority of our services are sold through our Wholesale segment.

Our Direct segment sells VoIP, high-speed data connectivity, fixed wireless broadband, and related value-
added services. We sell our business-grade VoIP services primarily through our Direct segment. We sell our Direct
services through multiple channels including telesales, field sales, affinity partner programs, and our website.
Direct focuses on the small business market and also sells to enterprise customers that purchase our services for
distribution across their enterprise. As of December 31, 2006, Direct had approximately 76,000 DSL and T-1 lines
in service, down from 79,100 lines as of December 31, 2005. In addition, Direct provided service to approximately
1,623 Business VolP customers and 3,400 fixed wireless broadband customers at the end of 2006.

While total lines in service as of December 31, 2006 decreased by 8.5% when compared to December 31,
2005, our total business lines increased by 2.0% and our higher revenve T-1 lines increased by 38.8%.

Since our inception, we have and continue to generate significant net and operating losses and negative
operating cash flow. Our cash reserves are limited and our business plan is based on assumptions that we believe are
reasonable, but some of which are out of our control. If actual events differ from our assumptions, we may need to
raise additional capital on terms that are less favorabie than we desire, or we may not be able to raise or obtain
additional liquidity.

Regulatory Environment

Recent decisions of the Federal Communication Commission, or FCC, as described in more detail in Part I,
Item 1 — “Business — Government Regulation,” have created a number of uncertainties, challenges and potential
opportunities for us. The final effect of these developments will be subject to further proceedings at the FCC and the
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reactions of the various participants in the telecommunications industry, and many of these components are, or
likely will be, the subject of continuing litigation that could influence the decisions’ ultimate impact. As such, it is
difficult for us to predict with a high degree of certainty the final effects of the FCC’s decisions.

QOur Opportunities and Challenges

Our business is subject to on-going changes in technologies, the competitive environment, particularly with
regard to continued pricing pressure on our consumer-grade services and industry consolidation, federal and state
regulations, and our resellers’ changing market strategies. We continue to experience churn among our existing end-
users due to pricing pressures and other factors. As a result of these market conditions, we have increased our focus
on growing our sales of:

¢ T-1 access;

* business asymmetric DSL, or ADSL;

* line-powered voice access service, or LPVA;
* VoIP; and

» Fixed wireless broadband access.

We refer to these services as our Growth services. Qur remaining services are comprised of consumer ADSL,
business symmetric DSL, or SDSL, frame relay and high-capacity transport circuits, We refer to these services as
our Legacy services.

We believe that our focus on small and medium-sized businesses enables us to position ourselves as a
specialized provider to this market. While we believe we are favorably positioned to take advantage of these market
opportunities for our Growth services, it is difficult to predict with a high degree of certainty our ability to grow our
sales of these services, and whether our sales of these services will offset slowing sales of Legacy services.

Given the facts above and the highly competitive, dynamic, and heavily regulated nature of our business
environment, we face a complex array of factors that create challenges and opportunmes for us. Key matters upon
which we are focused at this time include the following:

Efficient use of cash — We concluded 2006 with cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments in
debt securities, and restricted cash and cash equivalents of $81,650. This balance was comprised of $46,279 of
cash and cash equivalents, $15,793 in short-term investments in debt securities, and $19,578 in restricted cash
and cash equivalents. We continue to manage expenditures closely, Our ability to attain and sustain cash flow
sufficiency will largely depend on the rate at which we can grow our revenues while controlling the
expenditures necessary to generate and support increases in revenue. We committed to significant capital
expenditures in 2006 to enhance our network to provide next-generation communications services, which were
funded with the proceeds that we obtained from our strategic agreement with EarthLink, Inc., or EarthLink.

Efficiently deliver broadband Internet access services to consumers — Qur ISP customers that resell our
stand-alone DSL services continue to face intense competition from the ILECs and cable providers like
Comcast, Time Warner and Cox Communications. These competitors are aggressively pricing their consumer
broadband services, often as part of a bundled service offering that includes voice and video services. We
believe these market conditions place pricing pressure on vs and our resellers, reduce the number of orders for
our services, and cause a higher level of churn among our consumer end-users. For 2006, we believe these
conditions contributed to reductions of approximately 53,000 in our total number of consumer broadband end-
users.

In January of 2006, EarthLink began a trial offer in three markets of a consumer-grade voice service deployed
over our LPVA service, LPVA service is intended to compete with the consumer voice and data bundles offered by
the RBOCs and the cable companies. In addition, on March 15, 2006, we entered into a strategic agreement with
EarthLink to build and deploy our LPVA services in eight additional cities. The transaction contemplated by such
agreement was consummated on March 29, 2006 and is described in Note 7 — “Long-Term Debt and Credit
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Arrangements” to our conseclidated financial statements. We completed our deployment of LPVA in these
additional cities in the fourth quarter of 2006.

Respond 1o Changes in Telecommunications Regulations — Federal, state and local government regulations
affect our services. In particular, we rely upon provisions of the 1996 Telecommunications Act to procure certain
facilities and services from the RBOC:s that are necessary to provide our services. As a result, our business can be
materially affected by changes in applicable rules and policies as a result of Federal Communications Commission,
or FCC, decisions, legislative actions at both the state and federal levels, rulings from state public utility
commissions, or PUCs, and court decisions. Such changes may reduce our access to network elements at regulated
prices and increase our costs. We have changed our business in the past to respond to new regulatory developments
and it is likely that we will need to make similar changes in the future.

Enter and maintain acceptable line-sharing terms with the RBOCs — We currently support our consumer and
small office/home office focused resellers through line-sharing. We currently generate 14.5% of our revenues from
the sale of our line-shared services. Although the revenues we generate from line-sharing with the RBOCs may
decline in future periods, we think this market will continue to be important to us. Since the RBOCs are the
incumbent local telephone companies in almost all of the metropolitan areas where we offer our services, our ability
to generate significant revenue from the sale of our line-shared DSL services will depend on whether we are able to
enter into and maintain long-term agreements with the RBOCs, like our agreements with AT&T, Verizon and
Qwest, or obtain favorable regulatory rulings that will allow us to share telephone lines for new customers on
reasonable terms.

Expand and diversify our sources of revenue — We continue to take steps to improve our prospects for revenue
growth, We continue our efforts to diversify our revenue sources by adding new services such as voice, fixed
wireless broadband, LPVA and expanded on-premise customer services, as well as by adding new resellers.

New market opportunities — We have recently developed several services, targeting both our wholesale and
direct channels, which we believe will generate new revenues. For our direct channels, we have introduced:

* Covad ClearEdge Integrated Access — an integrated voice and data T-1 line that targets customers who have
a premises-based PBX or key telephone system;

» Covad ClearEdge Office — a hosted VoIP and broadband offering designed for very small businesses; and

» Fixed wireless Broadband — through our acquisition of NextWeb, Inc., or NextWeb, we plan to leverage
wireless broadband technology, expand our market reach and reduce our dependence on the ILECs and other
carriers.

For wholesale channels, we have introduced Voice Optimized Access, or VOA, and LPVA. We believe
that VOA is an ideal solution for companies that want to offer their VoIP solutions in connection with our
services. LPVA is an alternative voice solution targeted at residential customers who want to purchase voice
services from a provider other than their local telephone company, but want the convenience of maintaining
existing inside wiring and telephones.

We arc in the early stages of offering these capabilities and continue to experience operational and
competitive challenges as we expand and improve our capabilities. Our ability to succeed in providing these
new services will depend on whether we offer a competitively-priced offering and continue to improve these
services.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. We base our accounting estimates on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, However, actual results may vary from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. We have discussed the development and selection of critical accounting policies and
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estimates with our audit committee. The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies and estimates we
make in preparing our consolidated financial statements:

« We recognize revenues when persuasive evidence of our arrangement with the customer exists, service has
been provided to the customer, the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and collectibility of the
sales price is reasonably assured. We recognize up-front fees associated with service activation over the
expected term of the customer relationship, which is presently estimated to be twenty-four to forty-eight
months using the straight-line method. Similarly, we treat the incremental direct costs of service activation,
which consist principally of customer premises equipment, or CPE, service activation fees paid to other
telecommunications companies and sales commissions, as deferred charges in amounts no greater than the
up-front fees that are deferred, and such incremental direct costs are amortized to expense using the straight-
line method over a range of twenty-four te forty-eight months.

* We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and maintain an allowance for
estimated credit losses. In addition, we have billing disputes with some of our customers. These disputes
arise in the ordinary course of business in the telecomrnunications industry and we believe that their impact
on our accounts receivable and revenues can be reasonably estimated based on historical experience. In
addition, certain customer revenues are subject to refund if the end-user terminates service within thirty days
of service activation. Accordingly, we maintain allowances, through charges to revenues, based on our
estimate of the ultimate resolution of these disputes and future service cancellations, and our reported
revenue in any period could be different than what is reported if we employed different assumptions in
estimating the outcomes of these items.

-

We state our inventories at the lower of cost or market, determined using the “first-in, first-out™ method. In
assessing the ultimate recoverability of inventories, we are required to make estimates regarding future
customer demand.

* We record property and equipment and intangible assets at cost, subject to adjustments for impairment. We
depreciate or amortize property and equipment and intangible assets using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives. In assessing the recoverability of our property and equipment and intangible
assets, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the
fair value of the respective assets. If these estimates and assumptions change in the future, we may be
required to record additional impairment charges relating to our property and equipment and intangible
assets.

We record goodwill when the consideration paid for an acquisition exceeds the fair value of net tangible and
intangible assets acquired. We measure and test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or more
frequently if we believe indicators of impairment exists. The performance of the test involves a two-step
process. The first step compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including
goodwill. The fair value of the reporting vnit is determined by calculating the market capitalization of the
reporting unit as derived from quoted market prices or other generally accepted valuation methods if quoted
market prices are not available. A potential impairment exists if the fair value of the reporting unit is lower
than its carrying amount. The second step of the process is only performed if a potential impairment exists,
and it involves determining the difference between the fair values of the reporting unit’s net assets, other than
goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. If the difference is less than the net book value of goodwill,
impairment exists and is recorded.

* We are a party to a variety of legal proceedings, as either plaintiff or defendant, and are engaged in other
disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses for certain of these
matters. The determination of the liabilities to be recognized, if any, for loss contingencies is made after
analysis of each individual situation based on the facts and circumstances. However, it is reasonably possible
that the liabilities reflected in our consolidated balance sheets for loss contingencies and business disputes
could change in the near term due to new facts and circumstances, the effects of which could be material to
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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» We perform on-going research and analysis of the applicability of transaction-based taxes to sales of our
products and services and purchases of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This research and
analysis may include discussions with authorities of jurisdictions in which we do business and transaction-
based tax experts to determine the extent of our transaction-based tax liabilities. In addition, we continue to
analyze the probable applicability of employment-related taxes for certain stock-based compensation
provided to employees in prior periods. It is reasonably possible that our estimates of our transaction-
based and employment-related tax liabilities could change in the near term, the effects of which could be
material to our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

« We make market development funds, or MDF, available to certain customers for the reimbursement of co-
branded advertising expenses and other purposes. To the extent that MDF is used by our customers for co-
branded advertising, and the customers provide us with third-party evidence of such co-branded advertising
and we can reasonably estimate the fair value of our portion of the advertising, such amounts are charged to
advertising expense as incurred. Other MDF activities are recorded as reductions of revenues as incurred.
Amounts payable to customers relating to rebates and customer incentives are recorded as reductions of
revenues based on our estimate of sales incentives that will ultimately be claimed by customers,

* We record post-employment benefits which primarily consist of our severance plans. These plans are
primarily designed to provide severance benefits to our eligible employees whose employment is terminated
in connection with reductions in our workforce. We do not accrue for this employee benefit, other than for
individuals that have been notified of termination, because we cannot reasonably determine the probability
or the amount of such payments.

* We account for income taxes using the liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of our assets and liabilities.
We record a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets to arrive at an amount that is more likely than not
to be realized. In the future, should we determine that we are able to realize all or part of our deferred tax
assets, which presently are fully reserved, an adjustment to our deferred tax assets would increase income in
the period in which the determination was made.

« Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB,
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” |
or SFAS 123R. Accordingly, we account for stock-based awards exchanged for employee services based on
the fair value of the award. We measure the stock-based compensation cost at the grant-date and recognize
such cost over the employee requisite service period. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based
compensation under the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, or APB 25, and related Interpretations, and provided the required pro-forma disclosures prescribed
by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosures.” In accordance with APB 25, we did not
recognize compensation cost for awards that had an exercise price equal to, or greater than, the market value
of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. We elected to adopt the modified prospective transition
method as provided by SFAS 123R. Under this transition method, compensation cost recognized in our
consolidated statement of operations includes (i) compensation cost for all shared-based payments granted
prior to, but not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123, and (ii) compensation cost for all share-based
payments granted subsequent to December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The results for prior periods have not been restated. We
currently do not recognize and do not expect to recognize in the near future, any tax benefit related to
employee stock-based compensation cost as a result of the full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax
assets and because of our net operating loss carryforwards. We capitalize stock-based compensation as part
of the cost of our network when we perform major build or enhancement projects. We estimate the fair value
of stock options using a Black-Scholes valvuation model, consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123R, SEC’s
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, or SAB 107, and our prior period pro-forma disclosures of net earnings,
including stock-based compensation (determined under a fair value method as prescribed by SFAS 123). We
determine the expected life of the options using historical data for options exercised, cancelled after vesting

36




and outstanding. We determine the expected stock price votatility assumption using historical volatility of
our common stock over a period equal to the expected life of the option. These assumptions are consistent
with our estimates prior the adoption of SFAS 123R. We determine the forfeiture rate using historical pre-
vesting cancellation data for all options issued after 2001. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we accounted
for forfeitures upon occurrence.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This Statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Prior to SFAS 157, there were different definitions of fair value
and limited guidance for applying those definitions in GAAP. In developing this Statement, the FASB considered
the need for increased consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and for expanded disclosures
about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are evaluating the effect that SFAS 157 will
have on our consolidated financial statements upon adoption of the Statement,

On September 13, 2006, the SEC issuved Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No. 108, “Considering the Effects
of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statement.” SAB 108 was
issued in order to eliminate the diversity of practice surrounding how public companies quantify financial statement
misstatements. There are two widely recognized methods for quantifying the effects of financial statement
misstatements: the “roll-over” and “iron curtain” methods. The roll-over method focuses primarily on the impact
of the misstatement on the statement of operations and includes the reversing effect of prior year misstatements.
Because the focus is on the statement of operations, the roll-over method can lead to accumulation of misstatements
on the balance sheet that may be immaterial to the balance sheet but correction in a single period could be material
to the statement of operations. The iron curtain method focuses primarily on the effect of correcting the
accumulated balance as of the balance sheet date, essentially correcting the balance sheet with less emphasis
on the reversing effects of prior year errors on the statement of operations. ln SAB 108, the SEC staff established an
approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements based on the effects of the misstatements
under both the iron curtain and roll-over method and is referred to as a “dual approach.” SAB 108 permits a
company to initially apply its provisions either by restating prior financial statements as if the dual approach had
always been used or recording the cumulative effect of initially applying the dual approach as adjustments to the
balance sheet as of January 1, 2006 with an offsetting adjustment recorded to retained earnings. Use of the
cumulative effect is not permitted to be used for otherwise immaterial misstaterments that may be identified by a
company and requires such immaterial misstatements to be recorded in current period earnings. We adopted
SAB 108 in 2006 and such adoption did not have any effect on our consolidated financial staternents.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, No. 06-3, "How Taxes
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities should be Presented in the Income State-
ment.” The scope of EITF 06-3 includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a
revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include, but is not limited to, sales, use,
value added, Federal Universal Service Fund, or FUSF, contributions and excise taxes. The Task Force affirmed its
conclusion that entities should present these taxes in the income statement on either a gross or a net basis, based on
their accounting policy, which should be disclosed pursuant to APB No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies.” If
such taxes are significant, and are presented on a gross basis, the amounts of those taxes should be disclosed. The
consensus on EITF 06-3 will be effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2006. We currently record transaction-based taxes on a net basis, except for the FUSF charges billed to customers,
in our consolidated statements of operations. We believe that the adoption of EITF 06-3 will not have a significant
effect to our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”
(“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” This Interpretation prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. FIN 48 is
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effective for fiscal reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. We believe that the adoption of FIN 48 will
not have a sigaificant impact to our consolidated financial statements.

Business Segment Information

We manage our business in segments that are based upon differences in customers, services and marketing
channels, even though the assets and cash flows from these operations are not independent of each other. Qur
wholesale segment, or Wholesale, is a provider of high-speed connectivity services to ISPs and telecommunications
carriers, Our direct segment, or Direct, is a provider of voice and data communication services, which include VoIP,
high-speed Internet access, fixed wireless broadband, and other related services to individuals, small and medium-
sized businesses, and other organizations. We report all other operations and activities as Corporate Operations.
These operations and activities are primarily comprised of general corporate functions to support our revenue
producing segments and include costs and expenses for headquarters facilities and equipment, depreciation and
amortization, network capacity and non-recurring or unusual items not directly attributable or allocated to the
segments, gains and losses on our investments, and income and expenses from our treasury and financing activities.
We do not allocate such operating expenses and other income and expense items to our business segments because
we believe these expenses and other income items are not directly managed or controlled by our business segments.

We measure our business segments’ profitability as income from operations, excluding certain operating
expenses such as depreciation and amortization, and other income and expense items. Wholesale net revenues are
primarily driven by products and services sold to large resellers, whereas Direct net revenues are primarily driven by
products and services sold directly to end-users. Our business segments’ operating expenses are primarily
comprised of network costs and labor and related non-labor expenses to provision services and to provide support
to our customers. Our business segments’ network costs consist of end-user circuits, aggregation circuits, central
office space, Internet transit charges, CPE and equipment maintenance. Operating expenses include labor and
related non-labor expenses for customer care, dispatch, and repair and instaltation activities.

We allocate network costs to our business segments based on their consumption of circuit or equipment
capacity. We allocate end-user circuit costs to a segment based on the products and services sold by such segment.
Aggregation circuits are allocated based on actual capacity usage determined by the total number of customers in a
segment utilizing those circuits. CPE cost is directly assigned to a business segment based on the number of
installations performed by such segment. We atlocate labor costs from our operations to our business segments
based on resource consumption formulas, which are primarily based on installations, percentage of total lines in
service and trouble tickets by segment. We allocate employee compensation for our sales forces directly to the
business segments based on the customers they sell to and serve. We allocate advertising and promotions to the
business segments based on the targeted customers of the advertising and promotions.

Results of Operations for 2006, 2005 and 2004
Revenues, net

The primary component of our net revenues is earned monthly broadband subscription billings for DSL
services. We also earn revenues from monthly subscription and usage billings related to our VoIP and fixed wireless
broadband services, and monthly subscription billings for high-capacity T-1 circuits sold to cur wholesale
customers. Because we do not recognize revenues from billings to financially distressed customers until we
receive payment and until our ability to keep the payment is reasonably assured, our reported revenues for the 2006,
2005 and 2004 have been impacted by whether we receive, and the timing of receipt of, payments from these
customers. Our net revenues also include billings for installation fees and equipment sales, which are recognized as
revenue over the expected life of the relationship with the end-user, and FUSF charges billed to our customers., We
record customer incentives and rebates that we offer to attract and retain customers as reductions to gross revenues.
We regularly have billing and service disputes with our customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of
business in the telecommunications industry, and we believe their impact on our accounts receivable and revenues
can be reasonably estimated based on historical experience. In addition, certain revenues are subject to refund if an
end-user terminates service within thirty days of the service activation. Accordingly, we maintain allowances,
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through charges to revenues, based on our estimate of the ultimate resolution of these disputes and future service
cancellations.

Our net revenues of $474,304 for 2006 increased by $31,125, or 7.0%, over our net revenues of $443,179 for
2005. This increase was attributable to a $41,521 increase in broadband revenues primarily as a result of higher sales
from our Growth services, a $14,994 increase in VolP revenues primarily as a result of adding customers and
stations, an $11,035 increase in fixed wireless broadband revenues as a result of the acquisitions of NextWeb and
DataFlo, and a $343 increase in other revenues as a result of the sale of a software license related to our operational
and support system software. These increases were offset by decreases in broadband revenues as aresult of $13,518
from lower selling prices and $23,250 from a decrease in the number of lines from our Legacy services.

Our net revenues of $443,179 for 2005 increased by $13,982, or 3.3%, over our net revenues of $429,197 for
2004. This increase was attributable to a $19,342 increase in broadband revenue as a result of adding end-users to
our network, and a $6,960 increase as a result of adding VoIP customers and stations. These increases were offset by
a $9,337 decrease in broadband revenue primarily as a result of lower selling prices, and a $2,983 decrease in
dial-up revenue as a result of the continuing decrease in the demand for this service.

We expect to continue to experience increases in net revenues from the sales of our Growth services, primarily
T-1 broadband access, VoIP, and fixed wireless services. We also expect to continue to experience competitive
pricing pressure on our current Legacy services. As a result, we expect to continue to experience high levels of
customer service terminations, particularly in our consumer DSL services, which may be greater than the number of
new activations. We also expect customer rebates and incentives to continue to be an element of our sales and
marketing programs and we also may reduce our prices in order to respond to competitive market conditions. It is
possible that these conditions will cause our revenues to decline in future periods if we do not generate enough new
sales from our Growth services.

Segment Revenues and Significant Customers

Cur segment net revenues were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Wholesale . ... ..o i e $315,321  $314,205  $309,899
Percent of net TEVENUBS . . . . ottt it i ite s e ce e eee e e 66.5% 70.9% 72.2%
DaLECE . o ot e e e e e $158.983  $128,974 $119,298
Percent of nELTEVENUES . . . . oo vt i e e e e 33.5% 29.1% 27.8%

Our Wholesale net revenues for 2006 increased by $1,116, or 0.49%, when compared to 2005. This increase was
attributable to a $25,641 increase in broadband revenues as a result of higher sales from our Growth services and a
$343 increase in other revenues as a result of the sale of a software license related to our operational and support
system software. These increases were partially offset by decreases in broadband revenues as a result of $10,149
from lower selling prices and $14,717 from a decrease in the number of lines from our Legacy services. Our Direct
net revenues for 2006 increased by $30,009, or 23.3%, when compared to 2005. This increase was attributable to a
$15,880 increase in broadband revenues as a result of higher sales from our Growth services, a $14,994 increase in
VolP revenues as a result of adding customers and stations, and an $11,035 increase in fixed wireless broadband
revenues as a result of our acquisitions of NextWeb and DataFlo. These increases were partiatly offset by decreases
in broadband revenues primarily as a result of $3,370 from lower selling prices and $8,532 from a decrease in the
number of lines from our Legacy services.

Our Wholesale net revenues for 2005 increased by $4,306, or 1.4%, when compared to 2004. This increase was
attributable to a $12,238 increase in broadband revenues as a result of adding end-users to our network, offset by a
$7,932 decrease as a result of lower selling prices. Our Direct net revenues for 2005 increased by $9,676, or 8.1%,
when compared to 2004. This increase was attributable to a $7,104 increase in broadband revenues as a result of
adding end-users to our network, and a $6,960 increase as a result of adding VoIP customers and stations. These
increases were offset by a $2,983 decrease in dial-up revenue as a result of the continuing decrease in demand for
this service and a $1,405 decrease in broadband revenue primarily as a result of lower selling prices.
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As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 404 wholesale customers. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, our 30
largest wholesale customers, in each such year, collectively accounted for 91.1%, 92.2% and 93.4%, respectively, of
our total wholesale net revenues, and 60.6%, 65.4% and 67.4%, respectively, of our total net revenues. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, receivables from these customers coliectively accounted for 53.1% and 56.3%,
respectively, of our gross accounts receivable balance.

For 2006 and 20035, two of our wholesale customers, AT&T and EarthLink, individually accounted for 14.3%
and 11.1%, and 16.3% and 14.6%, respectively, of our total net revenues. AT&T’s percentage of 14.3% and 16.3%
for 2006 and 2005, respectively, includes the net revenues for AT&T and SBC, which became one entity in 2005.
For 2004, EarthLink and AT&T individually accounted for 16.9% and 13.8%, respectively, of our total net revenues.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, accounts receivable from EarthLink and AT&T individually accounted for
12.8% and 10.5%, and 15.3% and 10.2%, respectively, of our gross accounts receivables. No other individual
customer accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenues for 2006, 2005 and 2004.

On May 27, 2005, we entered into an agreement with EarthLink to develop and deploy our LPVA services. As
part of the agreement, EarthLink made a non-interest-bearing prepayment. As we provide the products and services
described in the agreement to EarthLink, the resultant billings are recognized as revenue in accordance with our
revenue recognition policy (which is described in Note 2, “Revenue Recognition,” to our consolidated financial
statements) and are offset by the prepayment to the extent of EarthLink’s right to do so under the agreement. We
categorize a portion of the prepayment liability as a current liability, based upon the amount of expected billings
over the next twelve months, with the remainder classified as long-term. As of December 31, 2006 the full amount
of the prepayment became current. The amount of billings expected over the next twelve months is an estimate
based on current projections of products and services that EarthLink will purchase, and the actual amount sold
during this period inay be greater or less than this estimated amount. [n addition, on March 15, 2006, we entered into
a strategic agreement with EarthLink to build and deploy our LPVA services in eight additional cities. The
transaction contemplated by such agreement was consumnmated on March 29, 2006. We did not record significant
revenues from LPVA in 2006, however, we anticipate LPVA revenues to grow in 2007.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 76,000 direct end-users compared to approximately 79,100
and 78,600 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, we had 1,623 VoIP business
customers with a combined total of approximately 2,805 sites utilizing our VoIP services as compared to 1,147 VoIP
business customers with a combined total of approximately 1,649 sites as of December 31, 2005. As of
December 31, 2006, we had approximately 3,400 fixed wireless customers.

Wholesaler Financial Difficulties

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, we issued billings to our financially distressed customers aggregating $2,161, $2,897
and $3,517, respectively, which were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements at the time of such billings, However, in accordance with the revenue recognition
policy described above, we recognized revenues from certain of these customers when cash was collected
aggregating $2,218, $2,757 and $2,823 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, revenues
from customers that filed for bankruptcy accounted for approximately 0.1%. 0.3% and 0.3%, respectively, of our
total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we had contractual receivables from our financially
distressed customers totaling $470 and $666, respectively, which are not reflected in the accompanying consol-
idated balance sheet as of such date. Although MCI filed for bankruptcy protection on July 21, 2002, we continued
to recognize revenues from MCI on an accrual basis based on MCI’s specific facts and circumstances. Conse-
quently, the amounts in this paragraph related to financially distressed customers exclude amounts pertaining to
MCI.

We have identified certain of our customers who were essentially current in their payments for our services
prior to December 31, 2006, or have subsequently paid all or significant portions of the respective amounts that we
recorded as accounts receivable as of December 31, 2006, that we believe may be at risk of becoming financially
distressed. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, revenues from these customers collectively accounted for approximately
1.3%, 11.0% and 7.7%, respectively. of our total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006, receivables from these
customers collectively accounted for 1.4% of our gross accounts receivable balance. If these customers are unable
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to demonstrate their ability to pay for our services in a timely manner in periods ending subsequent to 2006, revenue
from such customers will only be recognized when cash is collected, as described above.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include cost of sales, benefit from transaction tax adjustment, selling, general and
administrative expenses, provision for bad debts, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment,
amortization of collocation fees and other intangibles, and provision for restructuring and post-employment
benefits.

Our total operating expenses were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
FN 1o 1) 11 S 482,821  $541,143  $489,197
Percent of NELTEVENUES . . . . . .t ittt it e e et ennneans 101.8% 122.1% 114.0%

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)

Cost of sales consists primarily of the costs of provisioning and maintaining telecommunications circuits and
central office spaces, equipment sold to our customers, labor and related expenses and other non-labor items to
operate and maintain our network and related system infrastructure.

Our cost of sales was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
AMOUNL . . .t ettt ettt r et ee i e $328.474  $311,139  $266,172
Percent of nELrevenues . .. ... . ...t ntnnsans 69.3% 70.2% 62.0%

Our cost of sales for 2006 increased by $17,335, or 5.6%, when compared to 2005. This increase was
attributable to increases in network costs of $18,230, of which approximately $3,792 relates to costs associated with
the deployment of our LPVA services, and labor and other related operating expenses of $1,507 as a result of the
addition of broadband business, VoIP and fixed wireless subscribers to our network. In addition, our network costs
for 2006 increased by $5,908 as a result of regulatory rate adjustments to certain of our network elements and by
$7,306 as a result of lower recoveries from billing disputes with our telecommunication vendors. Furthermore, our
cost of sales for 2006 increased by $1,311 as a result of expensing the cost of employee stock-based compensation.
These increases were partially offset by a $7,070 decrease in the cost of equipment sold as a result of fewer
consumer installations and improved inventory management, a $6,882 decrease in employee compensation and
related operating expenses as a result of a decrease in headcount and cost containment initiatives, and a $1,258
decrease in network costs as a result of the expiration of purchase commitment contracts with certain of our
telecommunications vendors. During 2006, we reduced our estimated liabilities for transaction-based and property
taxes, primarily as a result of the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations for such taxes and due to lower
property tax valuations and actual tax assessments on our network assets. These changes in accounting estimates
decreased our cost of sales and our net loss by $5,553, or $0.02 per share, for 2006. In 2005 we reduced our
estimated liabilities for property taxes, primarily as a result of lower property tax valuations and actual tax
assessments on our network assets. This change in accounting estimate decreased our cost of sales and our net loss
by approximately $3,830, or $0.01 per share, for 2005.

Our cost of sales for 2005, increased by $44,967, or 16.9%, when compared to 2004, This increase was
attributable to increases in network costs of $23,363, equipment costs of $1,510, and labor and other related
operating expenses of $14,064. These increases resulied from the addition of broadband and VoIP subscribers to our
network and continued investment in our VoIP operations. Approximately $7,828 of the total increase in network
costs, equipment costs, and labor and other related operating expenses resulted from additional sales volumes
driven by a market trial that we executed with AOL in 2005. The market trial ended at the end of the third quarter of
2005. In addition, our network costs for 2005 increased by $5,872 as a result of lower recoveries from billing
disputes with our telecommunication vendors. Although our total recoveries from billing disputes with our
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telecommunication vendors were lower for 2005, our network costs were reduced by a recovery of approximately
$4,200 as a result of a billing settlement we reach with Verizon. Furthermore, our network costs for 2003 increased
by $7.500 as a result of regulatory rate adjustments to certain of our network elements. These increases were
partially offset by a $7,211 decrease in network costs as a result of the expiration of purchase commitment contracts
with some of our telecommunication vendors and by a $1,332 decrease in incentive and stock-based compensation
that primarily resulted from a reduction in variable accounting for our 2003 employee stock purchase plan, or 2003
ESPP. In 2005 we reduced our estimated liabilities for transaction-based taxes and property taxes as a result of
various settlements and the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations for such taxes. These changes in
accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales and our net loss by $3,830, or $0.01 per share, for 2005. In 2004 we
reduced our estimated liabilities for some elements of our network costs that were not yet billed by our suppliers.
These changes in accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales and our net loss by approximately $1,185,
$0.00 per share, for 2004. In addition, in 2004, we reduced our estimated liabilities for property, transaction-based
and employment-related taxes due to the expiration of the prescribed statutory period for the corresponding tax
returns and due to lower property tax valuations and assessments on our network assets. These changes in
accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales and our net loss by approximately $3,847, or $0.02 per share, for
2004.

We expect cost of sales to increase in future periods as we add subscribers and services such as LPVA to our
network. We also expect our network costs to increase as a result of the effect of the changes in the FCC rules
released on February 4, 2005, which were upheld on June 16, 2006 by the United States Court of Appeals for the
D.C. Circuit, regarding the obligations of ILECs to share their networks with competitive telecommunications
companies like us, To offset some of the increased costs, we plan to continue to develop new cost-saving programs
and improve our efficiency in delivering of our services.

Qur cost of sales was allocated as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Wholesale Segment . ... ., .. ... ... ... L e $186,142  $193,721 $177.115
Direct Segment ... ....... . ... ...t 94,484 81,521 57,141
Corporate Operations . . .. ...ttt inenns 47,848 35,897 31,916
Total .. e e $328,474  $311,139  $266,172

Our cost of sales for the Wholesale segment for 2006 decreased by $7,579, or 3.9%, when compared to 2005,
This decrease was attributable to a decrease in network costs of $4,079 and cost of equipment of $7,070 as a result of
lower consumer installations and improved inventory management, and a $7,316 decrease in labor and other
operating expenses due to a decrease in headcount and cost containment initiatives. These decreases were offset by
a $10,360 increase in network costs due to regulatory rate adjustments and lower recoveries from billing disputes
with our telecommunication vendors. Furthermore, cost of sales for the Wholesale segment increased by $526 as a
result of expensing the cost of employee stock-based compensation. Our cost of sales for the Direct segment for
2006 increased by $12,963, or 15.9%, when compared to 2005. This increase was attributable to an increase in
network costs of $12,092 as a result of the addition of broadband business, VoIP and fixed wireless subscribers to
our network, $2,854 due to regulatory rate adjustments and lower recoveries from billing disputes with our
telecommunication vendors, and $78 as a result of expensing the cost of employee stock-based compensation.
These increases were partially offset by a $2,061 decrease in labor and other related operating expenses due to a
decrease in headcount and cost containment initiatives. Our cost of sales for Corporate Operations for 2006
increased by $11,951, or 33.3%, when compared to 2005, This increase was primarily attributable to a $10,217
increase in network costs and a $4,002 increase in labor and other operating expenses as a result of adding capacity
to our network, and an increase of $710 as a result of expensing the cost of employee stock-based compensation,
These increases were partially offset by a $1,258 decrease in network costs as a result of the expiration of purchase
commitment contracts with certain vendors. In 2006, we reduced our estimated liabilities for fransaction-based and
property taxes, primarily as a result of the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations for such taxes and due to
lower property tax valuations and actual tax assessments on our network assets. These changes in accounting
estimates decreased our cost of sales by $5,553 for 2006. In 2005 we reduced our estimated liabilities for property
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taxes, primarily as a result of lower property tax valuations and actual tax assessments on our network assets. These
changes in accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales by approximately $3,830 for 2005.

Our cost of sales for the Wholesale segment for 2005 increased by $16,606, or 9.4%, when compared to 2004.
This increase was attributable to increases in network costs of $15,568, of which $4,549 was attributable to
regulatory rate adjustments, equipment costs of $1,510 and labor and other related operating expenses of $362, asa
result of adding subscribers to our network, offset by a decrease in incentive and stock-based compensation of $834,
primarily as a result of reduced charges for our 2003 ESPP. Our cost of sales for the Direct segment for 2005
increased by $24,380, or 42.7%, when compared to 2004. This increase was attributable to increases in network
costs of $14,925, of which $1,652 was attributable to regulatory rate adjustments, and labor and other related
operating expenses of $9,455 as a result of the addition of broadband and VoIP subscribers to our network and
continued investment in our VoIP operations. Our cost of sates for Corporate Operations for 2005 increased by
$3,981, or 12.5%, when compared to 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to an increase of $5,872 as a
result of lower recoveries from billing disputes with our telecommunication vendors, a $4,247 increase in labor and
other related operating expenses and an increase of $1,299 as a result of regulatory rate adjustments. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in network cost of approximately $8,140 of which $7,211 is a result of
the expiration of purchase commitment contracts with certain vendors and a $517 decrease in incentive and stock-
based compensation. In 2005 we reduced our estimated liabilities for transaction-based taxes and property taxes as a
result of various settlements and the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations for such taxes. These changes in
accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales by $3,830 for 2005. In 2004 we reduced our estimated liabilities for
some elements of our network costs that were not yet billed by our suppliers. These changes in accounting estimates
decreased our cost of sales by approximately $1,185 for 2004. In addition, in 2004 we reduced our estimated
liabilities of property, transaction-based and employment-related taxes due to the expiration of the prescribed
statutory period for the corresponding tax returns and due to lower property tax valuations and assessments on our
network assets. These changes in accounting estimates decreased our cost of sales by approximately $3,846 for
2004.

Benefit from Federal Excise Tax Adjustment

In 2004, we ceased the accrual of the Federal Excise Tax (*FET™) on the purchases of certain telecommu-
nications services because we determined we were not subject to this tax. The determination was based on our
revised interpretation of the applicability of the tax. That determination prospectively removed the “probable™
condition required by SFAS 5 — “Accounting for Contingencies” to accrue a contingent liability. At that time we
did not reverse the liability of approximately $19,455 that was previously accrued because the liability was properly
recorded based upon our interpretation of the tax law at that time coupled with the guidance provided by SFAS 5.
The criteria for reversing the liability for the tax is one of the following: (i) a ruling, either judicial or from the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS"), that we are not subject to the tax, (ii) a ruling, either judicial or from the IRS that
a company with similar facts and circumstances to the Company is not subject to the tax, (iii) a settlement with the
IRS on this matter or {iv) the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations.

On May 25, 2006, the IRS issued Notice 2006-50 announcing that it will stop collecting FET on “long-
distance” telephone service and that it will no longer litigate this issue with taxpayers. The FET is now applicable
only to “local” telephone service. Based on this development, our prior purchases for which we accrued FET do not
fall under the definition of local telephone service. Therefore, we have determined that (i) the issuance of Notice
2006-50 by the IRS resolved the uncertainty around the applicability of the tax to certain telecommunications
services, and (ii) is one of the criteria stated above for reversing the accrued liability of $19,455. Consequently, we
reversed such liability in 2006. For 2006, the benefit decreased our net loss by $19,455, or $0.07 per share.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, other non-fabor
items, and our promotional and advertising expenses.

43




Our selling, general and administrative expenses were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
AMOUNL . o o et e e e e $127,129  $158,552 $146,241
Percent of net revenues ... .... .. iiin i 26.8% 35.8% 34.1%

Our selling, general and administrative expenses for 2006 decreased by $31,423, or 19.8%, when compared to
our selling, general and administrative expenses for 2005. This decrease was primarily attributable to an $11,424
decrease in marketing and related expenses, an $11,148 decrease in labor and other related operating expenses
primarily as a result of a decrease in headcount and cost containment initiatives, and a $9,405 decrease in
professional services primarily as a result of lower legal, consuiting, contract labor and other services. These
decreases were partially offset by a $1,934 increase in employee compensation as a result of expensing the cost of
stock-based compensation. In addition, in 2006 we reduced our estimated liabilities for employment-related taxes
because we determined we do not owe some of these taxes as a result of the expiration of the statue of limitations.
These changes in accounting estimates decreased our selling, general and administrative expenses and our net Ioss
by $1,346, or $0.00 per share, for 2006.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses for 2005 increased by $12,311, or 8.4%, when compared to
2004. This increase was attributable to increases in labor and other related operating expenses of $8,453 primarily as
aresult of the growth in our broadband and VolIP services, an increase in professional services of $2,284 primarily as
a result of expenditures associated with Sarbanes-Oxley, litigation and other corporate related activities, and an
increase in marketing expenses of $1,290. These increases were offset by a $2,231 decrease in incentive and stock-
based compensation that primarily resulted from a reduction in the variable accounting for our 2003 ESPP. In 2004
we reduced our estimated liabilities for property, transaction-based and employment-related taxes due to the
expiration of the prescribed statutory period for the corresponding tax returns and due to lower property tax
valuations and assessments on our network assets. These changes in accounting estimates decreased our selling,
general and administrative expenses and our net loss by approximately $2,515, or $0.01 per share, for 2004,

We expect our total selling, general and administrative expenses to decrease in future periods primarily as a
result of recently implemented cost reduction initiatives. We expect these benefits to reduce our selling, general and
administrative expenses in 2007 when compared to 2006.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses were allocated as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Wholesale Segment . . ... ... i e e $ 7,742 % 8353 § 9,048
Direct Segment ......... ... ... i 36,183 49,938 36,859
Corporate Operations . . . ..ottt 83,204 100,261 100,334
Total . ... e $127,129  $158,552  $146,241

Qur selling, general and administrative expenses for the Wholesale segment for 2006 decreased by $611, or
7.3%, when compared to 2005. This decrease was attributable to a $514 decrease in marketing expenses, and an
$869 decrease in labor and other related operating expenses as a result of lower headcount and cost containment
initiatives, offset by a $772 increase in employee compensation as a result of expensing the cost of stock-based
compensation. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the Direct segment for 2006 decreased by
$13,755 or 27.5%, when compared to 2005. This decrease was primarily attributable to an $11,042 decrease in
marketing expenses, and a $2,829 decrease in labor and other operating expenses due to a decrease in headcount and
cost containment initiatives, offset by a $116 increase in employee compensation as a result of expensing the cost of
stock-based compensation. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for Corporate Operations for 2006
decreased by $17.057, or 17.0%, when compared to 2005. This decrease was attributable to a $7,318 decrease in
labor and other operating expenses as a result of a decrease in headcount and cost containment initiatives, and a
$9,405 decrease in professional services. These decreases were partially offset by a $1,042 increase in employee
compensation as a result of expensing the cost of stock-based compensation. In addition, in 2006 we reduced our
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estimated liabilities for employment-related taxes because we determined we do not owe some of these taxes. This
change in accounting estimate decreased our selling, general and administrative expenses by $1,346 for 2006.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the Wholesale segment for 2005 decreased by $695, or
7.7%, when compared to 2004. This decrease was primarily attributable to decreases in labor and other related
operating expenses of $1,214 as a result of lower headcount and lower incentive and stock-based compensation
expenses of $691, primarily as a result of reduced charges for our 2003 ESPP, offset by an increase in marketing
expenses of $1,210. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the Direct segment for 2005 increased by
$13,079, or 35.5%, when compared to 2004. This increase was attributable to increases in labor and other operating
expenses of $11,500, primarily as a result of the growth in our broadband and VoIP revenues, and higher marketing
expenses of $1,789, offset by a decrease in incentive and stock-based compensation expenses of $210, as a result of
reduced charges for our 2003 ESPP. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for Corporate Operations for
2005 decreased by $73, or 0.1%, when compared to 2004. This decrease was primarily attributable to decreases in
marketing expenses of $1,709, incentive and stock-based compensation of $1,287 as a result of reduced charges for
our 2003 ESPP, and labor and other operating expenses of $1,833, partially offset by an increase in professional
services as a result of expenditures associated with Sarbanes-Oxley, litigation and other corporate related of $2,284.
In 2004 we reduced our estimated liabilities for property, transaction-based and employment-related tax liabilities
due to the expiration of the prescribed statutory period for the corresponding tax returns and due to lower property
tax valuations and assessments on our network assets. These changes in accounting estimates decreased our selling,
general and administrative expenses by approximately $2,515 for 2004.

Stock-Based Compensation

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, our net loss for 2006 includes a total of $3,245 ($0.01 per share) of stock-
based compensation. Of this total, $1,699 relates to the Company’s employee stock option plans, and $1,546 relates
to the Company’s employee stock purchase plan. The total stock-based compensation for 2006 consisted of $1,311
in cost of sales, and $1,934 in selling, general and administrative expenses. We did not recognize and do not expect
to recognize in the near future, any tax benefit related to employee stock-based compensation cost as a result of the
full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets and our net operating loss carryforwards. For 2006, we
capitalized approximately $86 of our stock-based compensation cost. Refer to Note 13, “Stock-Based Compen-
sation,” to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on our adoption of SFAS 123R.

Provision for Bad Debts (Bad Debt Recoveries)

Our provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries} was $251, $571 and $(2,035) for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Qur provision for bad debts for 2006 decreased by $320, when compared to 2005, as a result of
improved collections of accounts receivable. Qur provision for bad debts for 2005 increased by $2,606, when
compared to 2004, primarily as a result of the recovery in 2004 of amounts due to us from one of our wholesale
customers that were previously written off.

Depreciation and Amortization

Our depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, or depreciation, was $34,876, $49,813 and
$56,825 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Our depreciation for 2006 decreased by $14,937, when compared to
2003, this decrease was primarily due to historical assets becoming fully depreciated. Our depreciation for 2005
decreased by $7,012, when compared to 2004, this decrease was primarily due to historical assets becoming fully
depreciated.

Our amortization of intangible assets, or amortization, was 39,949, $17,428 and $20,585 for 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Qur amortization for 2006 decreased by $7,479, when compared to 2005, this decrease was
primarily due to historical assets becoming fully amortized. Our amortization for 2005 decreased by $3,157, when
compared to 2004, this decrease was primarily due to historical assets becoming fully amortized. We expect
amortization of intangible assets to decrease as certain assets become fully amortized.
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We expect our depreciation and amortization to increase in 2007 when compared to 2006 primarily as a result
of the deployment of new equipment in connection with our LPVA build out in 2006. As explained above, we do not
allocate depreciation and amortization expense to our business segments.

Provision for Restructuring and Post-Employment Benefits

We reduced our workforce in 2006, 2005 and 2004 by approximately 61, 155 and 77 employees, respectively.
These reductions represented approximately 5.8%, 13.6% and 6.9% of our workforce for 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The reductions covered employees in the areas of sales and marketing. operations and corporate
functions. In connection with the reductions in force, we recorded employee severance benefits of $1,597 for 2006,
of which $1,523 was paid in 2006 and the remaining $74 was paid after December 31, 2006, $3,640 for 2005, of
which $1,910 was paid in 2005 and the remaining $1,730 was paid after December 31, 2003, and $1,409 for 2004, of
which $426 was paid after December 31, 2004. For 2006 the expenses associated with the reductions in force were
$232, $479 and $886 related to our Wholesale segment, our Direct segment and our Corporate Operations,
respectively. For 2005 the expenses associated with the reductions in force were $285, $397 and $2,958 related to
our Wholesale segment, our Direct segment and our Corporate Operations, respectively. For 2004 the expenses
assoctated with the reductions in force were $374, $281 and $754 related to our Wholesale segment, our Direct
segment and our Corporate Operations, respectively. We continue to evaluate whether additional restructuring is
necessary, and we may incur additional charges to operations related to any further restructuring activities in future
periods, however at this time we cannot reasonably predict the probability or the impact of such event.

Other Income (Expense)
Net Interest Expense

Our net interest expense was $5,624, $863 and $2,259 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net interest
expense for 2006 consisted primarily of interest expense on our 3% convertible senior debentures due 2024 and our
12% senior secured convertible note issued in March 2006, less interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents
and short-term investments balances. Net interest expense during 2005 and 2004 consisted primarily of interest
expense on our 3% convertible senior debentures due 2024, less interest income earned on our cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments balances. We expect future net interest expense to be limited to interest on
our 3% convertible senior debentures, our 12% senior secured convertible notes, and our credit facility, partially
offset by interest earned on our cash balances. We may, however, seek additional debt financing in the future if it is
available on terms that we believe are favorable. If we seek additional debt financing, our interest expense would
increase.

Gain on Deconsolidation of Subsidiary

We recognized a gain of $53,963 in 2005 as a result of the deconsctidation of one of our subsidiaries. Refer to
Note 3, under “Other Restructuring Activities”, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information
on such gain. We did not recognize similar gains for 2006 or 2004.

Gain on Sale of Equity Securities

In August 2000, we made an equity investment in 10 shares of ACCA Networks Co., Ltd., or ACCA, a
privately-held, Japanese telecommunications company. In March 2005, ACCA completed a public offering of its
shares in Japan. We recorded a net realized gain of $28,844 in 2005 as a result of the sale of those shares. We did not
recognize similar gains in 2006 or 2004,

Income Taxes

We made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements because we incurred operating losses in each of these periods. As of December 31, 2006, we had net
operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes of approximately $1,028,221 which will begin to expire in
2021, if not utilized. We also had aggregate net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax purposes of
approximately $651,611 of which $29,347 will expire in 2007, $9,734 in 2008, and $612,530 through 2026, if not
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utilized. In addition, we had capital loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately
$29,250 which will begin to expire in 2007.

On February 16, 2006, we completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
NextWeb. This transaction is further explained in Note 6 — “Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisitions and Equity
Investments,” to our consolidated financial statements. The acquisition was effectuated by merging one of our
wholly-owned subsidiaries with and into NextWeb, with NextWeb surviving the merger as a wholly-owned
subsidiary. The merger is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. As a result of our acquisition, our net
operating loss carryforwards includes NextWeb's existing, as of acquisition date, federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards of $9,749 and $9,297 respectively. Tax benefits related to pre-acquisition losses of the acquired entity
will be utilized first to reduce any associated intangibles and goodwill.

On June 8, 2004, we completed our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held GoBeam. This
transaction is further explained in Note 6 — “Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisitions and Equity Investments,” to
our consolidated financial statements. The acquisition was effectuated by merging one of our wholly-owned
subsidiaries with and into GoBeam, with GoBeam surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary. The merger
is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. As a result of the acquisition, our net operating loss carryforwards
includes GoBeam’s existing, as of acquisition date, federal and state net operating loss of $39,597 and $29,426
respectively. Tax benefits related to pre-acquisition losses of acquired entity will be utilized first to reduce any
associated intangibles and goodwill.

On September 22, 2000, we acquired BlueStar in a transaction accounted for as a purchase. This transaction is
further explained in Note 3 — “Restructuring and Posi-Employment Benefits,” to our consolidated financial
statements. We deconsolidated BlueStar effective June 25, 2001, which resulied in the recognition of a deferred gain
in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001. The total gain was recognized for tax purposes in 2001.
On February 4, 2005, the Seventh Circuit Court for Davidson County, Tennessee ordered the Assignee in the
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or ABC, to make a final distribution of funds of the estates to holders of
allowed claims. Such final distribution has been made. As a result of the completion of the ABC, we recognized a
deferred gain of $53,963 during 2005 and the related deferred tax asset was recognized in 2005.

In August 2000, we made an equity investment in 10 shares of ACCA. This transaction is further explained in
Note 6 — “Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisitions and Equity Investments,” to our consolidated financial
statements. In March 2005, ACCA completed a public offering of its shares in Japan and we subsequentily sold such
investment, resulting in a capital gain. Proceeds in excess of tax basis resulted in a tax gain of $14,227 which was
offset against our capital loss carryforward.

The utilization of our net operating loss could be subject to substantial annual limitation as a result of future
events, such as an acquisition, which may be deemed as a “‘change in ownership” under the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation could result in the
expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.

Realization of our deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other temporary
differences is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, our net
deferred 1ax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance (decreased) increased
by $(13,836), $6,339 and $36,616 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Related Party Transactions

A member of our board of directors, Richard Jalkut, is the President and CEO of TelePacific Communications,
Inc., or TelePacific, one of our resellers. We recognized revenues from TelePacific of $217, $285 and $369 for 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts receivables from TelePacific were $15 and $19 as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. In August 2006, TelePacific acquired mPower Communications, or mPower, which is one of our
vendors. We paid $299 to mPower in 2006. Accounts payable to mPower were $51 as of December 31, 2006.

L. Dale Crandall, one of our directors, is also a director of BEA Systems, or BEA, one of our vendors. We paid
$1,094, $993 and $890 to BEA in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts payable to BEA were $0 and $400 as
of December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. Charles Hoffman, our CEO, is a director of Chordiant Software, or
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Chordiant, one of our vendors. We paid $395, $620 and $3,387 1o Chordiant in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
There were no accounts payable to Chordiant as of December 31, 2006 or 2005, respectively. Charles Hoffman is
also a director of Synchronoss Technologies, or Synchronoss, one of our vendors. We paid $83, $0 and $0 to
Synchronoss in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts payable to Synchronoss were $11 and $0 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We believe these transactions were negotiated on an arms-length basis and contain terms which are com-
parable to transactions that would likely be negotiated with unrelated parties.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Contractual Cash Obligations

Over the last five years we have invested substantial capital for the procurement, design and construction of our
central office collocation facilities, the design, creation, implementation and maintenance of our internally vsed
software, the purchase of telecommunications equipment and the design, development and maintenance of our
networks. We expect that in 2007 our expenditures related to the purchase of infrastructure equipment necessary for
the expansion of our networks and the development of new regions will be relatively lower than in 2006. We expect
that incremental, or “success-based,” expenditures related to the addition of subscribers in existing regions, and
expenditures related to the offering of new services, will be driven by the number of new subscribers and types of
new services that we add to our network.

Our cash and cash equivalents balance for 2006 decreased by $38,012. The change in cash and cash equivalents
was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities. . . . ... ... ..ttt $(24,654) $40,732) $ 3,676
Investing activities .. .. .......... ... ... (71,825 4,611 (29,780)
Financing activities. . ... .......... . it nnn 58,467 2,906 78,234
Total . . e $(38,012) $(33,215) $52,130

Operating Activities

Net cash used in our operating activities for 2006 decreased by $16,078 when compared to 2005. This decrease
was attributable to an improvement in our net loss, adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items, of $46,667,
offset by a $33,538 redemption of our collateralized deposit liability with AT&T, and the net change in our other
operating assets and liabilities of $2,949. The net change in our operating assets and liabilities was primarily as a
result of a 38,811 decrease in collateralized and other customer deposits as a result of applying such deposits
towards accounts receivable balances, a $4,226 increase in accounts receivabie due to growth, an increase in
deferred costs of $3,508, and a $3,461 increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets due to the timing of
payments to our vendors, partially offset by a $19,417 increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities due
to the timing of payments to our vendors, a $1,018 increase in unearmned revenues, and a $2,260 decrease in
inventories due to lower sales of consumer lines and better inventory management.

Net cash used in our operating activities for 2005 increased by $44,408 when compared to 2004. This increase was
attributable to an increase in our net loss, adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items, of $49,315 offset by the net
change in our operating assets and liabilities of $4,907. The net change in our operating assets and liabilities was
primarily as a result of a $5,700 increase in collateralized and other customer deposits principally resulting from a
prepayment received from one of our wholesale customers, and an increase in uneamed revenues of $3,470 primarily asa
result of a payment received from ACCA for the licensing of our operating and support system software, partially offset
by a $3,078 decrease in our accounts payable and other liabilities primarily due to the timing of payments to our vendors,
and an increase in inventories of $1,346 primarily due to meet demand for our preducts.

We expect our cash from operating activities to substantially improve in 2007, primarily as a result of our
anticipated growth in our net revenues and the effect of cost reduction initiatives to improve our operations. In
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addition, in 2006 we redeemed $33,538 of our collateralized deposit liability with AT&T. We do not expect such
redemption to occur in 2007 as the collaterized deposit was fully paid in 2006. These improvements will be partially
offset by product, sales and marketing expenses which will primarily be used to promote our Growth services.

Investing Activities

Our investing activities consist primarily of purchases, maturities and sales of short-term investments in debt
securities, capital expenditures for property and equipment and expenditures to acquire collocation facilities. Net
cash used in our investing activities for 2006 increased by $76,436 when compared to 2003. This increase was
primarily attributable to a $11,105 increase in restricted cash and cash equivalents primarily as a result of our
commitment to use funds received from EarthLink exclusively for the expansion of our LPVA services, a $29,807
decrease in the proceeds from the sale of our equity securities, $25,097 from the net cash effect of purchase, sale and
maturity activities on our short-term investinents in debt securities, a $4,221 increase in equipment purchases as a
result of expansion of LPVA services, $4,370 from the net cash effect of our acquisitions of NextWeb and DataFlo,
and a $1,755 decrease in other long-term assets due to an increase in deferred charges.

Net cash provided by our investing activities for 2005 increased by $34,391 when compared to 2004. This
increase was primarily attributable to $29,807 related to the proceeds from the sale of our equity holdings in ACCA,
$5,550 net cash effect of purchases and maturity activities in out short-term investments, and $1,307 decrease in
other long-term assets primarily due to a refund of a security deposit from one of our vendors, partially offset by a
$3.329 increase in restricted cash and cash equivalents primarily resulting from the issuance of letters of credit.

We expect that in 2007 our expenditures related to the purchase of infrastructure equipment necessary for the
development and expansion of our networks and the development of new regions will be relatively lower than in
recent periods while incremental, or “success-based”, expenditures related to the addition of subscribers in existing
regions will be driven by the number of new subscribers that we add to our network.

Financing Activities

Our financing activities consist primarily of proceeds from long-term debt, borrowings from our credit facility
with SVB, the issuance of our common stock, including issuances under our employee stock-based compensation
plans, and the repayment of long-term debt. Net cash provided by our financing activities for 2006 increased by
$55,561 when compared to 2005. This increase was primarily attributable to the $48,086 in proceeds, net of
transaction and issuance costs, received from the sale of a 12% senior secured convertible note and our common
stock to EarthLink in connection with the agreement for the expansion of our LPVA services (refer to Note 7,
“Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements,” to our consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the
EarthLink transaction), $18,300 of proceeds from draws on our credit facility, and a $2,472 increase in proceeds
from the issuance of our common stock, primarily from the exercise of employee stock options, partially offset by a
$13,231 repa\yment of NextWeb’s long-term debt and our credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank, and $651 in
issuance costs related to our credit facility with SVB. On September 15, 2006, we settled the semi-annual interest
payment obligation on the above described convertible note with EarthLink. The interest obligation amounted to
$2,240. As permitted by the Note, we settled the interest due by issuing an additional note with the same terms as the
original note.

Net cash provided by our financing activities for 2005 decreased by $75,328 when compared to 2004. This
decrease was primarily attributable to the receipt of $119,961 in net proceeds from the issuance of our senior
unsecured convertible bonds in 2004 and a $4,651 decrease in proceeds from the issuance of our common stock,
partially offset by the $50,000 principal payment of our note to SBC, which was repaid in 2004.

We expect that for 2007 our net cash from financing activities will be primarily related to borrowings under and

repayments of the revolving line of credit that we entered into with SVB in April 2006, and the issuance of common
stock under our employee stock-based compensation plans.
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Liguidity

We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations for the last several years and have an
accumulated deficit of $1,732,070 as of December 31, 2006. For 2006, we recorded a net loss of $13,949 and
negative cash flow from operations of $24,654. As of December 31, 2006, we had $46,279 in cash and cash
equivalents, $15,793 in short-term investments, and $19,578 in restricted cash and cash equivalents. The sum of
these balances amounted to $81,650. In 2006 and 2005, we reduced our total workforce by approximately 5.8% and
13.6%, respectively, to improve our cost structure. In addition, we incurred expenditures in 2006 and 2005 to
automate several of our business processes and make them more cost effective. Furthermore, as described above, in
Aprii 2006 we obtained a $50,000 revolving credit facility with SVB. As a result of these actions we expect that we
will have sufficient liquidity to fund our operations at least through December 31, 2007. However, adverse business,
legal, regulatory or legislative developments may require us to raise additional capital or obtain funds from debt
financing, raise our prices or substantially decrease our cost structure, We also recognize that we may not be able to
raise or obtain additional liquidity. If cash requirements from operations exceed available funds in the future and we
are unabile to raise additional capital or obtain additional liquidity, our financial condition will be adversely affected.

On April 12, 2006, we redeemed our collateralized customer deposit liability with AT&T for $33,538. As a
result of the redemption, the collateralized crl_ls\_tomer deposit liability and several of our agreements with AT&T
have been terminated and AT&T has reling '?ished its related liens on our assets.

In conjunction with the redemption des lril:u d above, on April 13, 2006, we entered into a Loan and Security
Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with SVB. The Loan Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility for up to
$50,000, subject to specified borrowing base limitations. At our option, the revolving line bears an interest rate
equal to SVB’s prime rate or LIBOR plus specified margins, and matures on April 13, 2008. As collateral for the
loan under the Loan Agreement, we have granted security interests in substantially all of our real and perscnal
property, other than intellectual property and equipment purchased with the proceeds received from the agreement
with EarthLink. We have also provided a negative pledge on our intellectual property. As of December 31, 2006, we
had an outstanding principal balance under the Loan Agreement of $6,100, which carried an interest rate of 8.25%
plus a margin of 0.25%. Borrowings under the facility are limited by an amount of our eligible accounts receivable
and cash. As of December 31, 2006, we had $36,084 of funds available under the credit facility as a result of
borrowings, letters of credit, and the borrowing base limitations. As the available borrowing under the facility is
limited, the amount available at any time may be substantially less than $50,000 and the facility could be
unavailable in certain circumstances.

The Loan Agreement imposes various limitations on us, including without limitation, on our ability to:
(i) transfer all or any part of our businesses or properties, merge or consolidate, or acquire all or substantially all of
the capital stock or property of another company; (ii) engage in new business; (iii) incur additional indebtedness or
liens with respect to any of our properties; (iv) pay dividends or make any other distribution on or purchase of, any
of our capital stock; (v) make investments in other companies; (vi) make payments in respect of any subordinated
debt; or (vii) make capital expenditures, measured on a consolidated basis, in excess of $30,000 in 2007, subject to
certain exceptions, such as capital expenditures that are funded by a strategic investor like EarthLink. The Loan
Agreement also contains certain customary representations and warranties, covenants, notice and indemnification
provisions, and events of default, including changes of control, cross-defaults to other debt, judgment defaults and
material adverse changes to our business. In addition, the Loan Agreement requires us to maintain specified
liquidity ratios and tangible net worth levels. As of December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with the above
described limitations, covenants and conditions of the line of credit,

We expect to use additional cash resources primarily for sales and marketing activities to support our Growth
services. The amount of this additional usage of cash will depend in part on our ability to control incremental
selling, general and administrative expenses, the amount of capital expenditures required to grow the subscriber
base, development of operating support systems and software, and our ability to generate demand for these services.
In addition, we may wish to selectively pursue possible acquisitions of, or investments in businesses, technologies
or products complementary to ours in order to expand our geographic presence, broaden our product and service
offerings and achieve operating efficiencies. We may not have sufficient liquidity, or we may be unable to obtain
additicnal financing on favorable terms or at all, in order to finance such an acquisition or investment.
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Qur cash requirements for 2007 and beyond for developing, deploying and enhancing our network and
operating cur business will depend on a number of factors including:

* our continuing ability to obtain access to ILEC facilities, including telephone lines, remote terminals,
interoffice transport and high-capacity circuits, all at reasonable prices;

* rates at which resellers and end-users purchase and pay for our services and the pricing of such services;
+ financial condition of our customers;

* levels of marketing required to acquire and retain customers and to attain a competitive position in the
marketplace;

» rates at which we invest in engineering, equipment, development and intellectual property with respect to
existing and future technology;

» operational costs that we incur to install, maintain and repair end-user lines and our network as a whole;
» pending and any future litigation;

» existing and future technology, including any expansion of fixed wireless services;

* unanticipated opportunitics; and

» network development schedules and associated costs.

Contractual Cash Obligations

Qur contractual debt, lease and purchase obligations as of December 31, 2006 for the next five years, and
thereafter, were as follows:

2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 Thereafter Total
3% convertible senior debentures. . . ... $ — $125000 $§ — $— $125,000
12% senior secured convertible notes. . . _ — 42240 — 42,240
Bankloan....................... 6,100 — — —_ 6,100
Interest on notes payable. . . ......... 11,391 14,669 6,125 —_— 32,185
Capital leases .. .................. 617 764 180 _ 1,561
Officeleases. ... ......cccvine.... 5,231 8,612 2,835 23 16,701
Other operating leases. . . ........... 1,295 1,682 425 3,428

26
Purchase obligations ............... 5,845 — — = 5,845
$30,479  $150,727  $51,805 $49 $233,060

We lease certain vehicles, equipment and office facilities under various non-cancelable operating leases that
expire at various dates through 2013. Our office leases generally require us to pay operating costs, including
property taxes, insurance and maintenance, and contain scheduled rent increases and certain other rent escalation
clauses. Rent expense is reflected in our consolidated financial statements on a straight-line basis over the terms of
the respective leases.

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with
unconsolidated entities of financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities, or SPEs, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purpose. As of December 31, 2006, we were not involved in
any SPE transactions.

Forward-Looking Statements

We include certain estimates, projections, and other forward-looking statements in our reports, in presentations
to analysts and others, and in other publicly available material. Future performance cannot be ensured. Actual
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results may differ materially from those in forward-looking statements. The statements contained in this Report on
Form 10-K that are not historical facts are “forward-looking statements” (as such term is defined in Section 27A of
the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act), which can be identified by the use of forward-looking
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terminology such as “estimates,” “goals,” “plans,” “projects,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “believes,” or the
negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy that ‘involve
risks and uncertainties. Examples of such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to:

" s 2 ig LI

+ impact of federal, state and local telecommunications regulations, decisions and related litigation, and our
abitity to obtain ILEC network elements and facilities at reasonable rates;

continuing deployment of LPVA and our ability to bundle our data services with the voice services of
EarthLink and other alternative voice providers;

+ timing of our cash flows;

* exient to which customers purchase our services;

» relationships with our strategic partners and other potential third parties;

« pricing for our services in the future;

* plans regarding new financing arrangements;

* margins on our service offerings;

* possibilities that we will increase our revenues;

» plans to make strategic investments and acquisitions and the effect of such investments and acquisitions;

* estimates and expectations of future operating results, including improvements in cash flow from operating
activities, our selling, general and administrative expenses, adequacy of our cash reserves, and the number of
anticipated installed lines;

» plans to increase sazles of value-added services, like VoIP and fixed wireless;

anticipated capital expenditures;

= plans to enter into business arrangements with broadband-related service providers;

« feasibility of alternative access solutions, like fixed wireless;

¢ effects of litigation currently pending; and

= other statements contained in this Report on Form 10-K regarding matters that are not historical facts

These statements are only estimates or predictions and cannot be relied upon. We can give you no assurance
that future results will be achieved. Actual events or results may differ materially as a result of risks facing us or
actual results differing from the assumptions underlying such statements.

All written and oral forward-looking statements made in connection with this Report on Form 10-K which are
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the “Risk Factors” and
other cautionary statements included in this Report on Form 10-K. We disclaim any obligation to update
information contained in any forward-looking statement.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

(All dollar amounts are presented in thousands)

Our exposure to financial market risk, including changes in interest and marketable equity security prices,
relates primarily to our investment portfolio and outstanding debt obligations. We typically do not atempt to reduce
or eliminate our market exposure on our investment securities because the majority of our investments are in fixed-
rate, short-term debt securities. We do not have any derivative instruments. The fair value of our investment
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portfolio or related income would not be significantly impacted by either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in
interest rates due mainly to the fixed-rate and short-term nature of our investment portfolio in debt securities. In
addition, all of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2006 is fixed-rate debt.

The table below presents the carrying value and related weighted-average interest rates for our cash and cash
equivalents, short-term investments in debt securities and restricted cash and cash equivalents as of December a1,
2006:

Carrying Value  Interest Rate

Cashand cashequivalents. . .......... ... ivironiiianennns $46,279 2.73%

Short-term investments in debt securities. . ... ........ ... ... 15,793 1.05%

Restricted cash and cash equivalents . .. ............. ... ... ..., 19,578 1.15%
$81,650
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
INDEX
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. The following Financial Statements of Covad Communications Group, Inc.
and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms are filed as part of this report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Covad Communications Group, Inc.

We have completed integrated audits of Covad Communications Group, Inc.’s consolidated financial state-
ments and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are
presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index, present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Covad Communications Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits, We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statemnents are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 13 to consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it
accounts for stock-based compensation in 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in “Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting”, appearing under Part II, Item 9A. — “Control and Procedures,” that the Company main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS0), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is
to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over
financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policics and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
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with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (jii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Part 11,
Item 9A. — “Control and Procedures,” management has excluded NextWeb, Inc. (“NextWeb”) from its assess-
ment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 because NextWeb was acquired by the
Company in a purchase business combination in 2006. We have also excluded NextWeb from our audit of internal
control over financial reporting. NextWeb is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues
represent 8.8% and 2.3%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
February 23, 2007
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2006 2005

(ANl dollar and share amounts
are presented in thousands,
except par value)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents. . ... .. . . e $ 46279 § 84,291
Short-term investments in debt securities . .. . ... ... . ... ...t 15,793 12,210
Restricted cash and cashequivalents ... .. ... ... . . o i 19.578 5,503
Accounts receivable, Met . . . . .. . e e e e e 31,151 28,074
Unbilled revenues . ... .. e e e e 2,567 3,326
R 1T T 3,602 5,245
Prepaid expenses and othercurrent assets . . ... .. .. ... ... ... ... i 4,979 2,400

Total CUITENL ASSEIS . . . it e e 123,949 141,049
Property and equipment, MEL . . . o . vttt i e e e e e 87,586 71,663
Collocation fees and other intangible assets, net .. ..... ... ... ... ... .. .. .. ... 22,768 20,715
Goodwill . .. e e e e e e e 50,002 36,626
Deferred costs of SeTvice aclVALION . . . .. ... ittt it it ettt et e ey 24,268 25,456
Deferred debt issuance COSES, Mt . . . . . .o ittt it e e e e e e 3,823 3,223
Other 1ONZ-LEIT BSSEIS . . . . o oottt i et e e et et et e et e e 912 1,849

TOtal BSELS . . oo it i e e e e e e e e e $ 313308 5 300,581

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable. . .. .. e e $ 34,189 § 23331
Accrued compensation . . .. ... L. e e 14,539 16,277
Accrued collocation and network service fees . . . ... .t i e s 15,594 14,583
Accrued transachon-based LAXES . .. .. .. it it e e e e e e e 7,754 30,159
Collateralized and other customer deposits . . .. .. .. ... ... .. . .. i 5,585 33,230
Uneamed revemUes. . o .ttt e e e e e e e 6,528 6,500
Loan payable tobank . . . .. .. .. .. e 6,100 —
Other accrued labilities . . . . ... .. ... . e e 11,381 9,137

Total curment Habiities . ... .. i e e e e e 101,670 133,217
Long-term debt . .. ..ot e 167,240 125,000
Collateralized and other long-term customer deposits . .. ... ... ... 0 — 16,912
Uneamed reVenues . . . .. .. o e e e e e e 39,506 43,758
Other long-term liabilities . . .. ... ... . . . e 2,538 1,863

Total Babilities . . . . ... o e e e e e 310,954 320,750

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7, 8, 9 and 10)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and 2005 . . . . ... . e e e — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 590,000 shares autherized; 296,877 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2006 (268,353 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,

2008 . e 297 268
Common stock — Class B, $0.001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and

outstanding at December 31,2006 and 2005 . . . ... ... .. oo ol — —
Additional paid-in capilal . . ... ... e e e e 1,734,124 1,697,686
Deferred stock-based compensation . . ... ... L e e — ()]
Accumuolated other comprehensive income . .. ... ... ... Lo 3 3
Accumulated defiCit . . . .. o e e e e (1,732,070} (1,718,121

Total stockholders” equity (deficit) . . .. ... ... it i e 2,354 (20,169

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) . . ... .. ... ... ... . o o, $ 313,308 § 300,581

See accompanying notes.
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2006

2003

2004

(AHl dollar and share amounts are
presented in thousands, except
per share amounts)

REVENUES, el . . . ittt it et et e e $474304  $443,179  $429,197
Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) .......... 328,474 311,139 266,172
Benefit from federal excise tax adjustment. . ... ................. (19,455) — —
Selling, general and administrative. ... ........ ... .. ... .. ... 127,129 158,552 146,241
Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries), net. .. .............. 251 571 {2,035
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment .......... 34,876 49,813 56,825
Amortization of collocation fees and other intangible assets ... ...... 9,949 17,428 20,585
Provision for restructuring and post-employment benefits . ... ..... .. 1,597 3,640 1,409
Total operating eXpenses . .. ... .....vviiturinenrreannonsss 482,821 541,143 489,197
Loss fromoperations .............. .. ... (8,517) {97,964) (60,000)
Other income {(expense):
Interest IMCOMIE . . v v vt i i et ettt it et e e e e 3,938 4,142 2,668
Gain on sale of equity securities .. .......... ... ... ... 0 — 28.844 —
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary ...................... ... — 53,963 —_
INterest eXPEnSe . . . ..o .ttt e e (9,562) (5,005) (4,927
Miscellaneous INCOMeE, NEL. . . .. ... i i e e e e an e 192 298 1,498
Other income (expense), net . . .. ... ... ... .. ... ..o, (5,432) 82,242 (761)
Nt LO8S . . e e e e e $(13,949) $(15,722) 3(60,761)
Basic and diluted net loss pershare. . . ...............c.ovuann.. § (005 % (006 3 (0.249)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding vused in
computing basic and diluted per share amounts .. ................ 290,262 265,240 249,187

See accompanying notes.
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Accumulated
Other Total
Additional Deferred  Comprehensive Stockholders
Preferred Stock _ Common Stock Paid-In  Stock-Based Income Accumulated  Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital  Compensation {Loss) Dreftelt (Deficit)
(All dollar and share amounts are presented in thousands)

Balances at December 31, 2003 . . . .. —  $— 230,163 $230 $1,651.267 $(14,459) $(953)  $(i.641,638) $ (5,553)
Netloss . .................... — —_ — — — — — (60,7613  (60,761)
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale

SECUlES . . . ..o — — —- - —_ — (32 — (32)
Comprehensive loss .. ........... {60,793)
Issuance of common stock for ESPP. . . — — 5,316 5 4,722 —_ —_ _ 4,727
Isswance of common stock upon

exercise of options . . . ......... — — 1,951 2 2,149 — — — 2,151
Issuance of common stock for

bankruptcy filing related

transactions . . .. ............. — — 6,496 7 6,944 —_ — — 6,951
Issuance of common stock as a result

of business acquisition expenses. . .. — — 834 1 1,780 _ _ - 1,781
Issuance of common stock to vendors. .  — — g — i3 —_ - — 13
Issuance of common stock for business

acquisition., . ... ........ ... .. — — 18,724 19 39,345 — — — 35,364
Issuance of restricted stock. ... ... .. — -— 189 — 660 (660) — —_ —
Armortization (reversal) of stock-based

compensation . ... ............ - = - _— (11,456) 14,180 — —_— 2,724
Balances at December 31, 2004 . . . . . — — 263681 264 1695424 (939) (985) (1,702,399)  (8,635)
Netdoss . .................... — — — — — — — (15,722)  (15,722)
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale

SeCUrities . . . ... ... ... ... _ - — — — — 26 —_ 26
Foreign cumrency translation

adjustment . . .. .............. — — — — —_ — 962 — 8962
Comprehensive loss . ............ (14,734)
Issuance of common stock for ESPP.. . — — 3,898 3 3,384 —_ —_ — 3,387
Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of options .. .......... — — 774 I 620 — — —_ 621
Ameortization (reversal} of stock-based

compensation . . . ............. = = - = (1,742) 934 — — (808)
Balances at December 31, 2005 . . . . . — — 268,353 268 1,097,686 (5 3 (1,718,121)  (20,169)
Netloss . .. ..o i, — — — — —_ — — (13,949) (13,949)
Comprehensive loss .. ........... {13,949
Issuance of common stock for ESPP. R— — 3,048 3 2,761 — — — 2.764
Issuance of common stock upon

exercise of options .. .. ... ... .. — —_ 3,275 3 3,741 — — — 3,744
Issuance of common stock for business

acquisition. . . ............... — — 15361 16 16,298 — — — 16,314
Issuance of common stock to EarthLink

related to purchase agreemenis. . . . . — — 6.135 6 9,554 — — — 9,600
Issuance of common stock as a result

of business scquisiion expenses. . .. — — 705 1 749 —_ — —_ 750
Stock-based compensation . . ... .... = = — — 3,295 5 —_ — 3,300
Balances at December 31, 2006 . . . . . —  § 296877 $297 $1.734.124 § — $§ 3 $(1,732.0700 § 2,354

See accompanying notes.
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2006

2005

2004

(Al dollar amounts are
presented in thousands)

Operating Activities:

NEL BOSS o o vttt e e e e e e $(13,949) $(15,722) § (60,761)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Provision for bad debts (bad debt recoveries), net. . . . ... ... .. ... 251 571 (2,035
Benefit from federal excise tax adjustment . . ... ... ... . o (19,455) _ —
Depreciation and amOTHZAUON . . . . .. .. ...ttt e 44,825 67,241 77410
Loss on disposition of property and equipment . . . . ..... ... . L. e 2 53 669
Stock-based compensation expense (reversal) . ... .. ... . L e e 3,300 (808) 2,737
Amortization of deferred customer incentives .. ... . ... ... .. .. L. i oo 759 1,419 1,749
Amortization of deferred debt 1ssuance costS. . .. . . . . e 1,680 1,008 809
Accretion of interest on investments, Net . . . .. .. ...ttt e e (199) (408) (716)
Gain on sale of equity SECUTIES . . . .. .. ... i i e e — (28,844) —
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary . . .. .. ... ... L L e e — (53,963) —
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
purchase acquisition:
Accounts receivable . . . ... L e e e e e e (2,330) 1,396 1,055
Unbilled FEVENUES . . . . . . i o e e e e e e 759 499 1,302
By 2301 ) L= 1,644 616) 730
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENt @SSEES . . . . . . . . . ottt it i e i (2,097) 1,364 741
Deferred costs of service activation . . . . . .. .. oot e 1,188 4,696 1,334
Accounts payable . . ... s 9,754 2,576 4,407
Collateralized and other customer deposits . . . . . ... ... e {11,019) (2,208) (7,908)
Redemption of collateralized customer deposit . . ... ... . ... i e {33,538) — —
Other current liabilities . . . . ... .ot e e (1,067)  (13,306) (12,059)
Unearned TEVEIIUIES. . . . . . . v vttt et e m e e e (4,662) (5,680) (5,788)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities . . .. ........ .. ... ... .. ... (24,654)  (40,732) 3,676
Investing Activities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, net. . . .. ... ... . L L L (14,075) 2,97 359
Purchase of short-term investments in debt securities . . .. ... ... . ... . i o (27,284) (43,835)  (144,105)
Maturities of short-term investments in debt securities . . . ... ... ... . . ... . 23,900 65,548 160,268
Proceeds from the sale of equity securities. . . . .. . . ... .t s — 29.807 —
Purchase of property and eQUIPMERL. . . . . . . . . oottt e e (46,964) {42,397) (38,743)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment . .. ... .. .. ... ... .. .l i 60 14] 115
Payment of collocation fees and purchase of other intangible assets ... ................... (3,236) (3,582) (7,900)
Payment in connection with business acquisition, net of cash acquired. . . . ............. ..., (3,187) — (366)
Payment in connection withassets purchase . . . ... ... .. ... ... oo (1,183) — —
Decrease in other long-term assels . . . . ... vt e e e 144 1,899 592
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . .. ........... ... ... . .. ... (71,825) 4,611 (29,780)
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of senior unsecured convertible debentures, net of issvance costs . . . . . . 38,457 — 119,961
Proceeds from utilization of credit facility . .. ...... .. ... ... 18,300 — —
Principal payments on credit facility . . .. ..... ..., .. oo i (12,200) — —
Principal payments of long-termdebt . . ... ... .. o (1,031} - (50,000
Principal payments under capital lease obligations. . . .. ... ... . i 317 {1,102) (380)
Payment of issuance cost related to credit facility . ....... ... ... . o o (651) — —
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs . .. ... ... ... ... . ... 16,109 4,008 8,659
Net cash provided by financing activities . . ... .......... ... ... .. ... . L 58,467 2,906 78,234
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . .. .. ..... ... .. ... ... (38,012) (33,215) 52,130
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. . . .. ... ... ... .. ... .. i i, 84,291 117,506 65,376
Cash and cash equivalents atendof year. . ... ... . ... ... .. .. .. .. $46,279 § 84291 §$ 117,506
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year forinterest . . . . . ... ... . e $ 4038 % 3831 § B8535
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Interest obligation settled with the issuance of additional convertible long-termnotes . . ... ... ... $ 2240 § — 3 -
Equipment purchased through capital leases . . . .. ... ... ... .. .. . i $ 1139 § 573 % 959
Commen stock issued in settlement of claims related to bankruptcy . ... ... ... . .......... 8 — 3 — § 6951
Commen stock issued for acquisition of business ... ........ ... . oot $16314 % — § 39364
Commen stock issued as a result of business acquisition expenses . ... .............. ... .. $§ 750 % — § 1,78l

See accompanying notes.
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(All dellar and share amounts are presented in theusands, except per share amounts)

1. Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization, Business and Basis of Presentation
Organization and Business

Covad Communications Group, Inc., together with the subsidiaries through which businesses are conducted
{collectively “Caovad” or “the Company™), provides voice and data communications products and services to
consumers and businesses. The Company provides these services throughout the United States in approximately
235 major metropolitan areas in 44 states. The Company’s products and services include high-speed, or broadband,
data communications, Internet access connectivity, Voice over Internet Protocol telephony, or VoIP, fixed wireless
broadband, and a variety of related services. The Company primarily uses digital subscriber line, or DSL, and T-1
technologies to deliver its services. In order to provide its services the Company purchases network elements, such
as telecommunication lines and central office facilities, from the traditional local telephone companies, which are
often referred to as the incumbent local telephone companies, or ILECs, and other telecommunication carriers, and
then combine these network elements with its own nationwide network facilities. The Company purchases the
majority of these network elements from Verizon Communications, Inc., or Verizon, AT&T, Inc. (the new combined
entity resulting from the merger of AT&T, Corp. and SBC Communications, Inc., or SBC, and BellSouth
Telecommunications, or BellSouth), or AT&T, and Qwest Corporation, or Qwest, which are also known as the
regional Bell operating companies, or RBOCs.

The Company operates two business segments, Wholesale and Direct. Wholesale is a provider of high-speed
data connectivity services to Internet service providers, or ISPs, and telecommunications carrier customers. The
Company’s Direct segment sells VoIP, high-speed data connectivity, fixed wireless broadband, and related value-
added services through multiple channels including telesales, field sales, affinity partner programs, and its website.
Direct focuses on the small business market and also sells to enterprise customers that purchase the Company’s
services for distribution across their enterprise.

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations for the last several years and has an
accumnulated deficit of $1,732,070 as of December 31, 2006. For 2006, the Company recorded a net loss of $13,949
and negative cash flow from operations of $24,654. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $46,279 in cash
and cash equivalents, $15,793 in short-term investments, and $19,578 in restricted cash and cash equivalents. The
sum of these balances amounted to $81,650. In 2006 and 2005, the Company reduced its total workforce by
approximately 5.8% and 13.6%, respectively, to improve its cost structure. In addition, the Company incurred
expenditures in 2006 and 2005 to automate several of its business processes and make them more cost effective.
Furthermore, as described in Note 7 — “Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements,” the Company obtained a
$50,000 revolving credit facility from a bank in April 2006. As a result of these actions the Company expects it will
have sufficient liquidity to fund its operations at least through December 31, 2007. However, adverse business,
legal, regulatory or legislative developments may require the Company to raise additional capital, obtain additional
funds from debt financing, raise its prices or substantially decrease its cost structure. The Company also recognizes
that it may not be able to raise or obtain additional liquidity. If cash requirements from operations exceed available
funds in the future and the Company is unable to raise additional capital or obtain additional liquidity, then the
Company’s financial condition will be adversely affected.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covad and its wholly owned subsidiaries, except
for the accounts of BlueStar Communications Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, which have been
excluded from the Company’s consolidated financial statements effective June 25, 2001 (Note 3). All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period, Actual results may differ materially from those estimates, The Company’s critical accounting
estimates include (i) revenue recognition and the establishment of accounts receivable allowances (Notes 1 and 2),
(ii) inventory valuation (Note 1), (iii) reorganization and restructuring liabilities (Note 3), (iv) useful life
assignments and impairment evaluations associated with property and equipment and intangible assets (Notes 1,
4 and 5), (v) anticipated outcomes of legal proceedings and other disputes (Notes 2, and 10), (vi) transaction-based
tax and employment-related tax liabilities (Note 10), (vii) valuation allowances associated with deferred tax assets
(Note 12), (viii) assumptions used for estimating stock-based compensation (Note 13), and (ix) expenditures for
market development funds (“MDF”) (Note 1).

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of
original purchase to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, cash equivalents and short-term
investments consisted principally of money market securities, commercial paper and mutual funds. All of the
Company’s investments are classified as available-for-sale and stated at their fair market values, which are
determined based on quoted market prices. The Company’s short-term investments had original maturities greater
than three months, but less than one year, from the original maturity dates. The Company determines the appropriate
classification of investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such designation at the end of each period.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a separate component of stockholders’
equity. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are determined based on the specific identification
of the cost of securities sold.

Short-term investments consisted of the following:
December 31, 2006

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Commercial paper . . ......... ... .. uiaen $ 6,380 — — $ 6,380
Corporate debentures/bonds .. ................ 9412 __2 _a ) 9,413
Total available-for-sale securities ............ $15,792 $2 5 $15,793
December 31, 2005
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government agency securities. .. .......... $ 6,486 $— 505 $ 6,481
Agency discountnote. . ........... .. ... ..., 497 — — 497
Commercial paper . . ....... ... ... ......... 5,231 _1 e 5,232
Total available-for-sale securities ............ $12,214 $1 5(5) $12,210

As of December 31, 2006, the contractual maturities of all available-for-sale debt securities are between
January 8, 2007 and September 25, 2607.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Realized gains resulting from the sale of available-for-sale equity securities was as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

wos  _aws_ mm
$—  ;mRM S

Total AINS . .. ... e

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company held $19,578 and $5,503, respectively, in money market
securities and mutual funds, which are classified as restricted cash. Those funds collateralize irrevocable letters of
credit pertaining to certain operating lease commitments as well as the remaining portion of the $50,000 that the
Company received in March 2006 as a result of a strategic agreement with EarthLink, Inc. (“EarthLink™), as
described in Note 7 — “Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements.” As a result of the commitment to use the
proceeds to further build and enable the Company’s line-powered voice access (“LPVA™) services, such proceeds
are classified as restricted cash. As the Company pays for expenditures related to this agreement, the Company will
continue to reduce the balance of the restricted cash accordingly.

Other Investments

Other investments consist primarily of strategic investments in privately held entities. These investments in
privately held companies are accounted for under either the cost or equity methods of accounting, depending on the
Company’s ownership and ability to significantly influence these entities.

The Company performs periodic reviews, or when adverse conditions occur, of its investments for impairment.
Impairment write-downs create a new carrying value for the investment and the Company does not record
subsequent increases in fair value in excess of the new carrying value for these types of privately held investments
accounted for under the cost or equity methods. No impairments were recorded in 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Concentrations of Credit Risk, Significant Customers and Key Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally
of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s cash
and investment policies limit cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash and cash equivalents to
short-term, investment grade instruments. Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash
and cash equivalents are held primarily with various domestic and international financial institutions with high
credit ratings. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its cash, cash equivalents, short-term
investments, or restricted cash and cash equivalents.

The Company conducts business primarily with ISPs, enterprise customers and telecommunications carrier
customers in the United States. As more fully described in Note 2 — “Revenue Recognition,” the Company has
concentrations of credit risk with a small number of customers, and certain of the Company’s customers were
expertencing financial difficulties as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and some of them were not current in their
payments for the Company’s services at those dates. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial condition, account balance, and payment history, and generally does not require collateral, An
allowance 1s maintained for estimated credit losses and doubtful accounts, these allowances are derived by
(1) specific facts and circumstances on the financial condition of individual customers, and (ii) credit loss history on
the accounts receivable portfolio,

The Company is dependent on a limited number of suppliers for certain equipment used to provide its services.
The Company has generally been able to obtain an adequate supply of such equipment. However, an extended
interruption in the supply of equipment currently obtained from its suppliers could adversely affect the Company’s
business and results of operations.
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Related Farties

A member of the Company’s board of directors, Richard Jalkut, is the President and CEO of TelePacific
Communications, Inc., (*TelePacific™), one of the Company’s resellers. The Company recognized revenues from
TelePacific of $217, $285 and $369 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts receivables from TelePacific
were $15 and $19 as of December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. In August 2006, TelePacific acquired mPower
Communications, (“mPower™), which is one of the Company’s vendors. The Company paid $299 to mPower in
2006. Accounts payable to mPower were $51 as of December 31, 2006.

L. Dale Crandall, one of the Company’s directors, is also a director of BEA Systems, (“BEA™), one of the
Company's vendors. The Company paid $1,094, $993 and $890 to BEA in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Accounts payable to BEA were $0 and $400 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Charles Hoffman, the
Company’s CEQO, is a director of Chordiant Software, (“Chordiant™), one of the Company’s vendors. The Company
paid $395, $620 and $3 387 to Chordiant in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. There were no accounts payable to
Chordiant as of December 31, 2006 or 2005, respectively. Charles Hoffian is also a director of Synchronoss
Technologies, (“Synchronoss”™), one of the Company’s vendors, The Company paid $83, $0 and $0 to Synchronoss
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts payable to Synchronoss were $11 and $0 as of December 31, 2006
and 2003, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of customer premises equipment (“CPE”), are stated at the lower of cost,
determined using the “first-in, first-out” method, or market. Shipping and handling costs incurred in conjunction
with the sale of inventory are included as an element of cost of sales.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, subject to adjustments for impairment, and depreciated or
amortized using the straight-line method over the following estimated ranges of useful lives:

Leasehold improvements . ................. 5 years or the term of the lease, whichever is less
Computer equipment . . ................... 2 to 5 years
Computer software. . . .................... 3 to 5 years
Furniture and fixtures. . ... ................ 2 to 5 years
Networks and communication equipment . .. ... 2 to 5 years

The Company incurs significant costs associated with internal-use software, which consists principally of
software used to operate its operational support systems (“OSS8™), network assets, and website. The Company
charges pre-development, training and maintenance costs to expense as incurred. Software and website develop-
ment costs, which include direct costs such as labor and contractors, are capitalized when they can be segregated
from other non-capitalizable labor activities and when it is probable that the project will be completed and the
software or website will be used as intended. Costs incurred for upgrades and enhancements to the Company’s
software or website are capitalized when it is probable that such efforts will result in additional and significant
functionality. Capitalized software and website costs are amortized to expense over the estimated useful life of the
software or website. Amortization of internal-use software costs amounted to $7.555, $6,046 and $3,566 in 2006,
2005, and 2004, respectively. Unamortized balances of internal-use software costs were $20,053, $24,020 and
$19,241 as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company accounts for incidental sales of
licenses for its OSS software on a cost recovery basis (Note 6). In 2004, the Company began recording royalty
payments for licensing its OSS software as other revenue as the cost of the licensed software has been fully
recovered.
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The Company leased certain equipment under capital lease agreements. Assets and liabilities under ‘capital
leases are recorded at the lesser of the present value of the aggregate future minimum lease payments, including
estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the assets under lease. Assets under capital leases are
amortized over the lease term or the useful life of the assets. Amortization of assets under capital leases is included
in depreciation and amortization expense.

Collocation Fees and Other Intangible Assels

Collocation fees represent nonrecurring fees paid to other telecommunications carriers for the right to use
central office space to house equipment owned or leased by the Company. Such nonrecurring fees are capitalized as
intangible assets and amortized over five years using the straight-line method. The Company’s collocation
agreements also require periodic recurring payments, which are charged to expense as incurred. All such
collocation agreements are cancelable by the Company or the vendor at any time.

Other intangible assets consist of customer lists acquired from third parties (Note 6). Such customer lists are
being amortized over a period of twenty-four to forty-eight months, representing a weighted-average life of thirty
months, using the straight-line method.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company’s estimated annual amortization expenses associated with collocation
fees and other intangible assets for the next five vears were as follows:

2007 e e e $9,176
2008 . e $7,306
2009 L $4,351
000 . e e e e e $1,480
2 ) G $ 455

Changes in Accounting Estimates

In 2006, the Company reduced its estimated liabilities for transaction-based and employment-related taxes as a
result of the expiration of the statute of limitations for such taxes. These changes in accounting estimates decreased
the Company’s cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses and net loss by $5,553, $1,346, and $6,899
(30.02 per share), respectively, for 2006.

In 2005, the Company reduced its estimated liabilities for transaction-based taxes and property taxes as a result
of settlements and the expiration of the relevant statute of limitations for such taxes. These changes in accounting
estimates decreased the Company’s cost of sales and net loss by $3,830 ($0.01 per share) in 2005. In addition the
Company reduced its estimated liabilities for network costs as a result of a settlement with Verizon in 2005.

In 2004, the Company ceased the accrual of the Federal Excise Tax (“FET”) on the purchases of certain
telecommunications services because it determined it should not be subject to this tax. The determination was based
on the Company’s revised interpretation of the applicability of the tax. The Company believes that such deter-
mination prospectively removed the “probable” condition required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
5 (“SFAS 5”) to accrue a contingent liability. The Company did not reverse the liability of approximately $19,455
that was previously accrued, because the liability was properly recorded based upon its interpretation of the tax law
at that time coupled with the guidance provided by SFAS 5. The criteria for reversing the liability for the tax is met
when: (i) a ruling, either judicial or from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™), that the Company is not subject to
the tax, (ii) a ruling, either judicial or from the IRS that a company with similar facts and circumstances to the
Company is not subject to the tax, (iii) a settlement with the IRS on this matter or, (iv) the expiration of the
applicable statute of limitations. On May 25, 2006, the IRS issued Notice 2006-50 announcing that it will stop
collecting FET on “long-distance” telephone service and that it will no longer litigate this issue with taxpayers. The
FET is now only applicable to “local” telephone service. The services the Company purchased for which it accrued
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FET do not fall under the definition of local telephone service. Therefore, the Company has determined that (i) IRS
Notice 2006-50 resolved the uncertainty around the applicability of the tax to these telecommunications services,
and (i) meets one of the criteria stated above for reversing the accrued liability of $19,455. Consequently, the
Company reversed such liability in 2006. For 2006, the benefit decreased the Company’s net loss by $19,455, or
$0.07 per share.

In 2004, the Company reduced its estimated liabilities for property taxes, primarily caused by lower property
valuations and assessments on its network assets. For 2004 this change in accounting estimate reduced the
Company’s cost of sales by $1,824, selling, general and administrative expenses by $544 and net loss by $2,368
($0.01 per share). In addition, in 2004, the Company recorded a bad debt recovery in the amount of $1,600 as a
result of a settlement of a previously written down accounts receivable balance from one of its wholesale customers.
For 2004, this change in accounting estimate reduced the Company’s provision for bad debts and net loss by $1,600
($0.01 per share). In 2004, the Company also reduced its estimated transaction-based tax liabilities and employment
related tax liabilities due to the expiration of the prescribed statutory period for the corresponding tax returns. For
2004, these changes in accounting estimates reduced the Company’s cost of sales by $2,023, selling, general and
administrative expenses by $1,971 and net loss by $3,994 ($0.02 per share).

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates potential impairments of its long-lived assets, including intangibles.
When the Company determines that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the
existence of one or more indicators of impairment, the Company evaluates the projected undiscounted cash flows
related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying value of the assets, the Company measures the
impairment using discounted cash flows or other methods of determining fair value.

Long-lived assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs of dispesal,

Advertising Costs

The Company charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred. Advertising expense for 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $14,821, $26,245 and $24,955, respectively.

The Company makes market development funds (“MDF”) available to certain customers for the reimburse-
ment of co-branded advertising expenses and other purposes. To the extent that MDF is used by the Company’s
customers for co-branded advertising and the customers provide the Company with third-party evidence of such co-
branded advertising as required by its policy and the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of its portion
of the advertising, such amounts are charged to advertising expense as incurred. Other amounts payable to
customers relating to rebates, customer incentives and nonqualified MDF activities are recorded as reductions of
revenues as incurred.

Market Development Funds

The Company makes market development funds (“MDF”) available to certain customers for the reimburse-
ment of co-branded advertising expenses and other purposes. To the extent that MDF is used by the Company’s
customers for co-branded advertising, and the customers provide the Company with third-party evidence of such
co-branded advertising and the Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of its portion of the advertising,
such amounts are charged to advertising expense as incurred. Other MDF activities are recorded as reductions of
revenues as incurred. Amounts payable to customers relating to rebates and customer incentives are recorded as
reductions of revenues based on the Company’s estimate of sales incentives that will ultimately be claimed by
customers.
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Legal Costs

The Company accounts for legal costs expected to be incurred in connection with a loss contingency as
incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments:

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments and Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents — The
carrying amounts of these assets approximate their respective fair values, which were determined based on
quoted market prices.

Borrowings — The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market
prices, where available. The aggregate fair value of the Company’s long-term debt, excluding the EarthLink
Convertible Notes, was $109,375 as of December 31, 2006, as compared to the aggregate carrying amount of
$125,000 as of such date. The Company estimated the fair value of its debentures based on the last trade of
2006, which occurred on December 19. The Company has determined that it is not practicable to estimate the
fair value of the EarthLink Convertible Notes due to the complex redemption and conversion features they
contain and the fact that they are not publicly traded (refer to Note 7 for detailed information regarding the
EarthLink Convestible Notes). The aggregate fair value of the Company’s long-term debt was $71,875 as of
December 31, 2005, as compared to the aggregate carrying amount of $125,000 as of such date.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of the Company’s unconsolidated affiliates was the local currency. The investments in
these unconsolidated affiliates were translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and the Company’s
equity in the income or losses of these affiliates was translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year.
Translation adjustments are included in “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),” a separate component
of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share amounts are computed by using the weighted-average number of shares of the
Company’s common stock during the period, less the weighted-average number of common shares subject to
repurchase.

Diluted net loss per share amounts are computed in the same manner as basic net loss per share amounts,
excepi that the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding computed for basic net loss per share is
increased by the weighted-average number of common shares resulting from the (i) purchase of shares under the
Company's employee stock purchase program, and exercise of stock options and warrants using the treasury stock
method, and (ii) conversion of convertible debt instruments. Equity instrumenits are excluded from the calculation of
diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding if the effect of including such instruments is not
dilutive to net loss per share. In applying the treasury stock method for difutive stock-based compensation
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arrangements, the assumed proceeds are computed as the sum of (i) the amount, if any, the employee must pay upon
exercise, (ii) the amounts of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized, and (iii) the
amount of tax benefits (both deferred and current), if any, that would be credited to additional paid-in capital
assuming exercise of the options. In addition, in computing the dilutive effect of convertible securities, net loss is
adjusted to add back the after-tax amount of interest expensed in the period associated with any convertible debt. For
2006, 2005 and 2004, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding used in the computations of
diluted loss per share is the same as basic because the impact of (i) common shares subject to repurchase, (ii} the
assumed exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants, and (iii) the assumed conversion of convertible
debentures and notes is not dilutive.

The following table presents the calculation of weighted-average common shares used in the computations of
basic and diluted net loss per share amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding. . ........ 290,262 265,261 249,295
Less weighted-average shares of common stock subject to
repurchase . ... .. ... e e — 21 108
Weighted-average common shares used in computing basic and
dilutive net loss per share amounts . . . .................... 290,262 265,240 249,187

As stated above, the Company excludes equity instruments from the calculation of diluted weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding if the effect of including such instruments is not dilutive to net loss per share.,
Accordingly, certain equity instruments have been excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average
shares. The type and number of these equity instruments that were excluded from the computation of diluted net oss
per share were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Stock Opltions ... ... e e 23,082 24973 22997
Options under employee stock purchase plan . . ... ............... — — 4,441
R T o <o L 6,514 6,514 6,514
Commeon shares issuable under the assumed conversion of convertible
debentures and notes . .. .. ... .. ... ... .. ..., 62,089 39,380 39,380

Comprehensive Loss

Significant components of the Company’s comprehensive loss are as follows:

Cumulative Year Ended December 31,
Amounts 2006 2005 2004

Netloss ... ... . i, $(1,732,070)  $(13,949) $(15,722) $(60,761)
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale

SECUTILES. . . v vttt et it e et e e 3 — 29,832 (32)
Realized gains on equity securities previously

included in unrealized gains (losses) ........ — — (29,806) —
Foreign currency translation adjustment . ... .. .. — — 962 —
Comprehensive loss .. .................... $(1,732,067)  $(13,949) $(14,734)  $(60,793)
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Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration paid for an acquisition exceeds the fair value of net tangible and
intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is measured and tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if
the Company believes indicators of impairment exist. The performance of the test involves a two-step process. The
first step compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount, including goodwill. The fair value of
the reporting unit is determined by calculating the market capitalization of the reporting unit as derived from quoted
market prices or other generally accepted valuation methods if quoted market prices are not available. A potential
impairment exists if the fair value of the reporting unit is iower than its carrying amount. The second step of the
process is only performed if a potential impairment exists, and it involves determining the difference between the
fair values of the reporting unit’s net assets, other than goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. If the
difference is less than the net book value of goodwill, an impairment exists and is recorded.

The Company determines its reporting units, for purposes of testing for impairment, by determining (i) how the
Company manages its operations, (i) if a component of an operating unit constitutes a business for which discrete
financial information is available and the Company management regularly reviews such financial information, and
(iii) how an acquired entity, is integrated with the Company. Based on these criteria, the Company determined that
its Wholesale and Direct segments are its reporting units.

On February 16, 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
NextWeb, Inc. (“NextWeb”), as described in Note 6 — “Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisition and Equity
Investments.” The Company integrated and manages the NextWeb business within its Direct segment. Accordingly,
the recorded goodwill from the acquisition of NextWeb was allocated to the Company’s Direct segment for
purposes of testing for impairment.

On June 8, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
GoBeam, Inc. (“GoBeam”), as described in Note 6 — “Business Acquisitions, Asset Acquisition and Equity
Investments.” The Company integrated and manages the GoBeam business within its Direct segment. Accordingly,
the recorded goodwill from the acquisition of GoBeam was allocated to the Direct segment for purposes of testing
for impairment.

Collateralized and Other Customer Deposits

In December 2001, the Company entered into a 10-year resale agreement with AT&T, Inc. (“AT&T”), formerly
SBC Communications, Inc. (“SBC™), under which AT&T, its affiliates or special agents may resell the Company’s
digital subscriber line (“DSL") services. As part of the resale agreement, AT&T made a $75,000 non-interest-
bearing prepayment, which was collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s domestic assets. On April 12,
2006, the Company redeemed the above described collateralized customer deposit liability with AT&T. The
Company paid AT&T $33,538, which was $1,765 less than the carrying amount of such liability. As a result of the
redemption, the collateralized customer deposit liability has been terminated, and AT&T has relinquished its related
liens on the Company’s assets. In addition, several agreements between the Company and AT&T have also been
terminated, subject to certain obligations and provisions, which survive termination of the agreements. The above
described discount was recorded as deferred revenue and is being amortized through April 2007, which corresponds
with the remaining contractual utilization period of the prepayment.

On May 27, 20035, the Company entered into a strategic agreement with EarthLink to develop and deploy the
Company’s LPVA services. As part of the agreement, EarthLink made a non-interest-bearing prepayment, which
the Company has agreed to use exclusively for expenditures related to the development and deployment of its LPVA
services. Conseguently, the Company has classified the unused cash balance of the prepayment as restricted cash
and cash equivalents. The Company categorizes a portion of the prepayment liability as a current liability, based
upon the amount of expected billings over the next twelve months, with the remainder classified as long-term. As of
December 31, 2006 the full amount of the prepayment became current. As the Company provides the products and
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services described in the agreement to EarthLink, the resultant billings are recognized as revenue in accordance
with the Company’s revenue recognition policy (Note 2) and are ofiset by the prepayment liability to the extent of

EarthLink’s right to do so under the agreement. The amount of billings expected over the next twelve months is an
estimate based on current projections of products and services EarthLink will purchase. The actual amount sold
during this period may be greater or less than this estimated amount.

Post-Employment Benefits

Post-employment benefits primarily consist of the Company’s severance plans. These plans are primarily
designed to provide severance benefits to those eligible employees of the Company whose employment is
terminated in connection with reductions in its workforce. The Company has not accrued for this employee
benefit, other than for individuals that have been notified of termination, because it cannot reasonably determine the
probability or the amount of such payments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This Statement defines fair value, estab-
lishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Prior
to SFAS 157, there were different definitions of fair value and limited guidance for applying those definitions in
GAAP. In developing this Statement, the FASB considered the need for increased consistency and comparability in
fair value measurements and for expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company is evaluating the effect that SFAS 157 will have on its consolidated financial statements
upon adoption of the Statement.

On September 13, 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
("SAB™) No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statement.” SAB 108 was issued in order to eliminate the diversity of practice surrounding
how public companies quantify financial statement misstatements. There are two widely recognized methods for
quantifying the effects of financial statement misstatements: the “roll-over” and “iron curtain” methods. The roli-
over method focuses primarily on the impact of the misstatement on the statement of operations and includes the
reversing effect of prior year misstatements. Because the focus is on the statement of operations, the roll-over
method can lead to accumulation of misstatements on the balance sheet that may be immaterial to the balance sheet
but correction in a single pericd could be material to the statement of operations. The iron curtain method focuses
primarily on the effect of correcting the accumulated balance as of the balance sheet date, essentially correcting the
balance sheet with less emphasis on the reversing effects of prior year errors on the statement of operations. In
SAB 108, the SEC staff established an approach that requires quantification of financial statement misstatements
based on the effects of the misstatements under both the iron curtain and roll-over method and is referred to as a
“dual approach.” SAB 108 permits a company to initially apply its provisions either by restating prior financial
statements as if the dual approach had always been used or recording the cumulative effect of initially applying the
dual approach as adjustments to the balance sheet as of January 1, 2006 with an offsetting adjustment recorded to
retained earnings. Use of the cumulative effect is not permitted to be used for otherwise immaterial misstatements
that may be identified by a company and requires such immaterial misstatements to be recorded in current period
earnings. The Company adopted SAB 108 in 2006 and such adoption did not have any effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF "} No. 06-3, “How Taxes
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities should be Presented in the Income State-
ment.” The scope of EITF 06-3 includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a
revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include, but is not limited to, sales, use,
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value added, Federal Universal Service Fund (“FUSF”) contributions and excise taxes. The Task Force affirmed its
conclusion that entities should present these taxes in the income statement on either a gross or a net basis, based on
their accounting policy, which should be disciosed pursuant to Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB™)
No. 22, “Disclosure of Accounting Policies.” If such taxes are significant, and are presented on a gross basis, the
amounts of those taxes should be disclosed. The consensus on EITF 06-3 will be effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company currently records transaction-based taxes on a
net basis, except for the FUSF charges billed to customers, in its consolidated statements of operations. The
Company believes that the adoption of EITF 06-3 will not have a significant effect to its consolidated financial
statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes"”
(“FIN 487). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” This Interpretation prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. FIN 48 is
effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company believes that the adoption of FIN 48
will not have a significant impact to its financial statements,

Risks and Uncertainties

Future results of operations involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Factors that could affect future
operating results and cash flows and cause actual results to vary materially from historical results include, but are
not limited to:

« changes in government policy, regulation and enforcement or adverse judicial or administrative interpre-
tations and rulings or legislative action relating to regulations, enforcement and pricing, including, but not
limited to, changes that affect the continued availability of the unbundled network elements of the local
exchange carriers’ networks and the costs associated therewith;

» the Company’s dependence on the availability and functionality of the networks of the incumbent local
exchange carriers;

» increased price competition in local and long distance services, including bundled services, and overall
competition within the telecommunications industry; and

* adverse determinations in certain litigation marters.

Negative developments in these areas could have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. In addition, the Company's financial results could differ materially from those
anticipated due to other risks and uncertainties.

2. Revenue Recognition

Revenues from recurring services are recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an arrangement between the
Company and the customer exists, (ii} service has been provided to the customer, (ii1) the price to the customer is
fixed or determinable, and (iv) collectibility of the sales price is reasonably assured. If a customer is experiencing
financial difficulties and, (a) is not current in making payments for the Company’s services or, (b) is essentially
current in making payments but, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the financial condition of such
customer deteriorates significantly or such customer files for bankruptcy protection, then, based on this informa-
tion, the Company may determine that the collectibility of revenues from this customer is not reasonably assured or
its ability to retain some or all of the payments received from a customer that has filed for bankruptcy protection is
not reasonably assured. Accordingly, the Company classifies this group of customers as “financially distressed” for
revenue recognition purposes. The Company recognizes revenues from financially distressed customers when it
collects cash for the services, assuming all other criteria for revenue recognition have been met, but only after the
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collection of all previous cutstanding accounts receivable balances. Payments received from financially distressed
customers during a defined period prior to their filing of petitions for bankruptcy protection are recorded in the
consolidated balance sheets caption “Unearned revenues” if the Company’s ability to retain these payments is not
reasonably assured.

Revenues earned for which the Company has not billed the customer are recorded as “Unbilled revenues” in
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Amounts billed in advance of providing service are deferred and
recorded as an element of the consolidated balance sheets caption “Unearned revennes.” Included in revenues are
FUSF charges billed to customers aggregating $6,949, $6,680 and $5,381 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Shipping and handling charges billed to customers are included in the Company’s net revenues with corresponding
amounts included in cost of sales.

The Company recognizes up-front fees associated with service activation, using the straight-line method, over
the expected term of the customer relationships, which ranges from 24 to 48 months. The Company treats the
incremental direct costs of service activation, which consist principally of CPE, service activation fees paid to other
telecommunications companies and sales commissions, as deferred charges in amounts that are no greater than the
up-front fees that are deferred. These deferred incremental direct costs are amortized to operations using the
straight-line method over 24 to 48 months.

The Company has billing disputes with some of its customers. These disputes arise in the ordinary course of
business in the telecommunications industry and their impact on the Company’s accounts receivable and revenues
can be reasonably estimated based on historical experience. In addition, certain revenues are subject to refund if the
end-user terminates service within 30 days of service activation. Accordingly, the Company maintains allowances,
through charges to revenues, based on the Company’s estimaites of (i) the ultimate resolution of the disputes and
(i) future service cancellations. The allowances for service credits and bad debt are calculated generally as a
percentage, based on historical trends, of balances that meet certain criteria plus specific reserves for known
disputes. As stated above, revenues from financially distressed customers are recognized when cash for the services
to those customers is collected but only after the collection of all previous outstanding accounts receivable balances.
Upon determining that a customer is financially distressed, the Company establishes an allowance, through a charge
to bad debt expense, based on such customer’s outstanding balance.

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

December 31,
2006 2005
Gross accounts receivable . . .. ... e $34,123  $31,398
Allowance for service credits . ..., .. . v i e e (2,729) (2,838)
Allowance forbad debts . ... ... ... . . . i i i e s (243) (486)
Accounts receivable, NEE . . ... ... .. e $31,151  $28,074
The Company’s accounts receivable valuation accounts were as follows:
December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Allowance for service credits:
Balance at beginning of period. . .. ......... .. ... .. .. ... $2838 351405 §$2124
PrOVISION. | ., e i e e e 4,536 9,333 4914
WrHte-0ffs . . .o e e 4,645y  (7,330)  (5,136)
ReCOVEIIES . . i e e e e e, — (570) (497}
Balance atend of period . . ... ... ... . .. $2729 $2838 §$1405
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December 31,
2006 2005 2004

Allowance for bad debts:

Balance at beginning of period ... ...... ... .. . oo iaiiin, $486 %161 $2,750
PrOVISION . . ottt et it et e e e e 173 800 487
Write-offs. . ............ e it e e e (416) (329) (1,051}
Tt e =, =1 — (146) (2,025
Balance atendof period . . . ... ... . i $243 3486 § 161

Significant Customers

For 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s 30 largest wholesale customers, in each such year, collectively
accounted for 91.1%, 92.2% and 93.4%, respectively, of the Company’s total wholesale net revenues, and 60.6%,
65.4% and 67.4%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
receivables from these customers collectively accounted for 53.1% and 56.3%, respectively, of the Company’s gross
accounts receivable balance.

For 2006 and 2003, two of the Company’s wholesale customers, AT&T and EarthLink, individually accounted
for 14.3% and 11.1%, and 16.3% and 14.6%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues. AT&T’s percentage
of 14.3% and 16.3% for 2006 and 20085, respectively, includes the net revenues for AT&T and SBC, which became
one entity in 2005, For 2004, EarthLink and AT&T individually accounted for 16.9% and 13.8%, respectively, of the
Company’s total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, accounts receivable from EarthLink and AT&T
individually accounted for 12.8% and 10.5%, and 15.3% and 10.2%, respectively, of the Company’s gross accounts
receivables. No other individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total net revenues for
2006, 2005 and 2004.

Wholesaler Financial Difficulties

In 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company issued billings to its financially distressed customers aggregating
$2,161, $2.897 and $3,517, respectively, which were not recognized as revenues or accounts receivable in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements at the time of such billings. However, in accordance with the
revenue recognition policy described above, the Company recognized revenues from certain of these customers
when cash was collected aggregating $2,218, $2,757 and $2,823 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. For 2006,
2005 and 2004, revenues from customers that filed for bankruptcy accounted for approximately 0.1%, 0.3% and
0.3%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had
contractual receivables from its financially distressed customers totaling $470 and $666, respectively, which are not
reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of such date. Although MCI filed for bankruptcy
protection on July 21, 2002, the Company continued to recognize revenues from MCI on an accrual basis based on
its specific facts and circumstances in relation to the revenue recognition criteria described above. Consequently,
the amounts in this paragraph related to financially disiressed customers exclude amounts pertaining to MCI.

The Company has identified certain of its customers who were essentially current in their payments for the
Company’s services prior to December 31, 2006, or have subsequently paid all or significant portions of the
respective amounts that the Company recorded as accounts receivable as of December 31, 2006, that the Company
believes may be at risk of becoming financially distressed. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, revenues from these customers
collectively accounted for approximately 1.3%, 11.0% and 7.7%, respectively, of the Company’s total net revenues.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, receivables from these customers collectively accounted for 1.4% and 13.8%,
respectively, of the Company's gross accounts receivable balance. If these customers are unable to demonstrate their
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ability to pay for the Company’s services in a timely manner in periods ending subsequent 1o 2006, revenue from
such customers will only be recognized when cash is collected, as described above.

3. Restructuring and Post-Employment Benefits
Reduction in Force

The Company reduced its workforce in 2006, 2005 and 2004 by approximately 61, 155 and 77 employees,
respectively. These reductions represented approximately 5.8%, 13.6% and 6.9% of the Company s workforce for
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The reductions covered employees in the areas of sales and marketing,
operations and corporate functions. In connection with the reductions in force, the Company recorded employee
severance benefits of $1,597 for 2006, of which $1,523 was paid in 2006 and the remaining $74 was paid after
December 31, 2006, $3,640 for 2005, of which $1,910 was paid in 2005 and the remaining $1,730 was paid after
December 31, 2005, and $1,409 for 2004, of which $426 was paid after December 31, 2004, For 2006 the expenses
associated with the reductions in force were $232, $479 and $886 related to the Company’s Wholesale segment,
Direct segment and Corporate Operations, respectively. For 2005 the expenses associated with the reductions in
force were $285, $397 and $2,958 related to the Company’s Wholesale segment, Direct segment and Corporate
Operations, respectively. For 2004 the expenses associated with the reductions in force were $374, $281 and $754
related to the Company’s Wholesale segment, Direct segment and Corporate Operations, respectively. The
Company continues to evaluate whether additional restructuring is necessary, and it may incur additional charges
to operations related to any further restructuring activities in future periods, however at this time the Company
cannot reasonably predict the probability or the impact of such event.

Other Restructuring Activities

On September 22, 2000, the Company acquired BlueStar Communications Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(collectively “BlueStar”), in a transaction accounted for as a purchase. BlueStar, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, provided broadband communications and Internet services to small and medium-sized businesses.
Continued losses at BlueStar cavsed the Company’s board of directors to decide, on June 22, 2001, to cease the
Company’s funding of BlueStar’s operations.

On June 23, 2001, BlueStar made an irrevocable assignment for the benefit of creditors (“ABC”) of all its
assets to an independent trustee (the “Assignee”) in the State of Tennessee. An ABC under Tennessee law is a non-
judicial alternative to a plan of liquidation under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the ABC,
BlueStar’s former assets were no longer controlled by BlueStar or the Company and could not be used by either
BlueStar’s or the Company’s board of directors to satisfy the liabilities of BlueStar and the liquidation of BlueStar’s
assets and the settlement of its liabilities was under the sole control of the Assignee. Consequently, the Company
deconsolidated BlueStar effective June 25, 2001, which resulted in the recognition of a deferred gain in the amount
of $55,200 in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001. This deferred gain represented
the difference between the carrying values of BlueStar’s assets (aggregating $7,900) and liabilities (aggregating
$63,100) as of June 25, 2001. During 2003 and 2002, the deferred gain was reduced by $9 and $1,228, respectively,
because certain BlueStar assets were inadvertently not deconsolidated on June 25, 2001. As of December 31, 2004,
the amount of this deferred gain was $53,963.

On February 4, 2005, the Seventh Circuit Court for Davidson County, Tennessee ordered the Assignee in the
ABC to make a final distribution of funds of the estates to holders of allowed claims. Such final distribution has been
made. As a result of the completion of the ABC, the Company recognized a deferred gain of $53,963 in 2005.
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,
2006 2005
Leasehold IMProVements . .. .. ... v ove ittt n e $ 10952 §$ 10,880
Computer eqUIPIMENt . . . . .. ..ottt 51,066 50,797
Computer software . ... ... . e 60,789 57,362
Furniture and fiXtUres ... ... ... oo i e 16,866 16,268
Network and communication equipment. . . ... ..o oot 442914 403,071
582,587 538,378
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. .. ........... ..., ... 495,001 466,715
Property and equipment, NEt . . .. ... oo oon ettt e $ 87,586 § 71,663
5. Collocation Fees and Other Intangibles Assets
Collocation fees and other intangibles assets consisted of the following:
December 31,
2006 2005
Collocation fees ... .. ..ttt e e $100,458 $ 97,243
CUStOmMET LIStS . o o ot i i it e e s 19,241 10,470

119,699 107,713
Less accumulated amortization:

Collocation fees. . . . oot it e e e 87,104 80,548
CUSTOMET JISES .« .« o o vt e e e et ettt et e e et e e e e 0,827 6,450
Collocation fees and other intangibles assets, net . .................... $ 22,768 $ 20,715

6. Business Acquisition, Asset Acquisitions and Equity Investments

Acquisition of DataFlo’s Assets

In September 2006, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire substantiaily all of the assets of DataFlo
Communications, LLC, (“DataFlo”) a Chicago-based broadband fixed wireless provider, for approximately $1,400
in cash, of which $1,183 was paid in 2006. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company may be required to pay
the remaining balance of $177 in the first quarter of 2007, depending upon the result of recurring revenues collected
from customers.

The tangible assets of DataFlo purchased by the Company aggregating $366 consisted of accounts receivable
and property and equipment. The liabilities of DataFlo assumed by the Company aggregating $102 consisted of
capital leases and deferred revenues.

The customer list was valued using an income approach, which projects the revenue, expenses, and cash flows
attributable to the customer list over its estimated life of forty-eight months. These cash flows are discounted to their
present value. Through December 31, 2006, this intangible asset of approximately $1,000 was being amortized on a
straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of forty-eight months.

Acquisition of NextWeb

On February 16, 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
NextWeb, a California corporation based in Fremont, California. NextWeb utilizes licensed and unlicensed fixed
wireless technology to deliver business-class fixed wireless broadband services to small and medium-sized
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businesses. Through NextWeb, the Company currently provides service to approximately 3,000 business customers
in the San Francisco Bay Area, Los Angeles, Orange County (California), Santa Barbara and Las Vegas.

The Company acquired NextWeb to accelerate its entry into the emerging wireless broadband market. As a
result of the acquisition the Company has added various fixed wireless broadband services to its current portfolio of
products and services. These factors contributed to a purchase price that was in excess of the fair value of
NextWeb’s net tangible and intangible assets acquired and, as a result, the Company recorded goodwill in
connection with this transaction. The acquisition was effectuated by merging a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company with and into NextWeb, with NextWeb surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. The merger is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization.

As a result of the merger, the Company issued 15,361 shares of its common stock and $3,683 in cash in
exchange for all of the outstanding shares of capital stock held by the NextWeb stockholders. Of the shares issued in
conjunction with the merger, 1,395 shares have been placed in an escrow account until February 2007 to cover
NextWeb’s indemnification obligations under the merger agreement. In February 2007, approximately 778 of these
shares were released to the former NextWeb shareholders. The remaining shares will remain in escrow as a result of
certain claims filed by the Company against the escrow account.

The Company accounted for the acquisition of NextWeb using the purchase method of accounting. Accord-
ingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2006 and for the vear then ended,
include the results of operations of NextWeb after the date of acquisition. The Company valued the common shares
issued, for accounting purposes, at $1.06 per share, which is based on the average closing price for a range of two
trading days before and after the measurement date of the transaction, October 4, 2005. All of the NextWeb stock
options and warrants were vested and exercised before the acquisition. Consequently, there were no outstanding
NextWeb stock options and warrants assumed in connection with the merger. Direct acquisition costs were included
as elements of the total purchase cost.

The total purchase cost of the NextWeb acquisition has been allocated to the assets and liabilities of NextWeb
based upon estimates of their fair values. The following tables set forth the total purchase cost and the allocation
thereof:

Total purchase cost:

Cash . o e e e $ 3,683
Value of common shares issued. .. ... .. ... L e 16,314
19,997
ACQUISIHON COSES . ..\ et e e 327
Total purchase COSE . . .. v v vttt i e e e e $20,324
Purchase price allocation:
Tangible assets acquired . ... ... o o e e $ 4918
Liabilities asstmed . . .. ... it e e e e (5,662)
Intangible assets acquired:
Customer relationships .. ... ... ... . 7.630
INOD-COMPELE COVENANL . . .. vt i vt ettt it et et e e et ca e e e s 40
Goodwill . ... e 13,398
Total purchase consideration ... ........... . . . . . it i $20,324

The tangible assets of NextWeb acquired by the Company aggregating $4,918 consisted principally of cash,
accounts receivable and property and equipment. The liabilities of NextWeb assumed by the Company aggregating
$5.,662 consisted principally of accounts payable, accrued expenses, capital leases and long-term debt.
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The customer relationships were valued using an income approach, which projects the associated revenues,
expenses and cash flows attributable to the customer base. These cash flows are then discounted to their present
value. Through December 31, 2006, this intangible asset was being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period
of forty-eight months which represents the expected life of the customer relationships.

Goodwill was determined based on the residual difference between the purchase cost and the value assigned to
identified tangible and intangible assets and liabilities, and is not deductible for tax purposes. The Company tests for
impairment of these assets on at least an annual basis.

Pro-forma financial information, as if the acquisition of NextWeb had occurred at the beginning of the period
presented, is not included as the Company determined that such information is not material to the Company’s
consolidated revenues and net loss.

As part of the acquisition of NextWeb, the Company issued an aggregate of 706 shares to several employees
and former employees of NextWeb pursuant to NextWeb’s bonus plan. The Company valued these shares at $750,
based on the Company’s fair value of the shares issued as described above.

Acquisition of GoBeam

On June 8, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
GoBeam, a Delaware corporation based in Pleasanton, California, that provides VoIP solutions to small and
medium-sized busjnesses. The Company acquired GoBeam to accelerate its plan to enter the VolP market. As a
result of the acquisition, the Company has added a VoIP offering to its current portfolio of products and services.
These factors contributed to a purchase price that was in excess of the fair value of GoBeam’s net tangible and
intangible assets acquired and, as a result, the Company recorded goodwill in connection with this transaction. The
acquisition was effectuated by merging a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company with and into GoBeam, with
GoBeam surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The merger is intended to qualify asa
tax-free reorganization.

As a result of the merger, the Company issued 18,724 shares of its common stock. Additionally, the Company
has reserved 266 shares to cover shares issuable upon exercise of assumed GoBeam stock options and 3 shares to
cover assumed warrants. Of the shares issued in conjunction with the merger, 2,216 shares were placed in an escrow
account to cover GoBeam'’s indemnification obligations under the merger agreement. The Company released the
shares from escrow during 2003,

The Company accounted for the acquisition of GoBeam using the purchase method of accounting. Accord-
ingly, the Company’s consolidated financial statements include the results of operations of GoBeam for periods
ending after the date of acquisition. The Company valued the common share options and warrants issued, for
accounting purposes, based on an average market price of $2.08 per share, which is based on the average closing
price for a range of two trading days before and after the measurement date of the transaction, June 4, 2004. The
outstanding GoBeam stock options were converted into options to purchase approximately 266 shares of the
Company's common stock. In addition, the outstanding GoBeam warrants were converted into warrants to purchase
3 shares of the Company’s common stock. The value of the options and warrants was determined using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with inputs of 128.4 percent for volatility, four-year expected life and a risk-free
interest rate of 3.27%. The values of the options and assumed warrants, as well as direct acquisition costs, were
included as elements of the total purchase cost.
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The total purchase cost of the GoBeam acquisition has been allocated to the assets and liabilities of GoBeam
based upon estimates of their fair values. The following tables set forth the total purchase cost and the allocation
thereof:

Total purchase cost:

Value of common shares issued. . .. .. ..ot i e e e $38.910
Value of assumed GoBeam options and warrants .. ................ ... ... ..., 454
39,364
ACqUISILION COSIS . ... v v vttt in i i P R R P R R 473
Total purchase COSt. . . ..ottt i e e e e $39,837
Purchase price allocation:
Tangible net Habilities acquired. .. ... .. ... . $(4,479)
Intangible assets acquired:
Customer relationships . ... ... e e e 6,600
Internal UsSe SOfTWALE. . . . ... .t i e 1,050
Goodwill ... .. e e e 36,626
Total purchase consideration .. ... . ... . i it $39,837

The tangible assets of GoBeam acquired by the Company aggregating $1,723 consisted principally of cash,
accounts receivable and property and equipment. The liabilities of GoBeam assumed by the Company aggregating
$6,202 consisted principally of accounts payable and accrued expenses.

The customer relationships were valued using an income approach, which projects the associated revenue,
expenses and cash flows attributable to the customer base. These cash flows are then discounted to their present
value. Through December 31, 2006, this intangible asset was being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period
of forty-eight months which represents the expected life of the customer relationships.

The internal use sofiware was valued using the replacement cost approach, This approach estimates value
based upon estimated cost to recreate the software with equivalent functionality. Through December 31, 2006, this
intangible asset was being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of sixty months.

Goodwill was determined based on the residual difference between the purchase cost and the values assigned
to identified tangible and intangible assets and liabilities, and is not deductible for tax purposes, The Company tests
for impairment of these assets on at least an annual basis.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations of the
Company as if the acquisition of GoBeam had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. For 2004, net loss
included GoBeam merger expenses of $4,247. This financial information does not purport to be indicative of the
results of the operations that would have occurred had the acquisition been made at the beginning of the periods
presented, or the results that may occur in the future:

Year Ended December 31,
2004
REVEIUE & . .ottt ittt ettt ittt e e $432,148
Nt 0SS o ittt e e e e e e $(68,331)
Basic and diluted net loss per share . . . .. ......... ... criuiinen... $ (.27

Upon closing of the acquisition of GoBeam, the Company effectively granted 337 shares of restricted common
stock to certain employees of GoBeam. The restricted stock was valued on the date of issuance at $1.96 and vested
over a period of two years. Accordingly the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation of $660 in 2004.
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In 2004, as a result of the resignation of one of the Company executives, the Company reversed $289 of such
deferred stock-based compensation and cancelled 148 shares of the restricted common stock. The remaining net
deferred stock-based compensation balance of $371 at December 31, 2004 is being amortized on an accelerated
basis over the vesting period consistent with the method described in FIN 28. For 2006, 2005 and 2004, the
Company recognized $5, $185 and $181, respectively, of stock-based compensation related to such amount.

As part of the acquisition of GoBeam the Company sold 834 shares for $1,781, or $2.13 per share, to pay for
GoBeam’s merger expenses.
Unconsolidated Investments in Affiliates

The following table lists the Company’s unconsolidated investments in affiliates as of December 31, 2006 and
2005:

Investment
Ownership Carrying
Percentage  arethod of Value
Entity Nanwe Date of Investment(s) 2006 2005 Accounting 2006 2005
ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. . ... August 2000 — —  Equity —_ -
Certive Corporation ......... November 1999; May 2000 0.01%0.01% Equity - —

ACCA Networks Co., Lid.

In August 2000, the Company acquired a 42% preferred equity interest in ACCA Networks Co., Ltd.
(“ACCA”), a privately held, Japanese telecommunications company, in exchange for cash payments aggregating
approximately $11,700, which the Company believed was representative of the fair value of such investment based
on significant concurrent investments in ACCA made by new, non-strategic investors, The difference between the
cost of the Company’s equity investment in ACCA and its proportional share of ACCA’s net assets had been fully
amortized as of December 31, 2001. The Company sold its equity position, or 10 shares, in ACCA during 2005. Asa
result of the sale the Company recorded a net realized gain of $28,844 in 2005.

In addition, in August 2000, the Company also licensed its OSS software to ACCA for $9,000, of which $2,000
and $2,000 was received in cash during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The remainder of $5,000, which was scheduled
to be received in 2005, was received in 2003 in accordance with an amendment to the August 2000 OSS software
license agreement. The Company recorded the $5,000 payment received in 2003 as miscellaneous income, because
the carrying value of the OSS software licensed to ACCA was fully recovered at that time. The Company received
royalty payments of $2,174, $1,832 and $2,124 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As stated above, the OSS
software licensed to ACCA had a net book vatue of zero at December 31, 2003. Beginning in 2004, the Company
records royalty payments as other revenue. The term of the OSS license agreement and royalty payments expired at
the end of 2005. In December 2005, the Company granted ACCA, effective Janvary 1, 2006, a fully paid-up
perpetual license to its OSS software for a one-time payment of $1,750. Such amount was received in December
2005 and recorded by the Company as unearned revenues. The Company recognized this amount as revenue in
2006.

Certive Corporation

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company held a 0.01% and 0.01%, respectively, preferred equity
interest in Certive, a privately held, development stage application service provider. The Company’s chairman of
the board of directors is also a significant stockholder of Certive.

79



COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

7. Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements
12% Senior Secured Convertible Notes

On March 15, 2006, the Company entered into a strategic agreement with EarthLink to further build and
deploy the Company’s LPVA services. The transaction contemplated by such agreement was consummated on
March 29, 2006. In conjunction with the agreement, the Company received from EarthLink (i) $10,000 in exchange
for 6,135 shares of the Company’s common stock, and (ii) $40,000 in exchange for a 12% senior secured convertible
note (*“Note”). Principal on the Note is payable on March 15, 2011. EarthLink may require the Company to
accelerate its repayment of the remaining principal amount of the Note in certain circumstances, such as if the
Company undergoes a change in control or fails to meet specific service obligations to EarthLink. As of
December 31, 2006, the Company was in compliance with such agreement. Interest on the Note is payable on
March 15 and September 15 of each year, commencing on September 15, 2006, and may be paid in cash or in
additional notes of the Company, identical to and of the same series as the Note. The Note (i) is a general secured
obligation of the Company, (ii} is collateralized by certain property, plant and equipment purchased with the
proceeds of the Note pursuant to the terms of a security agreement entered into between the Company and
EarthLink, (iii} will rank without partiality in right of payment with all existing and future secured, unsubordinated
indebtedness of the Company, and (iv) will be senior in right of payment to all unsecured indebtedness and
subordinated indebtedness of the Company.

The Note will be initially convertible into 21,505 shares of the Company’s common stock, reflecting an initial
conversion price of $1.86 per share. In the event that the Company makes all interest payments through the issuance
of additional notes, these will be convertible into an additional 17,007 shares of the Company’s common stock,
reflecting a conversion price of $1.86 per share. The conversion rate will be subject 1o weighted-average antidilution
protection as set forth in the Note agreement. In no event will the Note and any additional notes be converted into an
aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock which in the aggregate exceeds 19.9% of the then
outstanding shares of its common stock. The Note will be iritially convertible beginning on March 15, 2008, or
upon a change of control of the Company, if occurring earlier. If not converted, the Company will be required to
offer to redeem the Note at 100% of the principal amount thereof upon a change of control.

The 6,135 shares of the Company’s common stock and the underlying shares of the Note discussed above are
subject to the terms of a registration rights agreement between the Company and EarthLink. The Note and the
6,135 shares were issued to EarthLink in reliance on the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(2) of
the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), as amended. Under the registration rights agreement that the
Company entered into with EarthLink, the Company agreed to file a registration statement on Form S-3 with the
SEC to register the resale of the 6,135 shares and the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Note. The
registration statement was declared effective on June 20, 2006.

Gross proceeds from the Note and the shares of the Company’s common stock amounted to $40,000 and
$10,000, respectively. The Company incurred $1,929 in transaction costs in conjunction with the issuance of the
Note and the shares. Of the transaction costs, $1,543 are debt issuance costs and are being amortized to operations as
an element of interest expense over the five-year life of the debt. $386 of the transaction costs were recorded as a
reduction of additional paid-in capital in conjunction with the issuance of the Company’s common stock.

On September 15, 2006, the Company settled the semi-annual interest payment obligation on the above
described convertible note with EarthLink. The interest obligation amounted to $2,240. As permitted by the Note,
the Company settled the interest due by issuing an additional note with the same terms as the original note.

3% Convertible Senior Debentures

On March 10, 2004, the Company completed a private placement of $125,000 in aggregate principal amount of
3% convertible senior debentures (“Debentures™) due 2024, which are convertible into shares of the Company’s
common stock at a conversion price of approximately $3.1742 per share, subject to certain adjustments, The
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Debentures mature on March 13, 2024, The Company may redeem some or all of the Debentures for cash at any
time on or after March 20, 2009. Holders of the Debentures have the option to require the Company to purchase the
Debentures in cash, in whole or in part, on March 15, 2009, 2014 and 2019. The holders of the Debentures will also
have the ability to require the Company to purchase the Debentures in the event that the Company undergoes a
change in control. In each case, the redemption or purchase price would be at 100% of their principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest thereon. Net proceeds from the Debentures were approximately $119.961 after
commission and other transaction costs. The Company incurred approximately $5,039 in transaction costs in
conjunction with the placement of the Debentures. The transaction costs are debt issuance costs and are being
amortized to operations as an element of interest expense over sixty months, the period before the first date that
Debenture holders have the option to require the Company to purchase the Debentures.

Line of Credit

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $5,750 revolving line of credit note with Wells Fargo Bank.
Borrowings under this credit facility bore interest at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate, which was 7.25% at
December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had issued irrevocable letters of credit aggregating
$5,190 under this line of credit in favor of lessors of facilities. The SVB credit line mentioned below replaced this
credit line which was cancelled in April 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the amount of revolving line of credit that
was available was $373. There was no outstanding principal balance as of December 31, 2005.

On April 13, 2006, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with
Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”). The Loan Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility for up to $50,000,
subject to specified borrowing base limitations. At the Company’s option, the revolving line bears an interest rate
equal to SVB’s prime rate or LIBOR plus specified margins. The revolving credit facility matures on April 13,2008,
As collateral for the loan under the Loan Agreement, the Company has granted security interests in substantially all
of its real and personal property, other than intellectual property and equipment purchased with the proceeds
received from the agreement with EarthLink. The Company has also provided a negative pledge on its intellectual
property. As of December 31, 2006, the Company issued irrevocable letters of credit aggregating $3,796 under this
loan in favor of lessors of equipment and facilities and certain vendors. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had
an outstanding principal balance of $6,100, which carried an interest rate of 8.25% plus a margin of 0.25%.
Borrowings under the facility are limited by an amount of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable and cash. As
of December 31, 2006, the Company had $36,084 of funds available under the credit facility as a result of
borrowings, letters of credit, and the borrowing base limitations. As the available borrowing under the facility is
limited, the amount available at any time may be substantially less than $50,000 and the facility could be
unavailable in certain circomstances.

The Loan Agreement imposes various limitations on the Company, including without limitation, on its ability
to: (i) transfer all or any part of its businesses or properties, merge or consolidate, or acquire all or substantially all of
the capital stock or property of another company; (i) engage in a new business; (iii) incur additional indebtedness or
liens with respect to any of its properties; (iv) pay dividends or make any other distribution on or purchase of, any of
its capital stock; (v) make investments in other companies; (vi) make payments in respect of any subordinated debt;
or (vii) make capital expenditures, measured on a consolidated basis, in excess of $25,000 in 2006, and $30,000 in
2007, subject to certain exceptions, such as capital expenditures that are funded by a strategic investor like
EarthLink. The Loan Agreement also contains certain customary representations and warranties, covenants, notice
and indemnification provisions, and events of default, including changes of control, cross-defaults to other debt,
judgment defaults and material adverse changes to the Company’s business. In addition, the Loan Agreement
requires the Company to maintain specified liquidity ratios and tangible net worth levels. As of December 31, 2006,
the Company was in compliance with the above described limitations, covenants and conditions of the line of credit.
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8. Capital Leases

The capitalized costs and accumulated amortization related to assets under capital leases, primarily comprised
of computer equipment and office equipment, were $3,565 and $2,004, respectively, as of December 31, 2006. The
corresponding amounts were $1,693 and $1,487, respectively, as of December 31, 2005.

9. Operating Leases, Commitments and Purchase Obligations
Operating Leases

The Company leases vehicles, equipment and office space under various non-cancelable operating leases. The
facility leases generally require the Company to pay operating costs, including property taxes, insurance and
maintenance, and contain scheduled rent increases and certain other rent escalation clauses. The Company
recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Future minimum lease
payments by year under operating leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of one year, along with future
minimum payments to be received under non-cancelable subleases, are as follows:

Gross Lease Less Sublease Net Lease

Payments Payments Payments

Year ending December 31, 2007............. ... ...... $ 6,526 $30 $ 6,496
2008 .. e e 6,080 _ 6,080
2000 L e e e 4,215 — 4,215
2000 .. e 2,586 — 2,586
2001 e 674 —_ 674
Thereafter. . . ... ... . i e 49 — 49
Total ... e $20,130 $30 $20,100

Commitments

Effective November 15, 2006, the Company acquired certain assets from DataFlo and assumed its office lease
obligation for an office in Chicago, Illinois. This lease increased the Company lease commitments by approx-
imately $59. In addition, the Company assumed DataFlo’s leases for wireless collocation sites. These leases
increased the Company’s lease commitments by approximately $225.

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company entered into an agreement to extend the terms of its office lease in
Atlanta, Georgia. The extension is for a period of one year which commenced on April 1, 2006. The extension of the
lease increased the Company lease commitments by approximately $70.

Effective December 8, 2006, the Company entered into a three year lease agreement for an office in Rosemont,
linois, to replace the office in Schaumburg, Illinois. The lease is expected to commence in April 2007. This lease
increased the Company’s lease commitments by approximately $108.

Effective October 6, 2006, the Company entered into a five year lease agreement for an office in Camarillo,
California, to replace the office in that same city, The lease is expected to commence in February 2007. This lease
increased the Company’s lease commitments by approximately $434.

Effective October 10, 2006, the Company entered into a three year lease agreement for an office in Las Vegas,
Nevada, to replace the office in that same city. The lease commenced November 1, 2006. This lease increased the
Company’s lease commitments by approximately $66.

Effective February 17, 2006, the Company acquired NextWeb and assumed all its office lease obligations,
which includes offices in Fremont, CA, Garden Grove, CA, Camarillo, CA and Las Vegas, NV. These leases
increased the Company’s lease commitments by approximately $768. In addition, the Company assumed
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NextWeb’s leases for wireless collocation sites. These leases increased the Company’s lease commitments by
approximately $2,212.

Rent expense, which is net of sublease income of $57, $56 and $501 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
totaled $8.014, $6,253 and $6,571 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Purchase Obligations

In 2002, the Company entered into a three-year, non-exclusive agreement with MCI, for the right to provide
certain network services to the Company. The Company had a monthly minimum usage requirement which began in
June 2002. The agreement expired in May 2005 and the Company has no remaining aggregate purchase obligation
for this particular agreement as of December 31, 2006, The Company entered into a new three-year, non-exclusive
agreement with MCI in November 20035. The Company has a minimum purchase commitment of $13,200 with MCl
that includes five commitment milestone periods between December 2005 and December 2007. Similarly, in 2002,
the Company entered into a four-year, non-exclusive agreement with AT&T for the right to provide long distance
services to the Company. The Company has an annual minimum usage requirement which began in April 2002. The
agreement expired in March 2006 and the Company has no remaining aggregate purchase obligation for this
particular agreement.

Aggregate payments by year for the Company’s purchase obligations are as follows:
Year ending December 31, 2007. .. .. .. . L e $5,845

Cost of sales recognized pursuant to the aforementioned purchase obligations totaled $7,181, $6,725 and
$8,000, for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

10. Contingencies
Litigation

Several stockholders have filed complaints in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York, on behalf of themselves and purported classes of stockholders, against the Company and several former and
current officers and directors in addition to some of the underwriters who handled the Company’s stock offerings.
These lawsuits are so-called IPO allocation cases, challenging practices allegedly used by certain underwriters of
public equity offerings during the late 1990s and 2000. On April 19, 2002, the plaintiffs amended their complaint
and removed the Company as a defendant. Certain directors and officers are still named in the complaint. The
plaintiffs claim that the Company and others failed to disclose the arrangements that some of these underwriters
purportedly made with certain investors. The plaintiffs and the issuer defendants have reached a tentative agreement
to settle the matier, and the Company believes the tentative settlement will not have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial position or results of operations. That settlement, however, has not been finalized. If the
settlement is not finalized, the Company believes these officers and directors have strong defenses to these lawsuits
and intend to contest them vigorously. However, litigation is inherently unpredictable and there is no guarantee that
these officers and directors will prevail.

In June 2002, Dhruv Khanna was relieved of his duties as the Company’s General Counsel and Secretary.
Shortly thereafier, Mr. Khanna alleged that, over a period of years, certain current and former directors and officers
had breached their fiduciary duties to the Company by engaging in or approving actions that constituted waste and
self-dealing, that certain current and former directors and officers had provided false representations to the
Company’s auditors and that he had been relieved of his duties in retaliation for his being a purported whistleblower
and because of racial or national origin discrimination. He threatened to file a shareholder derivative action against
those current and former directors and officers, as well as a wrongful termination lawsuit. Mr. Khanna was placed on
paid leave while his allegations were being investigated.
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The Company’s board of directors appointed a special investigative committee, which initiaily consisted of L.
Dale Crandall and Hellene Runtagh, to investigate the allegations made by Mr. Khanna. Richard Jalkut was
appointed to this committee shortly after he joined the Company’s board of directors. This committee retained an
independent law firm to assist in its investigation. Based on this investigation, the committee concluded that
Mr. Khanna’s allegations were without merit and that it would not be in the best interests of the Company to
commence litigation based on these allegations. The committee considered, among other things, that many of
Mr. Khanna’s allegations were not accurate, that certain allegations challenged business decisions lawfully made by
management or the board, that the transactions challenged by Mr. Khanna in which any director had an interest were
approved by a majority of disinterested directors in accordance with Delaware law, that the challenged director and
officer representations to the auditors were true and accurate, and that Mr. Khanna was not relieved of his duties as a
result of retaliation for alleged whistleblowing or racial or national origin discrimination. Mr. Khanna has disputed
the committee’s work and the outcome of its investigation.

After the committee’s findings had been presented and analyzed, the Company concluded in January 2003 that
it would not be appropriate to continue Mr. Khanna on paid leave status, and determined that there was no suitable
roie for him at the Company. Accordingly, he was terminated as an empltoyee of the Company.

Based on the events mentioned above, in September 2003, Mr. Khanna filed a purported class action and a
derivative lawsuit against the Company’s current and former directors in the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware in and for New Castle County. On August 3, 2004, Mr. Khanna amended his Complaint and two
additional purported sharchoiders joined the lawsuit. In this action the plaintiffs seek recovery on behalf of the
Company from the individual defendants for their purported breach of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs also seek to
invalidate the Company’s election of directors in 2002, 2003 and 2004 because they claim that the Company’s proxy
statements were misleading. On May 9, 2006, the court dismissed several of the claims for breach of fiduciary duty
as well as the claims relating to the Company’s proxy statements. The court also determined that Mr. Khanna could
no longer serve as a plaintiff in this matter. The litigation with respect to the remaining claims is still pending, and
the Company is unable to predict the outcome of this lawsuit.

The Company is also a party to a variety of other pending or threatened legal proceedings as either plaintiff or
defendant, or is engaged in business disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. Failure to resolve these
various legal disputes and controversies without excessive delay and cost and in a manner that is favorable to the
Company could significantly harm its business. The Company does not believe the ultimate outcome of these
matters will have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows,
However, litigation is inherently unpredictable, and there is no guarantee the Company will prevail or otherwise not
be adversely affected.

The Company is subject to state public utility commission (“PUC™), Federal Communications Commission
(“*FCC’}) and other regulatory and court decisions as they relate to the interpretation and implementation of the 1996
Telecommunications Act. In addition, the Company is engaged in a variety of legal negotiations, arbitrations and
regulatory and court proceedings with multiple telephone companies. These negotiations, arbitrations and pro-
ceedings concern the telephone companies’ denial of central office space, the cost and delivery of transmission
facilities and telephone lines and central office spaces, billing issues and other operational issues. Other than the
payment of legal fees and expenses, which are not quantifiable but are expected to be material, the Company does
not believe that these matters will result in material liability to it and the potential gains are not quantifiable at this
time. An unfavorable result in any of these negotiations, arbitrations and proceedings, however, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows if it is
denied or charged higher rates for transmission lines or central office spaces.

Other Contingencies

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had disputes with a number of telecommunications companies
concerning the balances owed to such carriers for collocation fees and certain network services. The Company
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believes that such disputes will be resolved without a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. However, it is reasonably possible that the Company’s estimates of its
collocation fee and network service obligations, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
could change in the near term, and the effects could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

The Company performs on-going research and analysis of the applicability of certain transaction-based taxes
to sales of its products and services and purchases of telecommunications circuits from various carriers. This
research and analysis may include discussions with authorities of jurisdictions in which the Company does business
and transaction-based Lax experts to determine the extent of the Company’s transaction-based tax liabilities. It is the
Company’s opinion that these activities will be concluded without a material adverse effect on its consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, it is reasonably possible that the Company’s
estimates of its transaction-based tax liabilities, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, could
change in the near term, and the effects could be material to the Company s consolidated financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

The Company recorded an estimated liability for employment-related taxes for certain stock-based compen-
sation provided to employees through a charge to operations in the amount of $5,931 in 2003. [n 2006, 2005 and
2004, the Company determined that it does not owe a portion of this tax, approximately $2,103, $419 and $3,079,
respectively, as a result of the expiration of the statute of limitations, and consequently, released the amount as a
benefit to operations. It is the Company’s opinion that the remaining liability will be resolved without a material
adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Indemnification Agreements

From time to time, the Company enters into certain types of contracts that contingently require it to indernnify
various parties against claims from third parties. These contracts primarily relate to: (i) certain real estate leases,
under which the Company may be required to indemnify property owners for environmental and other liabilities,
and other claims arising from the Company’s use of the applicable premises, (i} certain agreements with the
Company’s officers, directors and employees, under which the Company may be required to indemnify such
persons for liabilities arising out of their employment relationship, (iii) contracts under which the Company may be
required to indemnify customers against third-party claims that a Company product infringes a patent, copyright ot
other intellectual property right and (iv) procurement or license agreements under which the Company may be
required to indemnify licensors or vendors for certain claims that may be brought against them arising from the
Company’s acts or omissions with respect to the supplied products or technology.

Generally, a maximum obligation under these contracts is not explicitly stated. Because the obligated amounts
associated with these types of agreements are not explicitly stated, the overall maximum amount of the obligation
cannot be reasonably estimated. The Company has accrued $726 as a result of an indemnification clause in a
contract with one of its customers that is a defendant in a patent infringement dispute. The Company may incur
additional expenses in future periods, but the probability and amount of these obligations cannot be reasonably
estimated.

11. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

0 and 21 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively,
were subject to repurchase provisions, which generally lapse over a two-year period from the date of issuance.
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Common stock reserved for future issuance as of December 31, 2006 was as follows;

Outstanding Options . .. ... i e 23,082
Options available for grant . . . ... ... ... L 15,361
Employee stock purchase plan .. ... ... ... . ... . . 5,989
Convertible debentures . . .. ... ... 62,089
Outstanding Warrants . .. .. ... ... e e 6,514

Total .. e 113,035

Stockholder Protection Rights Plan

On February 15, 2000, the Company’s board of directors adopted a Stockholder Protection Rights Plan under
which stockholders received one right for each share of the Company’s common stock or Class B common stock
owned by them. The rights become exercisable, in most circumstances, upon the accumulation by a person or group
of 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock. Each right entitles the holder to purchase
from the Company, as provided by the Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, one one-thousandth of a share of
participating preferred stock, par value $.001 per share, for $400 per share, subject to adjustment. As of
December 31, 2006 and 2003, none of these rights were exercisable.

Warrants

On January 1, 2003, in conjunction with an amendment to an agreement with AT&T, the Company granted
AT&T three warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock as follows: 1,000 shares at $0.94 per
share; 1,000 shares at $3.00 per share; and 1,000 shares at $5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately
exercisable, fully vested and nonforfeitable at the date of grant. Accordingly, the measurement date for these
warrants was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of such warrants of $2,640 was recorded as a deferred
customer incentive in 2003 and was recognized as a reduction of revenues on a straight-line basis over the three-year
term of the agreement because the Company believed that future revenues from AT&T would exceed the fair value
of the warrants described above. The aggregate fair value was determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model with the following facts and assumptions: closing price of the Company’s common stock on December 31,
2002 of $0.94 per share; expected life of seven years (which is also the contractual life of the warrants); dividend
yield of zero; volatility of 1.52; and a risk-free interest rate of 3.36%. None of these warrants were exercised during
2006, 2005 or 2004, or had expired as of December 31, 2006. Such warrants were fully amortized as of
December 31, 2006.

On September 4, 2002, in conjunction with the execution of a five-year agreement with America Online, Inc.
(*AOL”), a wholesale customer, the Company granted AOL three warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s
common stock as follows: 1,500 shares at $1.06 per share; 1,000 shares at $3.00 per share; and 1,000 shares at
$5.00 per share. Such warrants were immediately exercisable, fully vesied and nonforfeitable at the date of grant.
Accordingly, the measurement date for these warrants was the date of grant. The aggregate fair value of such
warrants of $3,790, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following facts
and assumptions: closing price of the Company’s common stock on September 4, 2002 of $1.14 per share; expected
life of seven years (which is also the contractual life of the warrants); dividend yield of zero; volatility of 1.56; and a
risk-free interest rate of 3.63%, was recorded as a deferred customer incentive in 2002 and is being recognized as a
reduction of revenues on a straight-line basis over the five-year term of the agreement because the Company
believes that future revenues from AOL will exceed the fair value of the warrants described above. None of these
warrants were exercised during 2006 or 2005, or had expired as of December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006
and 2005 the vnamortized amount of the warrants was $506 and $1,264, respectively.
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Other warrants for the purchase of 14 shares of the Company’s common stock were outstanding as of
December 31, 2006. Such warrants are exercisable at purchase prices ranging from $0.01 to $2.13 per share and are
fully vested as of December 31, 2006. Unless exercised, all such warrants will expire during periods ending between
October 2007 and March 2008.

The Company recorded amortization on the above described warrants in the amount of $758, $1,419 and
$1,748 for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
12. Income Taxes

The Company has made no provision for income taxes in any period presented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements because it incurred operating losses in each of these periods.

The difference between the income tax benefits computed at the federal statutory rate of 35% and the
Company’s actual income tax benefits for 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Federal benefit at statwtory rate . . ... ... ... ... ... ... . ..., $(4,882) $(5,503) $(21,266)
State benefit, net of federal benefit. . ....................... (697) (786) (3,038)
Net operating losses with no current benefits ... .............. 4,143 5,931 22,290
Deferred variable stock-based compensation. .. ............... 1,000 (364) 1,099
Other. . . o e e 436 722 915
Income tax expense (benefit) . . ......... ... ... . .. oo, $ — 35 — 3 —

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and labilities for federal and state income taxes are as follows:

December 31,
2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards . .. ... ... .. ... ... .. i $ 392,458 3 368,863
Capital loss carryforwards. . ... ... ... . e 11,700 10,163
Deferred and unearned revenue . .. . ... ... o e e 11,205 31,610
Unconsolidated investments in affiliates. . .. ... ... ... ........ . .... 2,030 2,030
Depreciation and amortization . . ... ... ..ot 33,365 41,655
Other . . . e e e 2,555 11,229
Total deferred 1ax assets .. . ... ..ot e 453,313 465,550
Deferred tax liabilities ... ... ... ... .. i i e, (3,420) (1,821)
Net deferred AR a88BlS . . . .t ittt it ittt et et e e 449,893 463,729
Valuation allowance .. ... v it e et e e {449,893) (463,729
Net deferred taXES. . ... oottt ettt $ — § —

Realization of the Company's deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards and other
temporary differences is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain.
Accordingly, the Company’s net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation
allowance (decreased) increased by $(13,836), $6,339 and $33,616 during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Deferred income tax assets pertaining to net operating losses decreased by $18,292 due to a change in
presentation in accordance with FAS 123R “Share-Buased Payment.” These deferred income tax assets resulted from
the exercise of employee stock options in prior years and represent excess tax benefits as determined under APB 25
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The deferred income tax assets for excess tax benefits had a full
valuation allowance against them in prior years. FAS 123R prohibits recognition of a deferred income tax asset for
an excess tax benefit that has not been realized through a reduction in income taxes payable. The company has
elected to net its deferred income tax assets for net operating losses and the related valuation allowance for the
excess tax determined under APB 25.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes
of $1,028,221, which will expire beginning in 2021 if not utilized. The Company also had aggregate net operating
loss carryforwards for state income tax of approximately $651,611 of which $29,347 will expire in 2007, $9,734 in
2008 and $612,530 through 2026, if not utilized. In addition, the Company had capital loss carryforwards for boath
federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $29,250 which begin to expire in 2007 if not utilized.

The Company reduced net operating loss carryforwards for state income tax by $670,538 for 2006 and 2005
and the corresponding valuation allowance as a result of applying the tax attribute reductions rules in cancellation of
debt from the Company’s 2001 chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings.

On February 16, 2006, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
NextWeb (Note 6). The acquisition was effectuated by merging a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company with
and into NextWeb, with NextWeb surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The merger
is intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. As a result of its acquisition, the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards includes NextWeb’s existing, as of acquisition date, federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
of $9,749 and $9,297 respectively. Tax benefits related to pre-acquisition losses of the acquired entity will be
utilized first to reduce any associated intangibles and goodwill.

On June 8, 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of privately-held
GoBeam (Note 6). The acquisition was effectuated by merging a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company with
and into GoBeam, with GoBeam surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The merger is
intended to qualify as a tax-free reorganization. As a result of its acquisition, the Company’s net operating loss
carryforwards includes GoBeam’s existing, as of acquisition date, federal and state net operating loss carryforwards
of $39,597 and $29,426, respectively. Tax benefits related to pre-acquisition losses of the acquired entity will be
utilized first to reduce any associated intangibles and goodwill.

On September 22, 2000, the Company acquired BlueStar, in a transaction accounted for as a purchase (Note 3).
The Company deconsolidated BlueStar effective June 25, 2001, which resulted in the recognition of a deferred gain
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001, Such gain was recognized for tax purposes
in 2001. On February 4, 2005, the Seventh Circuit Court for Davidson County, Tennessee ordered the Assignee in
the ABC to make a final distribution of funds of the estates to holders of allowed claims. Such final distribution has
been made. As a result of the completion of the ABC, the Company recognized the deferred gain of $53,963 and the
related deferred tax asset was recognized in 2005.

In August 2000, the Company made an equity investment in 10 shares of ACCA (Note 6). In March 2005,
ACCA completed a public offering of its shares in Japan and the Company subsequently sold its investment,
resulting in a capital gain. Proceeds in excess of the Company’s tax basis on such investment resulted in a tax gain of
$14,227 which was offset against the Company’s capital loss carryforward.

The utilization of the Company’s net operating loss could be subject to substantial annual limitation as a result
of future events, such as an acquisition, which may be deemed as a “change in ownership” under the provisions of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation could result in
the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.
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13. Stock-Based Compensation
Impact of adopting SFAS 123R

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R. The statement establishes
accounting for stock-based awards to employees and requires that stock-based compensation cost be measured at
the grant-date, based on the fair value of the award, and be recognized over the employee’s service period. Prior to
Januvary 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation under the recognition and measurement
provisions of APB 25 and related Interpretations, and provided the required pro-forma disclosures prescribed by
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosures.” In accordance with APB 25, no compensation cost was
required to be recognized for awards that had an exercise price equal to, or greater than, the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant.

The Company elected to adopt the modified prospective transition method as provided by SFAS 123R. Under
this transition method, compensation cost recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for
2006 includes (i) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of
December 31, 2003, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS 123, and (ii) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to December 31, 2005,
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. The results for prior
pertods have not been restated.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the Company’s net loss for 2006 includes $3,245 ($0.01 per share) of
stock-based compensation, of which $1,699, relates to the Company’s employee stock option plans, and $1,546,
relates to the Company’s employee stock purchase plan. For 2006, $1,311, of the total stock-based compensation
was recorded in cost of sales and $1,934, in selling, general and administrative expenses. The Company did not
recognize and does not expect to recognize in the near future, any tax benefit related to employee stock-based
compensation cost as a result of the full valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets and because of its net
operating loss carryforwards. For 2006, the Company capitalized a portion of its stock-based compensation cost, or
approximately $86.

As of January 1, 2006, the Company had an unrecorded deferred stock-based compensation balance related to
stock options of $971 before estimated forfeitures. In the Company’s pro-forma disclosures prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123R, the Company accounted for forfeitures upon occurrence. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to be
estimated at the time of grant and revised if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates. Accordingly, as of January 1, 2006, the Company estimated that the stock-based compensation for the
awards not expected to vest was $202, and therefore, the unrecorded deferred stock-based compensation balance as
of December 31, 2005 related to stock options was adjusted to $769 after estimated forfeitures. During 2006, the
Company granted approximately 5,528 stock options with an estimated total grant-date fair value of $5,352. Of this
amount, the Company estimated that the stock-based compensation for the awards not expected to vest was $1,134.
As of December 31, 2006, the unrecorded deferred stock-based compensation balance related to stock options,
adjusted for forfeitures, was approximately $3,300 and will be recognized over an estimated weighted-average
amortization period of 2.93 years.

Valuation Assumptions

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company reassessed its valuation technique and related
assumptions. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes valuation model,
consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123R, SAB 107 “Share-Based Payment” and the Company’s prior period
pro-forma disclosures of net earnings, including stock-based compensation (determined under a fair value method
as prescribed by SFAS 123). SFAS 123R allows the use of option pricing models that were not necessarily
developed for use in valuing employee stock options. Option valuation models, such as the Black-Scholes option-
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pricing model, were developed for use in estimating the fair value of short-lived exchange traded options that have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option-pricing models require the input of highly
subjective assumnptions, including the option’s expected life and the price volatility of the underlying stock.

The expected life of the options was determined using historical data for options exercised, cancelled after
vesting and outstanding. The expected stock price volatility assumption was determined using historical volatility
of the Company’s common stock over a period equal to the expected life of the option. These assumptions are
consistent with the Company’s estimates prior the adoption of SFAS 123R, The forfeiture rate was determined using
historical pre-vesting cancellation data for all options issued after 2001. As stated above, prior to the adoption of
SFAS 123R, the Company accounted for forfeitures upon occurrence.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the following weighted-average
assumptions: ’

Stock Options Employee Stock Purchase Plan
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Stock Options
Expected life of options in years ......... 34 4.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5
Volatility .. ....... ... .. ... ... ... .. 83.06% 91.07% 123.70% 68.76% 91.07% 123.70%
Risk-free interestrate. . ................ 478% 434% 3.27% 500% 4.35% 2.61%
Expected dividend yield ... ............. 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Equity Incentive Programs

As of December 31, 2006, the Company has the following stock-based compensation plans;

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2003 ESPP”). As of
December 31, 2006, a total of 5,989 shares of the Company common stock have been reserved for issuance
under the 2003 ESPP. This plan permits eligible employees to acquire shares of the Company’s commeon stock
through periodic payroll deductions of up to 20% of total compensation. No more than 5 shares may be purchased
on any purchase date per employee. The number of shares that may be issued under the 2003 ESPP is subject to an
annual increase to be added on January 1 of each year equal to the lesser of either {i) 2% of the outstanding shares of
the Company’s stock on such date, (ii} 7,000 shares, or (iii) an amount determined by a committee of the board of
directors.

On December 8, 2005, the compensation committee of the board of directors of the Company approved an
amendment to the 2003 ESPP. The amendment (i) reduces each offering period to six-months (with a co-terminus
exercise period) for all offering periods that commence on or after January 1, 2006, and (ii) terminates all offering
periods that commenced prior to January 1, 2006 on December 31, 2005. Under this plan, eligible employees may
purchase common stock at 85% of: (i) the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first day of the
applicable six-month offering period (twenty-four month offering period prior to January 1, 2006), or (ii) the fair
market value on the last day of the applicable six-month purchase period. The offering period that commenced in
July 2003 and ended in June 2005 was subject to variable accounting and accordingly the Company recorded net
cumulative deferred stock-based compensation of $13,886 as of June 30, 2005. As a result of the amendment, the
Company reversed stock-based compensation expense of $1,011 in its pro-forma disclosures for 20035,

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options under the Company’s 2003 ESPP granted during 2000,
2005 and 2004 was $0.47. $1.18 and $2.07 per share, respectively. For 2006, the Company recognized stock-based
compensation expense of $1,546, in its consolidated statements of operations. For 2003 and 2004, the Company
recognized stock-based compensation expense (reversal) of $(1,011) and $2,526, respectively, in its consolidated
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statements of operations. As of December 31, 2006, the unrecorded deferred stock-based compensation balance
related to the 2003 ESPP was fully amortized to operations.

Stock Option Plans

The 1997 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) is a ten-year, broad-based, long-term incentive and retention program that is
intended to attract and retain qualified personnel and align stockholder and employee interests. The Pian provides
for the grant of stock purchase rights and options to purchase shares of common stock to employees and consultants
from time to time as determined by the Company’s board of directors. The stock options under the Plan generally
have a vesting period of four years, are exercisable for a period not to exceed eight years from the date of issuance,
and are generally granted at prices that are no less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the
date of grant. A total of 38,442 shares have been reserved under the Plan for sale and issuance at prices to be
determined by the Company’s board of directors. As of December 31,2006, 15,361 shares of the Company common
stock were available for future grants under the Plan. The number of shares that may be issued under the Plan is
subject to an annual increase to be added on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year equal to the lesser of (i)} 3% of
the outstanding shares of the Company’s stock on such date, or (ii) an amount determined by the beard.

On December 19, 2005, the compensation committee of the board of directors (the “Committee”) of the
Company approved the acceleration of vesting of unvested and out-of-the-money stock options with exercise prices
equal to or greater than $1.34 per share previously awarded to its employees, including its executive officers, and
directors, under the Plan. The acceleration of vesting was effective for stock options outstanding as of December 20,
2005. The closing stock price on the American Stock Exchange at the effective date of the acceleration was $0.67.
Options to purchase approximately 6,374 shares of common stock, or approximately 74%, of the Company's
outstanding unvested options, of which options to purchase approximately 1,896 shares were held by the
Company’s executive officers and directors, were subject to the acceleration. The weighted-average exercise
price of the options subject to the acceleration was approximately $2.73.

The Committee also imposed a holding period that will require all executive officers and directors to refrain
from selling shares acquired upon the exercise of these options until the dates on which the exercise would have
been permitted under the option’s original vesting terms or, if earlier, the executive officer’s last day of employment
or the director’s last day of service.

The purpose of the acceleration was to enable the Company to reduce compensation expense associated with
these options in periods subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123R. The pre-tax charges to be avoided amount to
approximately $6,723, which is included in the pro-forma numbers for the year ended December 31, 2003, over the
course of the original vesting periods, which on average is approximately three years from the effective date of the
acceleration. The Company also believes that because the options accelerated had exercise prices substantially in
excess of the market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of the acceleration, the options had limited
economic value and were not fully achieving their original objective of incentive compensation and employee
retention.

In connection with the Company’s acquisitions of Laser Link, Inc. (“Laser Link’) on March 20, 2000, BlueStar
on September 22, 2000 and GoBeam, the Company assumed various stock option plans. Laser Link, BlueStar and
GoBeam stock option plans provide for the grant of options to purchase shares of commen stock to employees and
consultants from time to time. The options expire up to ten years after the date of grant. A maximum of 1,435, 1,251
and 266 shares of the Company’s common stock are available for issuance under the Laser Link, BlueStar and
GoBeam option plans, respectively. The Company is no longer issuing options under these option plans, conse-
quently they are not included in the table below of shares available for future issuance. However, existing options
that were previously granted under these plans are included in the data set forth below. The Company did not assume
NextWeb's stock option plan.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for 2006, 2005 and 2004:
Number of Shares of Option Price per Weighted-Average

Common Stock Share Exercise Price
Balance as of December 31, 2003 ... ... 21,677 $0.001 - $149.79 $5.76
Granted ........ ... v 6,867 $1460-3 3.51 $2.81
Exercised .............cvuv .. (1,951) $0.001 -§ 372 $1.10
Cancetled, expired and forfeited . .. .. (3,596) $0.001 - $149.79 $8.49
Balance as of December 31, 2004 .. ..., 22,997 $0.001 - $149.79 $5.35
Granted and assumed ............. 7,162 $0.730-% 1.69 $1.42
Exercised ... ................... (774) $0.296 - % 2.16 $0.80
Cancelled, expired and forfeited . . ... (4,412) $0.022 - $149.79 $5.89
Balance as of December 31, 2005. ... .. 24,973 $0.001 - $149.79 %4.96
Granted .............. i . 5,528 $1.180 -3 2.51 $1.52
Exercised . .. ... it (3,275) $0.296 -3 2.52 $1.14
Cancelled, expired and forfeited . . ... (4,144) $0.001 - $149.79 $6.99
Balance as of December 31, 2006. . . . .. 23,082 $0.350 - $149.79 $4.31

The stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2006 were as follows:

Opttons Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average

Remaining Remaining
Range of Number  Contractual Weighted- Aggregate  Number  Contractual Weighted- Aggregate
Exercise of Term Average Intrinsic of Term Average Intrinsic
Prices Shares (in years} Exercise Price Value Shares {in years) Exercise Price Value
3035-% 056 .. 788 $ 055 788 $ 0.55
$057-% 084 .. 2,560 0.83 2,449 0.83
5086-% 124 .. 3,318 1.18 - 1,260 1.16
$1.26-% 1.28 .. 2515 1.28 2,309 1.28
$129-% 152 .. 2,086 1.39 921 1.38
$154-% 154 .. 2,696 1.54 2,695 1.54
$156-% 240.. 2,479 1.98 1,373 2.02
$241-% 256 .. 1,601 2.53 1,381 2.55
$263-% 334 .. 2,786 3.33 2,785 3.33
$3.51 - $149.79 . . 2,253 28.64 2,253 28.64
30.35- $149.79 .. 23082 4,72 $ 4.31 $3,049 18,214 4.10 $ 5.07 $2,530

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the
Company's closing stock price of $1.38 as of December 31, 2006, which would have been received by the option
holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date. The total number of in-the-money options
exercisable as of December 31, 2006 was 7,291.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during 2006, 2005. and 2004 was $0.97, $1.14
and $2.58, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1,699, $14,327 and
$10,371, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2006, 2003, and 2004 was $2,695, $470
and $2,945, respectively. The total cash received from employees as a result of employee stock option exercises
during 2006, 2005 and 2004 was approximately $4,013, $651 and $2,451, respectively. In connection with these
exercises, there were no tax benefits realized by the Company as a result of the full valuation allowance on its net
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deferred tax assets and its net operating loss carryforwards. The Company settles employee stock option exercises
with newly issued common shares.

A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested shares as of December 31, 2006 and changes during
2006 is as follows:

Stock Options
Weighted-Average

Grant-Date

Number of Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at December 31,2005, . .. .. ....... .. .ot 2,240 $0.43
Awards granted. . . . ... .. ... 5,528 0.97
Awards vested ... ... .. . e (1,750) 0.97
Awards cancelled, expired and forfeited . ... ............. (1,150) 0.68
Non-vested at December 31,2006, . ....... ..ot 4,868 $0.91

Prior to adopting SFAS 123R

As stated above, prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation under the
recognition and measurement provisions of APB 25 and related Interpretations and SFAS No. 123, as amended by
SFAS No. 148. The following table illustrates the pro-forma effect on net loss, weighted-average number of
comimon shares outstanding, and loss per share had the Company applied the fair value method to account for stock-
based awards to employees:

2005 2004
Basic:
Net loss, as TEported . . ..o v ittt ettt $(15,722) $(60,761)
Stock-based employee compensation expense (reversal} included in the
determination of net income (loss), asreported . . ................. (808) 2,724
Stock-based employee compensation expense that would have been
included in the determination of net loss if the fair value method had
been applied o allawards . .. ... ... ... ... .. . o (19,767) (21,593)
Netloss, pro-forma ... ... it a e $(36,297) $(79,630)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding used in the
computations of basic and diluted loss pershare. .. ......... ... ... 265,240 249,187
Basic and diluted net loss per common share:
ASTEpOrted . . ... e e e $ (0.06) $ (0.24)
ProfOrma . ..ot e e e $ (014) § (0.32)

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code
that covers substantially all employees. Eligible employees may contribute amounts to the plan, via payroll
withholding, subject to certain limitations. The Company does not match contributions by plan participants.

In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Laser Link and BlueStar, the Company merged Laser Link’s
and BlueStar’s defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401(k} of the Internal Revenue Code into the
Company’s defined contribution retirement plan.
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14. Business Segments

The Company sells to businesses and consumers indirectly through Internet service providers, or 1SPs,
telecommunications carriers and other resellers. The Company also sells its services directly to business and
consumer end-users through its field sales force, telephone sales, referral agents and its website. The Company
presently operates two business segments, Wholesale and Direct, which are described beiow in more detail.

The Company’s business segments are strategic business units that are managed based upon differences in
customers, services and marketing channels, even though the assets and cash flows from these operations are not
independent of each other. The Company’s wholesale segment, or Wholesale, is a provider of high-speed
connectivity services to ISPs and telecommunications carriers. The Company’s direct segment, or Direct, is a
provider of VoIP, high-speed connectivity, Internet access, fixed wireless broadband, and other services to
individuals, small and medium-sized businesses, corporations and other organizations. All other business oper-
ations and activities of the Company are reported as Corporate Operations. These operations and activities are
primarily comprised of general corporate functions to support the Company’s revenue producing segments as well
. as costs and expenses for headquarters facilities and equipment, depreciation and amortization, network capacity
and other non-recurring or unusual items not directly attributable or allocated to the segments, gains and losses on
the Company’s investments, and income and expenses from the Company’s treasury and financing activities.

The Company’s business segments’ operating expenses are primarily comprised of network costs and labor
and related non-tabor expenses to provision services and to provide support to its customers. The Company’s
business segments’ network costs consist of end-user circuits, aggregation circuits, central office space, Internet
transit charges, CPE and equipment maintenance. Operating expenses also include labor and related non-labor
expenses for customer care, dispatch,repair and installation activities and restructuring charges. The Company
allocates network costs to its business segments based on their consumption of circuit or equipment capacity. The
Company allocates end-user circuit costs to a segment based on the products and services sold by such segment.
Aggregation circuits are allocated based on actual capacity usage determined by the total number of customers in a
segment utilizing those circuits. CPE cost is directly assigned to a business segment based on the number of
installations performed by such segment. The Company altocates labor costs from operations to its business
segments based on resource consumption formulas, which are primarily based on installations, percentage of total
lines in service and trouble tickets by segment. The Company allocates employee compensation for its sales forces
directly to the business segments based on the customers it sells to and serves. The Company allocates advertising
and promotions to the business segments primarily based on the target customers for such advertising and
promotions.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources to the segments based on income or loss from
operations, excluding certain operating expenses, such as depreciation and amortization, and other income and
expense items. Therefore, the Company does not allocate such operating expenses and other income and expense
items to its business segments because it believes that these expenses and other income items are not directly
managed or controlled by its business segments. The Company does not segregate certain of its assets, primarily
cash, property and equipment, collocation fees and other intangibles and goodwill, or its cash flows between its two
segments because these resources are not managed separately by segment. The Company similarly manages its
capital expenditures and cash needs as one entity.
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Segment information, including a reconciliation to the respective balances in the Company’s consolidated

financial statements, as of and for the years December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Total Corporate Consolidated
Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Total

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2006:
Revenue, net. ........................ $315,321  $158,983 3474304 3 — $474,304
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and

amortization) ...................... 186,142 94,484 280,626 47,848 328,474
Benefit from federal exercise tax

adjustment ... ... . ..., — — — (19,455) {19,455)
Selling, general and administrative ... ..... 7,742 36,183 43,925 83,204 127,129
Provision forbad debts. .. .............. — — _ 251 251
Depreciation and amortization. ... ........ - — — 34,876 34,876
Amortization of intangible assets. ......... — —_ — 0,949 9,949
Provision for restructuring and post-

employment benefits . . ............... 232 479 711 886 1,597

Total operating expenses ... ........... 194,116 131,146 325,262 157,559 482,821
Income (loss) from operations. .. ......... 121,205 27,837 149,042 (157,559) (8,517)
Interestincome. . ......... ... ... — — — 3,938 3,938
Interest expense . . . ....... ..., . ...... — — — (9,562) (9.562)
Miscellaneous income, net .. ............ —_ _ _ 192 192

Total other income, net . . ............. — — — (5,432) (5,432

Netincome (loss) .. ................. $121,205  $ 27,837  $149,042  $(162,991)  $(13,949)
ASSEIS . oot e $35795 $ 22,191 $ 57,986  § 255322 $313,308
Capital expenditures for property and

EQUIPIMENL. . . .o v vt ie i e — — — $ 46964 $ 46,964
Payment of collocation fees and purchase of

other intangible assets. . .............. — — — % 323 $ 3236
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Total Corporate Consolidated
Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Total

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2005:
Revenue, met. . ....................... $314,205  $128,974 $443,179 § —  $443,179
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and

amortization) . ......c..ie e 193,721 81,521 275,242 35,897 311,139
Selling, general and administrative ., ... ... 8,353 49,938 58,291 100,261 158,552
Provision forbad debts . . . .............. —_ — — 571 571
Depreciation and amortization. . .......... —_ — — 49,813 49.813
Amottization of intangible assets. . . ... . ... — — — 17,428 17,428
Provision for restructuring and post-

employment benefits . .. .............. 285 397 682 2,958 3,640

Total operating expenses . . ............ 202,359 131,856 334,215 206,928 541,143
Income (loss) from operations. .. ......... 111,846 (2,882) 108,964 (206,928) (97,964)
Interestincome., . . .................... —_ — _ 4,142 4,142
Gain on sale of equity securities . . ......., — — — 28,844 28,844
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary . .. ... — — — 53,963 53,963
Interest expense .. ............ .. ...... — — —_ (5,003) (5,005)
Miscellaneous income, net .. ............ — — - 298 208

Total other income, net . . ............. — e — 82,242 82,242

Net income (loss) . . .....covvvvv ... $111,846 3 (2,882) $108,964 $(124,686) $(15,722)
ASSEIS ... e $ 38,725 $ 19,395 $ 58,120 $ 242461 $300,581
Capital expenditures for property and

EQUIPMENL. . . v\ vt e e 3 — 5 — 3 — % 42397 % 42397
Payment of collocation fees and purchase of

other intangible assets. ... ............ $ — 3 — % — $ 3,582 $ 3,582
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Total Corporate Consolidated
Wholesale Direct Segments Operations Total

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2004:
Revenue, net. . ........ ..o v, $309,899 $119,298 $429,197 % —_— $429,197
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and

amortization) ...................... 177,115 57,141 234,256 31,916 266,172
Selling, general and administrative .. ..., .. 9,048 36,859 45,907 100,334 146,241
Provision for bad debt recoveries . ........ . —_ — (2,035) (2,035)
Depreciation and amortization. ... ........ —_ —_ _ 56,825 56,825
Amortization of intangible assets. . ........ — — — 20,585 20,585
Provision for restructuring and post-

employment benefits. . .. ............. 374 281 655 754 1,409

Total operating expenses . .. ........... 186,537 94,281 280,818 208,379 489,197
Income {loss) from operations. . . ......... 123,362 25,017 148,379 (208,379) (60,000)
Interestincome. . ............ ... ... .. — — — 2,668 2,668
Interest expense . ........... ... ..... — — — 4,927 (4,927)
Miscellaneous income, net .. ............ — — — 1,498 1,498

Total other expense, net. ... ........... — — — (761) (761)

Net income (loss) ................... $123,362  $ 25,017 $148379  $(209,140)  $(60,761)
ASSEtS .. ... $47994 § 18,707 $ 66,701 $ 318,524 $385,225
Capital expenditures for property and

EQUIPIMEDL. .o v et e $ — % — 8 — § 38743  $ 38,743
Payment of collocation fees and purchase of

other intangible assets . .. ............. $ — 3 — 3§ - $ 7900 § 7500

During 2005 the Company changed certain allocations to its business segments. Certain 2004 balances have
been adjusted to conform to the presentation.
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Covad’s 2006 and 2005 unaudited consolidated selected quarterly financial information is as follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2006:
ReVemUes, NEL . .. .o v ettt ettt e e iie i eeens $117,751  $118,535 $118,562 $119.456
Gross profit {exclusive of depreciation and

AMOITZAEON) . . . o ottt e e e, $ 37,814 § 37,733 $ 35,152 $ 35,131
Depreciation and amortization . ... ....... ... ... .. $ 11,048 S 10,716 $ 10,712 $ 12,349
Netincome (10SS) ... oo $ (92800 § 12473 $ (8,700) $ (8,442)
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic . ... $ (©03) $ 004 5 (0.03) $ (0.03)

Diluted .. ... ... 0 $ (003 $§ 004 $ (0.03) $ (0.03)
2005:
Revenues, net . ... ...t 107,718  $109,741 $112,069 $113,651
Gross profit (exclusive of depreciation and

AMOTHZALON) . . . . ..t et e $ 34969 § 33,501 $ 27,572 $ 35,998
Depreciation and amortization . .. ................. $ 19,149 $ 17,626 % 16,038 $ 14,428
Net income (108S) .. .. ... vt i i, $ 34,374  $(16,403)  $(15,805) $(17,883)
Earnings (loss) per common share:

BasiC .. oii it e $ 013 $§ (006 § (0.06) $ (@07

I I $ 011 $ (006 $ (006 $ (0.07

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we reduced our costs by approximately $2,300 as a result of a transaction-
based tax adjustment. This amount was partially offset by approximately $2,000 of costs related to the buildout of
our LPVA service.

During the second quarter of 2006, the IRS issued Notice 2006-50 announcing that it will stop collecting FET
on “long-distance” telephone service and that it will no longer litigate this issue with taxpayers. The FET is now
applicable only to “local” telephone service. Based on this development, our prior purchases for which we accrued
FET do not fall under the definition of local telephone service. Therefore, we have determined that (i) the issuance
of Notice 2006-50 by the IRS resolved the uncertainty around the applicability of the tax to certain telecommu-
nications services, and (ii} is one of the criteria we determined necessary for reversing the accrued liability.
Consequently, we reversed such liability during the second quarter of 2006, which decreased our net loss by
$19,455, or $0.07 per share.

During the first quarter of 2005, we recognized a gain of $53,963 as a result of the deconsolidation of one of our
subsidiaries. Refer to Note 3, under “Other Restructuring Activities”, to our consolidated financial statements for
additional information on such gain. In addition, during the first quarter of 2005, we recorded a net realized gain of
$7.246 as a result of the sale of 2 shares of ACCA Networks Co., Ltd. Refer to Note 6, under “ACCA Nerworks Co.,
Ltd.”, 10 our consolidated financial statements for additional information on such gain. These gains increased our
net income by 61,209, or $0.20 per share, for the first quarter of 2005,
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

The Company does not have any disagreements with its accountants on accounting and financial disclosure
matters.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures:

The Securities and Exchange Commission defines the term “disclosure controls and procedures™ to mean a
company'’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. Our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer have concluded, based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures by our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as of
the end of the period covered by this report, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective for this

purpose.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure
controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting:

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act). Our
internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006. In making their assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Because of its
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
detericrate.

Based on our assessment we concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial
reporting was effective based on the criteria set forth by COSO in Internal Control — Integrated Framework.
Management has excluded NextWeb from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 because it was acquired by the Company during 2006. NextWeb's total assets and revenues
represent 8.8% and 2.3%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control ever financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report that appears under Part II, Item 8 — “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting:

During the fourth quarter of 2006, we did not make any change in our internal control over financial reporting
that materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. Other Information

None
PART Il

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information regarding the names, ages and background of each of our executive officers and directors,
Section 16(a) compliance, the Audit Committee, and the Company’s code of ethics in the Company’s 2007 Proxy
Statement is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding director and executive compensation in the 2007 Proxy Statement is hereby incorpo-
rated by reference.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Information setting forth the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and the
Company’s equity compensation plans in the 2007 Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated by reference.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information regarding certain related transactions in the 2007 Proxy Statement is hereby incorporated by
reference.
ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information regarding principal accounting fees and services in the 2007 Proxy Statement is hereby incor-
porated by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
{a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. The following Financial Statements of Covad Communications Group, Inc.
and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms are filed as part of this report.

Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity (Deficit)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules. Financial statement schedules not filed herein are omitted because
of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the information called for is shown in the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. The Exhibits listed below and on the accompanying Index to Exhibits immediately
following the signature page hereto are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Report on
Form 10-K.
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

22

23

24

31
32

33

34

4.1

42

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

10.1

10.2

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

Plan: First Amended Plan of Reorganization, as
Modified, of Covad Communications Group, Inc. dated
November 26, 2001

Order Pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code
Confirming the Debtor’s First Amended Chapter 11 Plan
of Reorganization, as Modified

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 2,
2004, among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad
Communications Investment Corp., GoBeam, Inc. and
Edvardo Briceno, as Representative

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 4,
2005, among Covad Communications Group, Inc.,
Windtalker Acquisition Corp., NextWeb, Inc. and Ghia
Griarte as Representative.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation
of the Registrant filed on July 14, 2000

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation
of the Registrant filed on December 20, 2001

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as currently in effect

12% Senior Secured Convertible Note due 2011, dated
as of March 29, 2006, entered into by Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Covad
Communications Company for the benefit of EarthLink,
Inc.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Group,
Inc. and EarthLink, Inc.

Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2004 between the
Registrant and The Bank of New York, as Trustee

Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of
March 10, 2004 among the Regisirant and Banc of
America Securities LLC

Form of Debenture for the Registrant’s 3% Convertible
Senior Debentures due 2024

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement dated
February 15, 2000

Amended and Restated Stockholder Protection Rights
Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2001

Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholder
Protection Rights Agreement, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Group,
Inc. and Mellon Investor Services

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into
between the Registrant and each of the Registrant’s
executive officers and directors

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related
agreements
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Form

8-K

8-K

S5-1/A
S-1/A

10-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

10-Q
10-Q

10-Q
8-A

8-K

5-1

10-K

Incorporated by Reference

Date of Exhibit  Filed
File No. First Filing Number Herewith
000-25271 12/28/01 2.1
000-25271 12/28/01 99.12
000-25271 5/17/04 2.1
000-25271 10/7/05 21
333.38688 7/17/00 32
333-38688 7/17/00 3.5
000-25271 3/29/02 33
001-32588 11/2/05 31
001-32588 4/4/06 99.1
001-32588 4/4/06  99.3
000-25271 5/17/04 4.1
000-25271 5/17/04 4.2
000-25271 5/17104 43
000-25271 2/22/00 4.1
000-25271 12/14/01 4.1
001-32588 4/4/06 995
333-63899 9/21/98 10.1
000-25271 3/29/02  10.2




Exhibit
Number

1.3 1997 Stock Plan and related option agreement, as

currently in effect

104  Resale Agreement dated as of November 12, 2001 by

Exhibit Description

and among SBC Communications Inc., Covad

Communications Group, Inc., Covad Communications
Company, DIECA Communications Company and Laser

Link.net, Inc.

10.5  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Issued by
the Registrant on September 3, 2002 to America Online,

Inc.

10.6  Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Issued by
the Registrant on January 1, 2003 to AT&T Corp.

10.7  Covad Communications Group, Inc., 2003 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, as amended

10.8  Covad Communications Group, Inc. Executive Severance
Pian and Summary Plan Description

109  Letter Agreement between Covad Communications and
Charles Hoffman dated May 29, 2001

10.10 Lease Agreement for 110 Rio Robles, San Jose,
California, between Covad Communications and

CarrAmerica Realty Corporation dated August 6, 2003

10.11  First Amendment to Lease by and between Covad
Communications Company and CarrAmerica Realty

Operating Partnership, L.P. dated July 27, 2005
10.12  Change in Control Agreement between Covad

Communications Group, Inc. and Charles E. Hoffman

10.13 Change in Control Agreement between Covad

Communications Group, Inc. and James A. Kirkland

10.14  Change in Control Agreement between Covad

Communications Group, Inc. and David McMorrow

10.15 Change in Control Agreement between Covad

Communications Group, Inc. and Chris Dunn

10.16 Indemnification Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Chris Dunn

10.17 Transition Agreement between Covad Communications
Group, Inc. and Andrew Lockwood

10.18 Covad Communications 2006 Bonus Plan

10.19 Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2006, by
and among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad

Communications Company and EarthLink, Inc.

10.20  Security Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2006, by and
among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad

Communications Company and EarthLink, Inc.

[0.21 Agreement for XGDSL Services, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Company

and EarthLink, Inc.
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Form

10-K

8-K

8-K

10-K

10-K

8-K

3-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K
8-K

oc

-K

Incorporated by Reference

Date of Exhibit  Filed
File No. First Filing Number Herewith
000-25271 3/29/02 103
000-25271 11/14/01 1¢1
000-25271 9/5/02  99.1
000-25271 1/7/03  99.1
001-32588 12/8/05 99.1
000-25271 10/6/04 10.1
000-25271 2727/04 1041
000-25271 2/27/04 1042
001-32588 8/1/05 101
000-25271 10/6/04 10.2
000-25271 10/6/04 10.5
000-25271 10/6/04 10.7
001-32588 11/2/05 10.1
001-32588 11/2/05 10.2
001-32588 12/15/05 10.2
001-32588 3/8/06  10.1
001-32588 3/17/06 99.1
001-32588 4/4/06  99.2
001-32588 4/4/06 994




Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Dateof  Exhibit  Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. First Filing Nomber Herewith
10.22 Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 13, 8-K 001-32588 4/18/06 10.1

2006, between Covad Communications Group, Inc.,
Covad Communications Company and Silicon Valley

Bank

10.23 Indemnification Agreement between Covad 8-K 001-32588 4/26/06 10.1
Communications Group, Inc. and Robert Neumeister

10.24 Change in Control Agreement between Covad 8-K 001-32588 8&/1/06 10.1
Communications Group, Inc. and Patrick Bennett

10.25 Indemnification Agreement between Covad 8-K 001-32588 12/12/06 10.1
Communications Group, Inc. and Diana Leonard

10.26 Covad Communications 2007 Executive Short Term 8-K 001-32588 1/9/07 10.1
[nce_ntive Plan

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant X

23.1  Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent X
Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1  Power of Attorney (incorporated in the signature page X
herein)

31.1  Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) X

31.2  Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) X

32.1* Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as X
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32.2*% Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as X

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

* These certifications accompany the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not deemed filed with the
SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 28,
2007.

COVAD COMMUNICATIONS GROUP, INC.

By: /s/ Christopher Dunn

Christopher Dunn
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2007.

Signature Title
fs/ Charles E. Hoffman Chief Executive Officer and Director
{Charles E. Hoffman) (Principal Executive Officer)
/s Christopher Dunn Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Christopher Dunn) (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
fs/  Charles McMinn Chairman of the Board of Directors

(Charles McMinn)

fs!/ L. Dale Crandall Director
(L. Dale Crandall)

/s/ Diana Einterz Leonard Director
(Diana Einterz Leonard)

/s/  Robert M. Neumeister, Jr. Director
(Robert M. Neameister, Jr.)

/s Larry Irving Director
(Larry Irving)

/sf  Daniel Lynch Director
(Daniel Lynch)

/sf  Richard A. Jalkut Director
(Richard Jalkut)
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

2.2

23

24

31
3.2

33

34

4.1

4.2

43

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

10.1

10.2

10.3

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Description

Plan: First Amended Plan of Reorganization, as
Modified, of Covad Communications Group, Inc. dated
November 26, 2001

Order Pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code
Confirming the Debtor’s First Amended Chapter 11 Plan
of Reorganization, as Modified

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 2,
2004, among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad
Communications Investment Corp., GoBeam, Inc. and
Eduardo Briceno, as Representative

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 4,
2005, among Covad Communications Group, Inc.,
Windtalker Acquisition Corp., NextWeb, Inc. and Ghia
Griarte as Representative

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

of the Registrant filed on July 14, 2000

Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation
of the Registrant filed on December 20, 2001

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as currently in effect

12% Senior Secured Convertible Note due 2011, dated
as of March 29, 2006, entered into by Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Covad
Communications Company for the benefit of EarthLink,
Inc.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Group,
Inc. and EarthLink, Inc.

Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2004 between the
Registrant and The Bank of New York, as Trustee

Resale Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of
March 10, 2004 among the Registrant and Banc of
America Securities LLC

Form of Debenture for the Registrant’s 3% Convertible
Senior Debentures due 2024

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement dated
February 15, 2000

Amended and Restated Stockholder Protection Rights
Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2001

Amendment to Amended and Restated Stockholder
Protection Rights Agreement, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Group,
Inc. and Mellon Investor Services

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into
between the Registrant and each of the Registrant’s
executive officers and direciors

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related
agreements

1997 Stock Plan and related option agreement, as
currently in effect

Form

8-K

8-K

8-K

S-1/A
Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation S-1/A

10-K

8-K
8-K

8-K

10-Q
10-Q

10-Q
8-A
8-K

8-K

8-1

10-K

10-K

Incorporsted by Reference

Date of Exhibit  Filed
File No. First Filing Number Herewith
000-25271 12/28/01 2.1
000-25271 12/28/01 99.12
000-25271 5/17/04 21
000-25271 10/7/05 2.1
333-38688 7/17/00 32
333-38688 7/17/00 3.5
000-25271 3/29/02 33
001-32588 11/2/05 31
001-32588 4/4/06 99.1
001-32588 4/4/06  99.3
000-25271 5/17/104 4.1
000-25271 5/17/04 42
000-25271 5/17/04 4.3
000-25271 2/22/00 4.1
000-25271 12/14/01 4.1
001-32588 4/4/06 995
333-63899 9/21/98 101
000-25271 3/29/02 10.2
000-25271 3/29/02 103




Exhibit
Number

10.4

10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Exhibit Description

Resale Agreement dated as of November 12, 2001 by
and among SBC Communications Inc., Covad
Communications Group, Inc., Covad Communications
Company, DIECA Communications Company and Laser
Link.net, Inc.

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common

Stock Issued by the Registrant on September 3, 2002 to
America Online, Inc.

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Issued by
the Registrant on January 1, 2003 to AT&T Corp.

Covad Communications Group, Inc., 2003 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, as amended

Covad Communications Group, Inc, Executive Severance
Plan and Summary Plan Description

Letter Agreement between Covad Communications and
Charles Hoffman dated May 29, 2001

Lease Agreement for 110 Rio Robles, San Jose,
California, between Covad Communications and
CarrAmerica Realty Corporation dated August 6, 2003

First Amendment to Lease by and between Covad
Communications Company and CarrAmerica Realty
Operating Partnership, L.P. dated July 27, 2005

Change in Control Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Charles E. Hoffman

Change in Control Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and James A. Kirkland

Change in Control Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and David McMorrow

Change in Control Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Chris Dunn

Indemnification Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Chris Dunn

Transition Agreement between Covad Communications
Group, Inc. and Andrew Lockwood

Covad Communications 2006 Bonus Plan

Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2006, by
and among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad
Communications Company and EarthLink, Inc.

Security Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2006, by and
among Covad Communications Group, Inc., Covad
Communications Company and EarthLink, Inc.

Agreement for XGDSL Services, dated as of March 29,
2006, by and between Covad Communications Company
and EarthLiak, Inc.

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 13,
2006, between Covad Communications Group, Inc.,
Covad Communications Company and Silicon Valley
Bank

Indemnification Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Robert Neumeister

Form

8-K

10-K

10-K

3-K

3-K

8-K

8-K

8-K
8-K

8-K

Incorporated by Reference

Date of Exhihit Filed
File No. First Filing Number Herewith
000-25271 11/14/01 10.1
000-25271 9/5/02  99.1
000-25271 1/7/03  99.1
001-32588 12/8/05 99.1
000-25271 10/6/04  10.1
000-25271 2/27/04 1041
000-25271 2/27/04 10.42
001-32588 8/1/05 10.1
000-25271 10/6/04 10.2
000-25271 10/6/04 10.5
000-25271 10/6/04 10,7
001-32588 11/2/05 10.1
001-32588 11/2/05 10.2
001-32588 12/15/05 10.2
001-32588 3/8/06  10.1
001-32588 3/17/06 99.1
001-32588 4/4/06 992
001-32588 4/4/06 994
001-32588 4/18/06  10.1
001-32588 4/26/06 10.1




Exhibit
Number
10.24
10.25
10.26

21.1
23.1

24.1

311
31.2
32.1%

32.2%

Exhibit Description
Change in Control Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Patrick Bennett

Indemnification Agreement between Covad
Communications Group, Inc. and Diana Leonard

Covad Communications 2007 Executive Short Term
Incentive Plan

Subsidiartes of the Registrant

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (incorporated in the signature page
herein)

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a}

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

Certification Pursvant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Form

8-K

8-K

8-K

Incorporated by Reference

Date of Exhibit  Filed
File No. First Filing Number Herewith

001-32588 B8/1/06  10.1

001-32588 12/12/06 10.1

001-32588 1/9/07  10.1

* These certifications accompany the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not deemed filed with the
SEC.
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[ CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS ]

110 RIQ ROBLES

SAN JOSE, CA 95134-1813
PHONE: 408.952.6400
FAX: 408.952.7687

[ INVESTOR RELATIONS ]

INVESTORRELATIONS@COVAD.COM
IR HOTLINE: 800.G0.COVAD
FAX: 408.952.7505

[ SHAREHOLDER SERVICES ]

MELLON INVESTOR SERVICES
800.749.1951
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